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Bronx, New York 10474
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923 Broadway
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Greenwich
75 Holly Hill Lane
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9665 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 250
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Newport Beach
100 Bayview Circle, Suite 3400
Newport Beach, California 92660

Ontario
3257 East Guasti Road, Suite 230
Ontario, California 91761

San Francisco 
201 Mission Street, 26th Floor
San Francisco, California 94105

Woodland Hills
21255 Burbank Boulevard, Suite 320
Woodland Hills, California 91367

North Carolina
Charlotte 
121 West Trade Street, Suite 1150 
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202

Durham 
110 Corcoran Street, Suite 310
Durham, North Carolina 27701

Colorado
Denver
1900 Sixteenth Street, Suite 850** 
Denver, Colorado 80202

Georgia
Atlanta 
756 W. Peachtree Street, Suite 4-120** 
Atlanta, Georgia 30308

Illinois
Chicago 
150 North Wacker Drive, Suite 940** 
Chicago, Illinois 60606

Maryland
Fulton
8115 Maple Lawn Boulevard, Suite 336** 
Fulton, Maryland 20759

Texas
Houston
9 Greenway Plaza, Suite 3120***
Houston, Texas 77046

SIGNATURE SECURITIES 
GROUP CORPORATION

New York 
1177 Avenue of the Americas, 11th Floor
New York, New York 10036

SIGNATURE FINANCIAL LLC

New York 
225 Broadhollow Road, Suite 132W 
Melville, New York 11747

Washington
Seattle National Originations 
Offi ce
12100 NE 195th Street, Suite 315
Bothell, Washington 98011

SIGNATURE PUBLIC 
FUNDING CORPORATION

Maryland 
600 Washington Avenue, Suite 305
Towson, Maryland 21204
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Certain statements in this Annual Report, and certain 
oral statements made from time to time by representatives 
of the Bank, that are not historical facts may consti-
tute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning 
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 
(the “Reform Act”). Such forward-looking statements are 
based on the Bank’s current expectations, speak only as 
of the date on which they are made, and are susceptible to 
a number of risks, uncertainties, and other factors. The 
Bank’s actual results, performance, and achievements may 
differ materially from any future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-look-
ing statements. For those statements, the Bank claims the 
protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking state-
ments contained in the Reform Act. See “Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act Safe Harbor Statement,” and “Part 
I, Item 1A. Risk Factors,” appearing in the Bank’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2020, included herein.

COMPANY PROFILE

Signature Bank (Nasdaq: SBNY/SBNYP), member FDIC, is a full-service commercial 
bank with 37 private client offices throughout the metropolitan New York area, Connecticut,  
California and North Carolina. Through its single-point-of-contact approach, the Bank’s  
private client banking teams primarily serve the needs of privately owned businesses, their 
owners and senior managers. Signature Bank offers a broad range of business and personal 
banking products and services, as well as investment, brokerage, asset management, and insur-
ance products and services through its subsidiary, Signature Securities Group Corporation, a 
licensed broker-dealer, investment adviser and member FINRA/SIPC. In addition, Signature 
Bank’s wholly owned specialty finance subsidiary, Signature Financial LLC, provides equipment  
financing and leasing.

Financial Highlights
(in thousands)

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Total assets $ 39,033,172 43,099,042 47,341,538 50,591,809 73,888,344

Total loans 29,043,165 32,612,539 36,423,127 39,109,623 48,833,098

Total deposits 31,861,260 33,439,827 36,378,773 40,383,207  63,315,323

Total average deposits 29,747,824 33,158,234 35,143,194 38,055,001 50,561,798

Shareholders’ equity 3,597,825 4,013,013 4,383,862 4,745,198 5,826,909

Net interest income after provision  
for loan and lease losses 991,468 974,289 1,136,463 1,288,957 1,270,998

Non-interest income 51,299 49,912 50,556 61,715 75,248

Non-interest expense  376,771  435,066  486,278 529,269 614,054

Income before income taxes 665,996 586,135 700,741 821,403 732,192

Net income $     392,086 382,609 506,436 586,486  528,359

This Annual Report is dedicated to essential frontline healthcare heroes everywhere, including and especially those 
within Signature Bank’s own franchise and their loved ones. As you scroll through the pages of this report, you will learn about their 
dedication and impact during COVID-19.

We thank these heroes for their ongoing commitment to public health and safety, along with all our colleagues, for their continued 
service to our clients during such unprecedented times.

Signature Bank’s frontline heroes are in daily contact with our clients, ensuring exceptional service does not waiver. The group below 
represents the collective efforts of our entire team of devoted colleagues, and we take this opportunity to acknowledge and thank all 
of them: 

Zhanna Akopyan Teller Manhattan
Amy Bravata-Patti Teller Staten Island
Heather Brenner Teller Long Island
Laxhmi Budhoo Teller Long Island
Deshawn Cole Teller Manhattan
John Delfino Teller Long Island
Robin DiPrisco Teller Staten Island
Catherine Felix-Melniszyn Teller Manhattan
Sherry Gibbs Teller Long Island
Rachel James-Scott Head Teller Brooklyn
Martha Jonathan Teller Manhattan

Versha Katwaroo Head Teller Manhattan
Maria Teresa Moises-Dado Head Teller San Francisco
Vonetta Naraine Teller Long Island
Geeta Pamnani Head Teller Long Island
Jean Pelucco Teller Staten Island
Mohamed Raheem Teller Queens
Omar Sanchez Head Teller Long Island
Nadine Thompson Teller Westchester
Shanique Watt-King Teller Queens
Carmela Williams Teller Westchester
Marina Yakubova Teller Queens
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

As is typical of our annual report, we will provide a 
financial update while concurrently taking this oppor-
tunity to recognize the real heroes of 2020 – essential 
frontline healthcare workers. These heroes risked their 
own health and safety as well as that of their loved ones, 
each and every day, during this unprecedented COVID-
19 pandemic. Throughout the following pages, we honor 
those healthcare heroes closely connected to our own 
colleagues and share their stories and photos. We delib-
erately omitted our typical management photo this year 
to instead showcase the unrelenting dedication and sacri-
fices of these frontline heroes. We deeply appreciate and 
thank all these heroes for their public service.

After 20 years in operation, Signature Bank has organi-
cally grown from an initial $43 million investment at 
inception to $73.89 billion in assets at the end of 2020 
versus $50.59 billion at year-end 2019, marking a 46.0 
percent increase. We are proud of this extraordinary 
growth and the efforts put forth by our entire franchise, 
particularly amid current turbulent times.

2020: A YEAR LIKE NO OTHER

As a financial institution, Signature Bank is considered an 
essential business. To us, this distinction isn’t by defini-
tion only but rather, it means being part of the solution 
and conducting business in ways which support our 
constituents’ needs.

Throughout COVID-19, Signature Bank focused on look-
ing out for, and taking care of, our colleagues, clients and 

the communities we serve. We 
will share some of these efforts 
throughout this document, as 
2020 truly marked a year like no 
other in our 20-year history. 

Signature Bank is – and has 
always been – the steady ship 
in the storm, focusing above all 
on depositor-first, sleep-at-night 
safety. At the onset of COVID-
19, the Bank put many initiatives 
in place to navigate new terrain 
like never before seen.

The Well-being  
of Our Colleagues
Our colleagues’ well-being is of 
the utmost importance. When 
COVID-19 began in March 2020, 
we instituted a remote work plan, 
which was built on our previous 
disaster recovery strategies and exercises. We never 
imagined that a yearlong pandemic would put pressure 
on every aspect of the economy as well as the banking 
landscape. We are thankful for the plans and all our 
colleagues’ efforts. We were forced to continually adapt, 
change course and make additional alternate plans as 
we learned more about the virus and how to protect 
colleagues and clients from transmission. We made 
  

2 0 2 0  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Each year, we take pride in writing this report as it gives us a chance 
to update you – our esteemed and valued shareholders – on your 
Company’s financial performance. However, this year, we must 
admit, everything seems to pale in comparison to what the world 
witnessed during the past year.

Michelle Capparelli, RN-BC, MSN
Michelle Capparelli is a Registered Nurse (RN) in the chemotherapy unit of White Plains Hospital in White Plains, NY.

During the height of the pandemic, Michelle worked on a medical surgical floor in a dedicated COVID-19 unit. The 
whole unit was considered “dirty,” and Michelle was required to stay in PPE for her entire shifts. Her courageous efforts 
involved acting as a family member for her patients. With no visitors allowed to enter the hospital, Michelle would hold 
her patients’ hands. She would FaceTime their family members, never leaving their side as they were scared and hope-
less in a hospital with no visitors. Being the light for these patients in a time of such uncertainty was truly a humbling 
experience that allowed her to make it through even the hardest of days.

Father: Pat Capparelli, Group Director-SVP, New York, NY

Lynn M. Bert, RN, MS, 
NE-BC, AE-C, FNP-BC

Lynn M. Bert is nurse manager of pediatrics 
and a family nurse practitioner at Mount 
Sinai South Nassau in Oceanside, NY. 
During COVID-19’s first wave, she cared 
for adults when the hospital’s pediatric 
floor was transformed to solely focus on 
coronavirus patients. She also supervised 
the entire hospital on weekends and was 
part of the medical and rapid response 
team. Lynn was extremely moved by 
community outreach. Many sent food while 
Girl Scouts made headbands to ease pain-
ful mask irritations from prolonged wear. 
Lynn was moved when Southern Nassau 
County firefighters came to the hospi-
tal to express their thanks and applaud 
doctors, nurses and staff for their tireless 
work. Lynn couldn’t help but think, “how 
profound it is to be among those honored as 
heroes by heroes.”

Cousin: Lucy Iannucci, Group 
Director–SVP, Rockville Centre, NY
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every effort to keep up with the 
latest guidance, all the while 
recognizing the essential nature 
of banking.

We made physical modifica-
tions to office space according to 
Centers for Disease Control and 
Prevention mandates, empha-
sized social distancing protocols 
and adjusted operating hours at 
our financial centers. We also 
amended policies relating to 
vacation and out of office needs 
to offer colleagues flexibility and 
ease their concerns. 

We configured and shipped more 
than 800 customized laptops to 
our team members nationwide. 
Complementing this init ia-
tive was the introduction of our 
custom-built, secure technology 
solution, enabling colleagues to 
connect to the Bank’s network 
remotely and safely.

We elevated levels of communi-
cations bank-wide. We increased 
communication with our exec-

utive management team by hosting five Town Halls 
throughout the year to keep our colleagues up to date on 
the rapidly changing COVID-19 landscape. We began 
offering new flexible remote schedules and work-from-
home options. We ensured those essential colleagues 
who needed to be present in our private client banking 
offices which remained open were armed with Personal 
Protective Equipment (PPE) to protect their health  
and safety.

Furthermore, management made a commitment to 
keep our workforce intact during the pandemic and 
honored offers of employment we had extended to those 
who could not get to our offices or receive training due 
to pandemic restrictions. Nevertheless, many of our 
colleagues were under duress due to the struggles other 
family members were facing.

Therefore, we introduced an employee assistance loan 
program for families of our colleagues confronted with 
financial stress. Like the rest of the country, some of our 
colleagues’ loved ones lost their jobs, had their busi-
nesses shuttered or experienced other financial turmoil. 
In recognition of all these unforeseen circumstances, 
the Bank made the funds available with highly flexible 
and very personalized terms. Decisions were made with 
discretion by executive management only. To date, the 
Bank has extended approximately $2 million in loans to 
more than 100 colleagues. 

Client-Centric COVID-19 Care 
Signature Bank has always been a client-centric institution 
and through our distinctive model, veteran private client 
banking teams serve as clients’ single point of contact to 
meet all needs. This structure has proved invaluable, espe-
cially during COVID-19 when our clients leaned on and 
trusted their Signature Bank bankers more than ever.

Perhaps among the most important events during 
COVID-19 was getting our clients registered and 
approved for loans offered via the Small Business 
Administration (SBA) Paycheck Protection Program 
(PPP). Signature Bank funded a total of $1.99 billion 
on behalf of clients. Our unrelenting goal was to seek 
approval for every qualifying client, which we ultimately 
achieved. In the midst of the crisis, we asked approxi-
mately 20 percent of our colleagues to shift from their 
daily job functions and contribute their time to some 
aspect of the PPP effort. We were well aware these 

Kristen Wallace, DO 
Dr. Kristen Wallace is a pediatric chief resident at Maria Fareri Children’s Hospital in Valhalla, 
NY. During COVID-19, she provided direct patient care to pediatric patients and supervised 
other pediatric residents. When taking care of patients in the Pediatric Intensive Care Unit 
(PICU), the hospital handed out brown paper bags to each employee so they could keep their N95 
masks for as long as possible. Typically, they change masks every time they leave a patient’s room 
but similar to all hospitals in the area, they did not know what to expect. They were trying to 
save resources in the beginning so they didn’t run out. This was the moment she realized she was 
about to experience something she never truly anticipated when she chose to become a doctor.

Father: Robert Wallace, SVP-Senior Lender, ABL, New York, NY

Marissa Gonzalez, 
RN, BSN

Marissa Gonzalez is a RN in the Pediatric 
Post-Anesthesia Care Unit (PACU) at NYU 
Langone Health in Manhattan. In March 
2020, her unit was temporarily closed, 
and she was deployed to an adult COVID-
19 unit. She began work on a new floor, 
in a new building, surrounded by new 
co-workers. Although they were unable to 
recognize one another through the layers 
of PPE, they came together as a team to 
provide the best patient care possible. The 
virus challenged their physical endur-
ance and critical thinking skills, but the 
dedication and determination of NYU’s 
healthcare workers was beyond inspir-
ing for Marissa. They worked together 
for six long weeks during the peak of the 
pandemic in NYC. The most profound 
moment Marissa experienced was when 
she discharged her first patient, who 
had been hospitalized for weeks. In that 
moment, she felt a shift in control. Hard 
work had paid off, and she began to feel 
hopeful. While this year has been exhaust-
ing and emotional, as the vaccination 
rollout begins, Marissa feels thankful for 
her health, proud to be a nurse and grate-
ful for the community of first responders.

Father: John Gonzalez, Group 
Director-SVP, New York, NY



 3

PPP funds were vital to our small and medium-sized 
business clients, some of which went from operating thriv-
ing companies to seeing their revenues collapse due to  
lockdowns. Therefore, we asked our staff to dedicate much 
of their time to this endeavor. We could not be prouder of 
our colleagues, many of whom disrupted their schedules 
during the peak of the process to ensure all qualifying 
clients’ applications were given the highest attention such 
that they could be processed smoothly by the SBA. Our 
commitment to getting the PPP process right resulted in 
strengthened client relationships.

Adhering to the guidelines set forth by the Coronavirus 
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, we 
continually focused on our clients’ needs throughout the 
pandemic. We acted with care and compassion in grant-
ing loan deferrals, when necessary, due to the sudden 
economic upheaval many were experiencing. We found 
most borrowers to be diligent in working with us to 
maintain their payments. 

The Bank’s commitment to its clients holds true even in 
the most extraordinary of times.

Communities at Our Core
Many of our small to medium-sized commercial clients’ 
successes are fueled by patronage from their own local 
communities. Their presence helps shape the areas in 
which they operate and the customers they, in turn, serve. 
The fabric of New York – and all cities – is determined by 
the vibrancy of day-to-day life on the Main Streets. We 
stood by in shock as we witnessed many previously flour-
ishing businesses suddenly shutter. We wanted to act.

In this regard, Signature Bank made a $1 million dona-
tion to minority- and women-owned businesses affected 
by COVID-19 and recent civil unrest. The first was in 
June 2020, with $750,000 donated to the New York City 
Small Business Emergency Grant Program. The second, 
in July 2020, was for $250,000 to the Small Business Big 
Hearts Grant Program, a California-based program offered 

through TMC Community Capital. To date, from these 
funds, more than 90 grants in New York City and 50 in 
California were awarded, totaling $941,000. 

Furthermore, our core values underscore the impor-
tance of the Black Lives Matter movement. During this 
tumultuous time in our nation, Signature Bank honored 
Juneteenth (June 19th) as mark-
ing the end of slavery in the  
U.S. with a new holiday for New 
York state employees. The Bank 
closed early on this day so all 
colleagues could individually 
acknowledge Juneteenth in their 
own personal way.

20 Years in the Making
Despite turbulent times, Sig- 
nature Bank has only further 
strengthened its reputation for 
depositor safety and security 
through our high-touch service 
values and private client bank-
ing team structure. 

Through this distinctive model, 
Signature Bank continues to 
stand out in the ever-crowded 
financial services marketplace, 
never losing sight of the fact 
that people want to know their 
funds are safe, especially in 
difficult times.

Our single-point-of-contact approach has become 
the hallmark of Signature Bank. All client requests 
received are swiftly handled by a team member, which 
is in direct contrast to the methodology typically found 
at mega-banks, where client requests are parsed out 

2 0 2 0  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Leon Smulakowski, 
LNHA

Leon Smulakowski is a regional admin-
istrator at The W Group, operator of 20+ 
assisted living facilities throughout New 
York State. 

Leon was dedicated to ensuring resident 
and employee safety as well as adequate 
staffing. He organized quarantines for 
employees and residents and, most recently, 
coordinated their vaccinations. In early 
March, when the Governor declared a 
pandemic emergency, PPE supplies were 
not available. Along with the dedicated 
team from The W Group, Leon scrambled 
to identify creative ways to acquire PPE 
through third parties, despite a worldwide 
shortage. This was done to ensure the safety 
of employees and residents.

Father-in-Law: Ed Sirlin,  
Managing Group Director-SVP,  

New York, NY

Captain DeJuan Turner
DeJuan Turner is a captain in the Berkeley Fire Department who, during 
COVID-19, responded to medical emergencies of those suspected and/or 
confirmed with the virus. DeJuan juggled the devastation of the pandemic 
with a very challenging wildfire season concurrently, creating an extremely 
difficult situation.

Wife: Rosie Mora, Group Director-SVP, San Francisco, CA
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to various sub-specialty groups, each with their own 
cultures and processes. While our team approach has 
been a differentiator since our founding, it was perhaps 
more important than ever during COVID-19 when 
clients knew they could count on reaching their team 
members – no matter what. 

While 2020 required many shifts in focus, we re- 
mained true to our founding client-centric model. As 
was necessary in the past, we once again navigated 
this challenging time, just as we did on September 
11th, during the Great Recession and in the wake of 
Hurricane Sandy.

Signature Bank experienced extraordinary growth 
during the country’s uncertainty and protracted recovery 
from the COVID-19 pandemic. Record quarterly deposit 

growth emanated from all facets of the Bank, includ-
ing well-established private client banking teams and 
business units; our blockchain-based digital payments 
platform, SignetTM; the Digital Assets Banking Team; 
the Venture Banking Group; the Specialized Mortgage 
Banking Solutions Team; and, those teams who joined as 
part of our recent West Coast expansion efforts. Notably, 
our Fund Banking Division reported record loan growth, 
positively impacting our loan portfolio.

In 2020, we added 20 teams through geographic 
diversification, bringing the total to 116 today. This 
includes two teams in New York, five in San Francisco/
Northern California (bringing the total to 10 there) 
and 13 in the Los Angeles/Southern California area. 
We are proud that we have seen very little team 
turnover since our inception. When teams come to 
Signature Bank, they soon learn they want to stay.

Locations of Signature Bank and Its Subsidiaries
As of December 2020

* Includes offices and principal 
locations of sales officers

New York Metropolitan Area

Kaitlin Kennedy, BSN, RN, MPH 
Kaitlin Kennedy is an emergency room RN at MedStar 
Washington Hospital Center in Washington, D.C. 
Throughout the pandemic, Kaitlin would find ways to 
help patients coming to the ER for suspected COVID-19 
testing and treatment to remain calm. She, along with 
her colleagues, found it extremely challenging, and this 
remained their priority. Additionally, Kaitlin also swabs 
patients for COVID-19 testing at a Georgetown facility.

Mother: Laurel Kennedy, Loan Data Associate, Melville, NY 

Danielle Salim, EMT 
Daniella Salim is a volunteer Emergency Medical 
Technician (EMT) and firefighter at the Vigilant Fire 
Company in Great Neck, NY. In September 2020, she 
began employment at PM Pediatrics, a pediatric urgent 
care facility in Manhasset, NY. In this role, throughout the 
pandemic, Daniella continued to see a multitude of criti-
cally ill patients. She witnessed many struggling to breathe, 
which was perhaps the most heartbreaking moment.

Mother: Alice Hashem, Senior Client Associate-Officer, Great Neck, NY

Signature Bank Headquarters
Private Client Groups
Fund Banking Division  
Venture Banking Group
Specialized Mortgage Banking Solutions
Signature Securities Group
SBA Loan Sales
Signature Financial LLC*
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What were cited as key Bank initiatives just two years 
ago became full-fledged businesses in 2020, as these 
banking groups came into their own:

• Our Fund Banking Division grew loans this year 
by $6.82 billion, totaling $11.24 billion in loans 
outstanding in just 2.5 years;

• Our Venture Banking Group reached $1.12 billion 
in deposits and nearly $200 million in loans 
outstanding;

• The Specialized Mortgage Banking Solutions Team, 
which joined in 2019, acclimated quickly, adding 
$3.56 billion in deposits;

• Our Digital Assets banking initiative dramatically 
grew, adding $7.32 billion for a total of nearly $9 
billion in deposits on balance sheet; and,

• Since its launch just two years ago, Signet’s trans-
action volumes at year-end reached $47.85 billion, 
quadrupling those of the prior year.

Our wholly owned specialty finance subsidiary, 
Signature Financial LLC, surpassed $5 billion in 
balances outstanding, making it the 15th largest bank-
based lender in the space. 

All this growth occurred while Signature Bank also 
continued its asset diversification strategy by advancing 
Commercial and Industrial (C&I) lending, primarily 
through the Fund Banking Division.

PRESCRIPTION FOR SUCCESS 

While 2020 was an extremely difficult year globally, 
Signature Bank further strengthened its commitment 
to colleagues, clients and communities and also forti-
fied the balance sheet. The COVID-19 pandemic tested 
many, and we continued to persevere. As a result, we 
reported record results in revenues, deposits and loans.

For the year ended December 
31, 2020, net income reached 
$528.4 million, or $9.96 diluted 
earnings per share, compared 
with $586.5 million, or $10.82 
diluted earnings per share 
in 2019. The decrease in net 
income, versus the prior year, 
was primarily the result of an 
increase in the provision for 
credit losses of $225.5 million, 
predominantly due to effects of 
COVID-19 on the U.S. economy. 
This was partially offset by an 
increase in pre-tax, pre-provi-
sion earnings of $136.3 million, 
or 16.1 percent for the year.

The Bank reported record 
deposit growth in 2020. Total 
deposits grew $22.93 billion, or 
56.8 percent. Average deposits 
for 2020 reached $50.56 billion, representing a record 
increase of $12.51 billion, or 32.9 percent, versus $38.06 
billion in 2019. 

The deposit growth came from many facets of the insti-
tution, including the NY-based legacy private client 
banking teams, as well as the various newer initiatives 
put into place over the past few years. These new busi-
nesses and teams, which consist of the Digital Assets 
Banking Team, the West Coast banking teams, the 
Venture Banking Group and the Specialized Mortgage 
Banking Solutions Team, provide a new foundation 
of diversified deposit growth across geographies and 
industries. The significant deposit growth achieved by 
the Bank in 2020 drove our loan-to-deposit ratio lower, 
to 77.1 percent by the end of the year.

2 0 2 0  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Erin Lindsay,  
BSN, PICU RN 

Erin Lindsay is a PICU RN at Children’s 
Hospital of Orange County at Mission 
Hospital in Mission Viejo, CA. Initially, 
the pediatrics unit wasn’t aware of any 
admitted patients with COVID-19, but 
would soon discover them after admission 
for another trauma. Erin would repeatedly 
engage in ever-evolving COVID-19 proto-
cols and changing policies. Erin and her 
co-workers were rapidly shifting, hour-by-
hour, to comply with changes, all the while 
focusing on patient care and remaining 
conscious of their possible exposure. The 
unknown circumstances surrounding 
the virus and her day-to-day role were 
extremely unnerving for Erin. 

Husband: Channing Lindsay,  
Associate Group Director–VP,  

Newport Beach, CA

Daniel M. Diaz, BSN, CCRN-CSC-CMC, CV-BC 
Daniel M. Diaz is a cardiothoracic surgical Intensive Care Unit (ICU) nurse at Mt. Sinai in New York City. He provided direct nursing 
care to critically ill patients requiring advanced life support due to COVID-19 complications.

He was a rotating nurse in charge of a 26-bed cardiothoracic surgical ICU, which was turned into a designated COVID-19 ICU. He 
oriented traveling as well as new nurses in the midst of the pandemic.

During the pandemic, Daniel was sent to another unit, also converted into a COVID-19 ICU. He served as its ICU resource nurse. This 
unit had, at most, eight nurses with a bed capacity that exceeded its normal 33 patients. Due to dire circumstances, these nurses required 
extensive assistance with critical care procedures and medications, which Daniel provided.

Father: Daniel Diaz, VP–HR Total Rewards, New York, NY
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Non-interest-bearing deposits expanded a record $5.74 
billion, or 44.1 percent, to $18.76 billion, representing 
29.6 percent of total deposits. Our ability to continually 
grow non-interest-bearing deposits, which mostly span 
the operating accounts of our clients, demonstrates the 
strength of this franchise.

During 2020, Signature Bank’s loan portfolio, includ-
ing PPP loans, increased $9.72 billion, or 24.9 percent, 
to $48.83 billion, versus loans of $39.11 billion for 2019. 
The 2020 growth in loans is primarily attributable to 
contributions from the Fund Banking Division as well 
as C&I loans, including specialty finance. Total C&I 
loans expanded $7.43 billion, or 62.5 percent, to $19.32 
billion at the end of 2020. Conversely, Commercial 
Real Estate (CRE) loans remained relatively flat during 
the year, growing $521.9 million to $27.09 billion, as of 
December 31, 2020. The de-emphasis in CRE growth 
continues to be reflected in the decrease in our concen-
tration in that area, which fell to 376 percent of capital 
in 2020. This is a significant decline from 551 percent 
in the 2018 fourth quarter and its peak of 593 percent 
at year-end 2015. At December 31, 2020, non-accrual 
loans were $120.2 million, representing 0.25 percent of 
total loans and 0.16 percent of total assets, compared 
with non-accrual loans of $57.4 million, or 0.15 percent 
of total loans, at December 31, 2019. 

Several years ago, we initiated an effort to transform 
the balance sheet. We sought to decrease our loan-
to-deposit ratio through strong core deposit growth 
while increasing credit diversification by de-empha-
sizing CRE growth and turning to C&I growth and 
other national business lines. This transformation  
would also eventually allow the Bank to decrease the 
liability-sensitive nature of the balance sheet.

In 2020, we saw continued success on all fronts with 
respect to balance sheet transformation, including: 

• Our floating-rate fund banking expansion continues 
to allow for safe growth outside of the CRE portfolio;

• The Specialized Mortgage Banking Solutions Team, 
the Digital Assets Banking Team, the Venture 
Banking Group and recent California expansion have 
enabled the Bank to grow core deposits across new 
geographies; and, 

• Of late, the Bank is seeking to diversify its revenue 
profile by increasing fee income as a percentage of 
revenues. Many of these new initiatives helped the 
Bank grow non-interest income by 21.9 percent in 
2020. A continued focus on fee income should help us 
develop a more stable revenue stream prospectively.

Our capital position continues to remain among the 
industry’s strongest. In 2020, the Bank improved its 
capital position by more than $1 billion with the issu-
ance of $375 million in subordinated debt and $730 
million in preferred stock, both completed during the 
2020 fourth quarter. Moreover, we maintained our 
dividend while turning off our buy-back program to 
support the tremendous levels of growth the Bank 
has been experiencing. Additionally, in early 2021, 
Signature Bank raised more than $700 million in a 
common stock offering, and plans to use the proceeds 
for general corporate purposes, including our numer-
ous growth initiatives.

Lydia Marty-Meyerson, MSN, FNP-BC, RN 
Lydia Marty-Meyerson is a nurse practitioner at Northwell Hospital Employee Health in Staten Island, 
NY. She is also a professor of nursing at the College of Staten Island. Lydia was managing the healthcare 
employees of Northwell Hospital, ensuring they were COVID-19 cleared and available to perform their jobs. 
In March 2020, she contracted COVID-19, was bedridden and then hospitalized. Upon her return to work, 
she agreed to participate in a 12-month Columbia University study of COVID-19 recovering healthcare 
workers. Lydia is examined quarterly by the University and donated her plasma to help others. She has 
returned to teaching and her role at Northwell, helping frontline workers meet the standards of patient care. 

Husband: Kirk Meyerson, Group Director-SVP, Brooklyn, NY
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At year-end 2020, the Bank’s capital ratios were all well 
in excess of regulatory requirements. The Bank’s Tier 
1 leverage, common equity Tier 1 risk-based, Tier 1 
risk-based and total risk-based capital ratios were 8.55 
percent, 9.87 percent, 11.20 percent and 13.54 percent, 
respectively, as of December 31, 2020. The Bank’s risk-
based capital ratios continue to reflect the relatively 
low-risk profile of our balance sheet. 

The Bank continues to focus on increasing shareholder 
value by returning capital to its shareholders. In this 
regard, during 2020, the Bank paid a quarterly cash 
dividend of $0.56 per share, or $2.24 annually, to 
common stockholders. 

Our stellar credit quality is acknowledged by many top 
rating services. It was once again recognized in 2020 
when the Bank received first-time credit ratings from 
Moody’s, complementing existing outstanding ones 
from both leading agencies Kroll and Fitch.

It is important to note that all the initiatives and 
efforts we indicated we would do this year were in fact 
done. Our growth for 2020 is equivalent to acquiring 
a top 50 bank; however, Signature Bank achieved this 
organically, without expending shareholder value. Our 
continued and persistent pure organic growth since 
inception speaks directly to the loyalty of our clients 
and value of the franchise. Signature Bank enters 2021 
as a strong financial institution, poised for continued 
growth and well positioned to capitalize on relevant 
opportunities.

A Healthy Future
Despite the difficult COVID-19 landscape we all had to 
navigate in 2020, Signature Bank continued to position 
itself for future success. 

When we founded the Bank, we were committed to creat-
ing and sustaining an institution which would become  

a positive force for the community. We recognize that 
banking is an essential part of the fabric of communi-
ties, and the ways in which 
we conduct ourselves and our 
business has a ripple impact 
that can be deep and broad. 
Therefore, positive social impact 
efforts remain paramount to our 
institution and are part of our 
decision-making at all levels. 
This extends to our long-stand-
ing commitment to our nearly 
1,700 colleagues, good corporate 
citizenship, responsible lending 
practices, initiatives put forth 
companywide to contribute 
to environmental sustainabil-
ity, and our consideration of all 
stakeholders, as upheld by our 
responsibility to sound corpo-
rate governance. To further 
cement this pledge, we created 
a new position in 2020, appoint-
ing a seasoned expert to serve 
as Senior Vice President and 
Chief Social Impact Officer. 
We believe by establishing this 
function explicitly as part of executive management’s 
responsibilities, we will elevate our emphasis on diversity, 
equity, inclusion, sustainability, human capital, commu-
nity engagement and other environmental-, social- and 
governance-related initiatives. 

We continue to invest in technologies that will positively 
influence successful business practices for our clients and 
help them conduct their operations better, more efficiently 
and securely. 

2 0 2 0  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Marissa Diaz-Granados, MSN, RN-BC 
Marissa Diaz-Granados is head nurse at Northwell Hos-
pital in Huntington, NY. The floor on which she works 
was quickly transformed into a COVID-19 unit at the on-
set of the pandemic and once again as the second wave hit. 
Marissa’s most profound moment was having to watch 
people pass away alone, without even staff being allowed 
into their rooms to comfort them in their final moments.

Cousin: Devon M. Kiernan, Associate Group Director-VP, Garden City, NY

Rupal Oza, DPM
Dr. Rupal Oza is a doctor of podiatry whose role during 
COVID-19 was to treat patients with foot and ankle 
complications in a hands-on medical specialty setting 
where social distancing was challenging at-times. Dr. Oza’s 
goal was to provide emergent podiatric care and treatment 
with the hopes of preventing patients from visiting the ER 
during the ongoing pandemic.

Husband: Dhaval Gandhi, Senior Staff Auditor, New York, NY

Patricia R. Gonzales-
Squatrito, RN 

Patricia R. Gonzales-Squatrito is a RN 
at Memorial Regional Hospital in South 
Florida. She has worked directly on the 
frontlines of COVID-19 since Spring 
2020, during which time she prepped and 
tested all patients for coronavirus prior to 
entering the hospital for surgery. She has 
since been training recent nursing gradu-
ates and applied to administer upcoming 
vaccinations. Her most profound moment 
was when the U.S. Navy Blue Angels flew 
directly over her hospital to salute frontline 
responders. Patty felt extremely proud to be 
a part of the healthcare community.

Sons: Chris Waslin, Senior Treasury 
Analyst, New York, NY and  

Joseph Waslin, Human Resources  
Associate-Compliance & Operations, 

New York, NY



8      

Signature Bank was honored to 
continue its momentum during 
2020, with prominent recogni-
tions worth duly noting: 

• Received Cigna’s Well-Being 
Award for the sixth consecu-
tive year for exhibiting a strong 
commitment to improving the 
health and well-being of its 
colleagues through its inno-
vative and comprehensive 
work- place wellness program;

• Included on Forbes’ annual Best 
Banks in America list for the 
10th consecutive year;

• Chosen by the New York legal 
community as #1 in the Bus- 

iness Bank, Private Bank and Business Escrow Services 
categories of New York Law Journal’s 11th annual “Best 
of” survey. The 2020 New York Law Journal ranking 
marks the 11th consecutive year where Signature Bank 
earned a top-three position in one or more of these 
same categories;

• Voted #2 in the U.S. by the national legal community 
for the third consecutive year in three categories of The 
National Law Journal’s 2021 annual “Best of” survey, 
including Business Bank, Private Bank and Attorney 
Escrow Services;

• Secured a place in the Hall of Fame of both the New 
York Law Journal and The National Law Journal readers’ 
polls. This honor is awarded only to those entities that 
continually placed in the same “Best of” categories for 
at least three of the past four years;

• Ranked third on industry trade magazine Bank 
Director’s 2020 Bank Performance Scorecard for insti-
tutions with assets of $50 billion and above; 

• Earned a Women on Boards “W” Winning Company 
Award for the second consecutive year; and, 

• Placed 22nd on S&P Global’s list of the largest banks in 
the U.S.*

We are proud of all we achieved during what was an 
extraordinary year in so many ways. We are very cogni-
zant of the fact that our accomplishments come only from 
the endless support and contributions made by all our 
constituents. We thank our devoted colleagues for their 
exceptional and tireless efforts in supporting our loyal 
clients. We extend deep gratitude to all clients as they 
relied on us more heavily than ever in 2020 to help steer 
them through an unprecedented year by leveraging our 
stable, strong relationship-based model. We thank our 
Board of Directors as they helped guide the Bank, and 
we truly appreciate their insights and direction. Lastly, we 
thank our shareholders who seem to never cease to recog-
nize the value we place on their trust in this institution.

As we look ahead, we remain hopeful as we set our sights 
on an end to the global pandemic and a new path on the 
heels of COVID-19, which we hope will emerge soon. We 
extend that hope to you as well, and wish for a healthy, 
safe future for all and a speedy return to normalcy. 

We remain committed to serving our clients in the same 
manner as we have for 20 years – no matter what the 
landscape looks like.

Respectfully, 

Joseph J. DePaolo 
President and  
Chief Executive Officer

Scott A. Shay 
Chairman of the Board

* Source: S&P Global Market Intelligence, as of December 31, 2020. Excludes  
other deposit-taking non-branch companies such as broker-dealers, credit  
card companies, insurers and processors.

Everton Whyte 
Everton Whyte is an environmental service 
aide at Woodhull Hospital in Brooklyn, 
NY. His role helps ensure a safe and healthy 
environment for doctors, nurses, patients, 
visitors and fellow colleagues. The most 
profound moment for Everton was seeing his 
place of work for more than 28 years become 
completely overwhelmed by those suffering 
and soon passing from COVID-19. A realiza-
tion set in when he saw patients admitted 
seeking help who ultimately lost the fight.

Wife: Nicole Jones-Whyte,  
Senior Client Associate-Officer,  

New York, NY

Judy Hou, DDS, MBA
Dr. Judy Hou is an orthodontist at Peninsula Orthodontics in Huntington Beach, CA, among the high-
est COVID-19 positive regions nationwide. Once authorized to reopen, Dr. Hou continued supporting 
the community and patients, many of whom surprisingly sought uninterrupted treatment. Dr. Hou was 
committed to treating her patients while remaining highly cautious about safely and diligently protecting 
her immediate and extended family. Heightened safety protocols included social distancing, pre-screening, 
surgical gowns, appointment gapping and staff vaccinations. Fortunately, no cases have originated from 
her office to date.

Husband: Brian Ngo-Tran, Group Director-SVP, Newport Beach, CA
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PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT
This Annual Report on Form 10-K and oral statements made from time-to-time by our representatives contain “forward-looking 
statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that are subject to risks and 
uncertainties. You should not place undue reliance on such statements because they are subject to numerous risks and 
uncertainties relating to our operations and the business environment in which we operate, all of which are difficult to predict 
and many of which are beyond our control. Forward-looking statements include information concerning our possible or 
assumed future results of operations, including descriptions of our business strategy, expectations, beliefs, projections, 
anticipated events or trends, growth prospects, financial performance, and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on each of 
the foregoing and on our business overall, as well as similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. 
These statements often include words such as “may,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “potential,” “opportunity,” “intend,” “plan,” 
“estimate,” “could,” “project,” “seek,” “target”, “goal”, “should,” “will,” or “would,” or the negative of these words and phrases or 
similar words and phrases.

All forward-looking statements may be impacted by a number of risks and uncertainties. These statements are based on 
assumptions that we have made in light of our industry experience as well as our perception of historical trends, current 
conditions, expected future developments and other factors we believe are appropriate under the circumstances including, 
without limitation, those related to:

• earnings growth;

• revenue growth;

• net interest margin;

• deposit growth, including short-term escrow deposits, brokered deposits and off-balance sheet deposits;

• future acquisitions;

• performance, credit quality and liquidity of investments made by us, including our investments in certain mortgage-backed 
and similar securities;

• loan and lease origination volume;

• the interest rate environment;

• non-interest income levels, including fees from product sales;

• credit performance of loans made by us;

• monetary and fiscal policies of the U.S. Government, including policies of the U.S. Treasury and the Board of Governors of 
the Federal Reserve System;

• our ability to maintain, generate and/or raise capital;

• changes in the regulatory environment and government intervention in the banking industry, including the impact of the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform, and the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act;

• Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance assessments;

• margins on sales or securitizations of loans;

• market share;

• expense levels;

• hiring of new private client banking teams;

• results from new business initiatives;

• future dividends and share repurchases;

• other business operations and strategies;

• changes in federal, state or local tax laws; and

• the impact of new accounting pronouncements.

As you read and consider the forward-looking statements, you should understand that these statements are not guarantees of 
performance or results. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions and can change as a result of many possible events 
or factors, not all of which are known to us or in our control. All of these factors are subject to additional uncertainty in the 
context of the COVID-19 pandemic, which is having an unprecedented impact on all aspects of our operations, the financial 
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services industry and the economy as a whole. Although we believe that these forward-looking statements are based on 
reasonable assumptions, beliefs and expectations, if a change occurs or our beliefs, assumptions or expectations were 
incorrect, our business, financial condition, liquidity or results of operations may vary materially from those expressed in our 
forward-looking statements. You should be aware that many factors could affect our actual financial results or results of 
operations and could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. See “Part I, Item 
1A. – Risk Factors” for a discussion of the most significant risks that we face, including, without limitation, the following factors:

• disruption and volatility in global financial markets;

• changes in U.S. trade policies, including the imposition of tariffs;

• difficult market conditions adversely affecting our industry;

• fiscal challenges facing the U.S. government could negatively impact financial markets which in turn could have an adverse 
effect on our financial position or results of operations;

• our ability to maintain the continuity, integrity, security and safety of our operations;
•
• our inability to successfully implement our business strategy;

• our inability to successfully integrate new business lines into our existing operations;

• changes to existing statutes and regulations or the way in which they are interpreted and applied by courts or governmental 
agencies;

• our vulnerability to changes in interest rates;

• the planned phase out of LIBOR as a financial benchmark presents risks to the financial instruments originated or held by 
us;

• competition with many larger financial institutions which have substantially greater financial and other resources than we 
have;

• government intervention in the banking industry, new legislation and government regulation;

• illiquid market conditions and downgrades in credit ratings;

• adverse developments in the residential mortgage market;

• inability of U.S. agencies or U.S. government-sponsored enterprises to pay or to guarantee payments on their securities in 
which we invest;

• material risks involved in commercial lending;

• a downturn in the economy and the real estate market of the New York metropolitan area or on the West Coast;

• risks associated with our loan portfolio growth;

• our failure to effectively manage our credit risk;

• lack of seasoning of mortgage loans underlying our investment portfolio;

• our allowance for credit losses for loans and leases (“ACLLL”) may not be sufficient to absorb actual losses;

• our reliance on the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York for secondary and contingent liquidity sources;

• our dependence upon key personnel;

• our inability to acquire suitable private client banking teams or manage our growth;

• our charter documents and regulatory limitations may delay or prevent our acquisition by a third party;

• curtailment of government guaranteed loan programs could affect our SBA business;

• our use of brokered deposits and continuing to be “well-capitalized”;

• our extensive reliance on outsourcing to provide cost-effective operational support;
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• system failures or breaches of our network security;

• data security breaches;

• decreases in trading volumes or prices;

• exposure to legal claims and litigation;

• our ability to pay cash dividends or engage in share repurchases is restricted;

• potential responsibility for environmental claims;

• climate change and related legislative and regulatory initiatives may result in operational changes and expenditures that 
could significantly impact our business; 

• downgrades of our credit rating;

• our inability to raise additional funding needed for our operations;

• inflation or deflation;

• misconduct of employees or their failure to abide by regulatory requirements;

• fraudulent or negligent acts on the part of our clients or third parties;

• failure of our brokerage clients to meet their margin requirements;

• severe weather;

• acts of war or terrorism;

• technological changes;

• work stoppages, financial difficulties, fire, earthquakes, flooding or other natural disasters;

• changes in federal, state or local tax laws;

• changes in accounting standards, policies, and practices or interpretation of new or existing standards, policies and 
practices, as may be adopted by the bank regulatory agencies, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”);

• changes in our reputation and negative public opinion;

• fluctuations in FDIC insurance premiums;

• regulatory net capital requirements that constrain our brokerage business;

• soundness of other financial institutions;

• our ability to enter new markets successfully and capitalize on growth opportunities;

• changes in consumer spending, borrowing and savings habits;

• changes in our organization, compensation and benefit plans; and

• changes in the financial condition or future prospects of issuers of securities that we own.

See “Part I, Item 1A.– Risk Factors” for a full discussion of these risks.

You should keep in mind that any forward‑looking statement made by us speaks only as of the date on which we make it. New 
risks and uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict these events or how they may affect us. We 
have no duty to, and do not intend to, and disclaim any obligation to, update or revise any industry information or 
forward‑looking statements after the date on which they are made. In light of these risks and uncertainties, you should keep in 
mind that any forward‑looking statement made in this document or elsewhere might not reflect actual results.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
In this annual report filed on Form 10‑K, except where the context otherwise requires, the “Bank,” the “Company,” “Signature,” 
“we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Signature Bank and its subsidiaries, including Signature Financial, LLC (“Signature Financial”), 
Signature Securities Group Corporation (“Signature Securities”) and Signature Public Funding Corporation (“Signature Public 
Funding”).

Introduction

We are a New York-based full-service commercial bank with 36 private client offices located throughout the metropolitan New 
York area, including those in Connecticut, as well as in California and North Carolina. Through its single-point-of-contact 
approach, the Bank’s growing network of private client banking teams serves the needs of privately owned businesses, their 
owners and senior managers. 

Through our Signature Financial subsidiary, a specialty finance company based in Melville, Long Island, we offer a variety of 
financing and leasing products, including equipment, transportation, taxi medallion, commercial marine, and national franchise 
financing and/or leasing. Signature Financial’s clients are located throughout the United States.

We provide brokerage, asset management and insurance products and services through our Signature Securities subsidiary, a 
licensed broker-dealer and investment adviser.

Through our Signature Public Funding subsidiary based in Towson, Maryland, we provide a range of municipal finance and 
tax-exempt lending and leasing products to government entities throughout the country, including state and local governments, 
school districts, fire and police and other municipal entities. The subsidiary is overseen by the management team of Signature 
Financial who has extensive experience in municipal finance.

Additionally, through a representative office of the Bank in Houston, Texas, we purchase, securitize and sell the guaranteed 
portions of U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) loans.

Since commencing operations in May 2001, we have grown to $73.89 billion in assets, $63.32 billion in deposits, $48.83 billion 
in loans, $5.83 billion in equity capital and $4.80 billion in other assets under management as of December 31, 2020. We 
intend to continue our growth and maintain our position as a premier relationship-based financial services organization in the 
metropolitan New York area including those in Connecticut, as well as in California and North Carolina, as guided by our 
Chairman and senior management team who have extensive experience developing, managing and growing financial service 
organizations. 

Signature Bank’s Annual Report on Form 10‑K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10‑Q, Current Reports on Form 8‑K and all 
amendments to those reports, Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Annual Report to Stockholders are 
made available, free of charge, on our website at www.signatureny.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports 
have been filed with or furnished to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). You may also obtain any materials 
that we file with the FDIC at the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s offices located at 550 17th Street N.W., Washington, 
DC 20429.

Recent Highlights

COVID-19 Pandemic

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020 the United States 
declared a national emergency with respect to COVID-19. The outbreak of COVID-19 has severely impacted global economic 
activity and caused significant volatility and negative pressure in financial markets. In response to the pandemic, we  
successfully implemented our contingency plans, which include remote working arrangements, modified hours in our private 
client offices, and phased return to work schedules while promoting social distancing. In addition, we continue to support our 
clients and employees who may be experiencing a financial hardship due to COVID-19. We provided payment deferrals as 
needed, have been participating in the Small Business Administration’s Paycheck Protection Program and in the Federal 
Reserve’s Main Street Lending Program for our eligible clients. We continue to closely monitor the rapid developments and 
uncertainties regarding the pandemic.

Because there have been no comparable recent global pandemics that resulted in similar global impact, we do not yet know 
the full extent of COVID-19’s effects on our business, operations, or the global economy as a whole. Any future development 
will be highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and duration of the pandemic, the effectiveness of our 
remote working arrangements, third party providers’ ability to support our operation, and any actions taken by governmental 
authorities and other third parties in response to the pandemic. The uncertain future development of this crisis could materially 
and adversely affect our business, operations, operating results, financial condition, liquidity or capital levels.
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For additional discussion of the impact of COVID-19 on our institution and the risks that it poses, see Item 1A “Risk Factors.”

Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act

In March 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the CARES Act was passed by Congress and signed into law. The 
CARES Act includes funding for loans to be issued by financial institutions to small businesses through the Small Business 
Administration (SBA), known as the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP). These loans are to be provided for payroll and other 
permitted expenses during the COVID-19 pandemic and are 100% guaranteed by the SBA for small businesses who meet the 
necessary eligibility requirements. PPP loans are eligible to be forgiven if certain conditions are satisfied, at which time the 
SBA will make payment to the lender for the forgiven amounts. All PPP loans yield an interest rate of 1.00% and have a two or 
five-year term. The SBA also pays the originating bank a processing fee ranging from 1% to 5%, based on the size of the loan. 
In April 2020, Congress authorized additional funding for the PPP Program under the CARES Act. On July 4, 2020, the 
Paycheck Protection Extension Act, was signed into law, establishing August 8, 2020, as the new deadline to apply for a PPP 
loan. Although PPP loans originally had a minimum two-year term, all new originations now have a five year term. 

On December 27, 2020, the Economic Aid Act was enacted as part of the Consolidated Appropriations Act ("CAA") for Fiscal 
Year 2021. The Economic Aid Act reopens the PPP to certain businesses that satisfy applicable eligibility criteria. Specifically, 
among other things, the Economic Aid Act: (i) extends the original PPP (or the “First Draw”) deadline from August 8, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021; (ii) establishes “Second Draw” PPP loans, which enables certain entities to receive a second round of PPP 
credit; and (iii) appropriates $284.5 billion for “First Draw” and “Second Draw” PPP loans. On January 6, 2021, the SBA and 
the Department of the Treasury issued interim final rules and revised the borrower application forms for the PPP. The SBA 
resumed its acceptance of First Draw PPP loan applications on January 11, 2021 and began accepting applications for Second 
Draw PPP loans on January 13, 2021. Outstanding PPP loans totaled $1.87 billion as of December 31, 2020. With the re-
opening of the PPP in January 2021 through the adoption of the Economic Aid Act and related SBA and Treasury Department 
rulemakings, the Bank has received and expects to receive additional “First Draw” and “Second Draw” PPP loan applications 
in the coming weeks.

Since its commencement, the PPP has generated considerable discussion regarding its operation, including reports that loans 
were going to larger companies, including public companies, diverting funds from the smaller businesses that were the 
program’s intended beneficiaries and that certain bank lenders were favoring larger existing customers at the expense of 
smaller customers or potential borrowers with no previous connection to the banks. As a result, there has been litigation, 
including purported class actions, against lenders, borrowers, and the SBA itself. This has included litigation brought by 
plaintiffs alleging that banks owed them agent fees for borrowers they brought to the banks. There have also been criminal 
proceedings brought against potential and actual borrowers for fraud and misuse of loan proceeds. In July 2020, the SBA 
began releasing the names of and other information about borrowers receiving loans of $150,000 or more, which may focus 
more attention on the operation of the PPP.

Since the end of March 2020, the Bank has been working with borrowers negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. As 
of December 31, 2020, total principal and interest deferrals declined significantly to $1.31 billion, or 2.7% of total loans. 
Additionally, $3.22 billion, or 6.6% of total loans, is comprised of other COVID-19 related modifications, including $2.87 billion 
of modified interest-only payments. This compares to a peak level of total deferrals of $11.08 billion, or 24.5% of total loans, as 
of June 30, 2020, which were primarily comprised of principal and interest deferrals. Additionally, to encourage institutions to 
work with impacted borrowers, the CARES Act and banking regulatory agencies have provided relief from Troubled Debt 
Restructuring ("TDR") accounting. Loans modified as a result of COVID-19 that were current as of December 31, 2019 are 
exempt from TDR classification under US GAAP. Additionally, banking regulatory agencies issued interagency guidance that 
COVID-19 related short-term modifications (i.e., six months or less) granted to borrowers that were current as of the loan 
modification program implementation date are not TDRs. The CARES Act guidance applied to modifications made between 
March 1, 2020 and the earlier of December 31, 2020 or 60 days after the end of the COVID-19 national emergency. In 
December 2020, the signing of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 extended this guidance to modifications made until 
the earlier of January 1, 2022 or 60 days after the end of the COVID-19 national emergency. For past due status, the CARES 
Act also provides for lenders to continue to report loans in the same delinquency status they were in at the time of 
modification. The Bank has applied this guidance during 2020.

Also, the Federal Reserve, on its own and in cooperation with the Department of the Treasury, has established a number of 
financing and liquidity programs that are available to institutions like the Bank. These include the Main Street Lending Program 
(“MSLP”), which is intended to keep credit flowing to small and mid-sized businesses that were in sound financial condition 
before the coronavirus pandemic but now need financing to maintain operations. The Bank has registered as a lender in the 
MSLP. On July 28, 2020, the Federal Reserve announced the extension to December 31, 2020 of a number of financing and 
liquidity programs, including the MSLP, that were scheduled to expire on September 30, 2020. However, in guidance published 
effective as of November 25, 2020, the Federal Reserve indicated that the MSLP would terminate on December 31, 2020. This 
deadline was extended to January 8, 2021, when the MSLP terminated. Outstanding MSLP loans totaled $3.4 million as of 
December 31, 2020.

On May 15, 2020, the House of Representatives passed the HEROES Act, a $3 trillion relief bill that contained a number of 
financial services-related provisions, including, among other things, an expansion of the moratorium on evictions and mortgage 
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foreclosures established under the CARES Act and the establishment of rental and homeowners assistance programs to be 
administered by federal and state agencies to provide direct aid to renters and homeowners adversely impacted by COVID-19. 

On July 27, 2020, Senate Republicans released the HEALS Act, which, among other things, proposes a number of forms of 
direct assistance in the areas of healthcare, education and workplace safety. However, the proposal does not include the 
financial services related measures that have been proposed by the House of Representatives under the HEROES Act. Both 
legislative packages call for extensions of the PPP and would make varying adjustments to the program. In addition, on August 
8, 2020, the President announced four actions addressing the continuation of certain unemployment benefits and potential 
payroll tax, student loan and renter eviction relief. 

On December 27, 2020, the CAA 2021 was signed into law. Along with providing funding for normal government operations 
($1.4 trillion), this bill provides for additional COVID-19 focused relief ($900 billion). The CAA extends certain provisions of the 
CARES Act, provides additional funding for others and contains new relief provisions. In addition, the CAA extends the PPP to 
March 31, 2021, increases its maximum loan amounts to $806.5 billion and permits eligible companies to obtain a second PPP 
loan ("second draw") under specified terms, with a maximum amount of $2 million.

For additional discussion of the impact of the PPP program on our institution and the risks that it poses, see Item 1A “Risk 
Factors.” For additional information related to TDRs, see Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

West Coast Expansion

After opening our flagship office in San Francisco in February 2019, which marked the commencement of our West Coast 
operations, the Bank has executed on our proven model by attracting new leadership for our West Coast initiative and on- 
boarded 13 new private client banking teams during 2020 in the greater Los Angeles marketplace. Together with our San 
Francisco office, the Bank now has a total of 23 private banking teams, which consist of 76 banking professionals on the West 
Coast. Additionally, during 2020 we opened four new private client banking offices in Los Angeles with locations in Warner 
Center, Ontario, Newport Beach and Beverly Hills.

Subordinated Debt Offering

On October 6, 2020, the Bank completed a public offering of $375.0 million aggregate principal amount of Fixed-To-Floating 
Rate Subordinated Notes due October 15, 2030 (the “Notes”). The Notes accrue interest at a fixed rate of 4.00% per annum 
for the first five years until October 2025. After this date and for the remaining five years of the Notes’ term, interest will accrue 
at a floating rate of three-month AMERIBOR plus 389 basis points. Net proceeds from this offering will be used for general 
corporate purposes, including to support our growth.

Stock Repurchase Program

On October 17, 2018, the Bank’s stockholders approved the repurchase of common stock from the Bank’s shareholders in 
open market transactions in the aggregate purchase amount of up to $500.0 million. The timing of the execution of this plan, 
as well as the amount repurchased, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and management, and will be dependent 
upon then-existing conditions, including our financial condition and results of operations, capital requirements, commercial real 
estate concentration, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors considered relevant. Share buybacks are 
also subject to regulatory approvals, which were received for the repurchase program of up to $500.0 million in November 
2018. We received shareholder and regulatory approval to continue the program in 2019.

On February 19, 2020, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the stock repurchase program that restored the 
Bank’s share repurchase authorization to an aggregate purchase amount of up to $500.0 million from the $220.9 million that 
was remaining under the original authorization as of December 31, 2019. The amended stock repurchase program was 
approved by the shareholders in April 2020. The Bank has suspended any future repurchases of common stock given the 
COVID-19 circumstances since the end of the first quarter of 2020. As a result, no common stock was repurchased by the 
Bank during the remainder of 2020. During the third quarter of 2020, we received regulatory approval to extend the repurchase 
of the $170.8 million remaining under the original authorization to September 30, 2021. We plan to seek separate regulatory 
approval for the additional $279.1 million approved under the amended authorization. To date the Bank has repurchased 
2,689,544 shares of common stock for a total of $329.2 million, and the amount remaining under the amended authorization 
was $450.0 million at December 31, 2020.
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Preferred Stock Offering

On December 17, 2020, the Bank issued 5.00% Noncumulative Perpetual Series A Preferred Stock. Net proceeds, after 
underwriting discounts and expenses, were approximately $708.0 million. The public offering consisted of 29,200,000 
depository shares, each representing A 1/40th interest in a share of the Series A Preferred Stock, at a public offering price of 
$25.00 per depository share. The Series A Preferred Stock is redeemable at the option of the Bank, subject to all applicable 
regulatory approvals, on or after December 30, 2025. See Note 17 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional 
information.

Common Stock Dividend

On January 20, 2021, the Bank declared a cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or a total of $30.1 million which was paid on  
February 12, 2021 to common stockholders of record at the close of business on February 1, 2021. The Bank also declared 
and paid a cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or a total of $30.0 million, for each of the first three quarters of 2020.

Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be dependent upon then- 
existing conditions, including our financial condition and results of operations, capital requirements, commercial real estate 
concentration, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors that the Board of Directors considers relevant.

Core Deposit Growth

During 2020, our deposits grew $22.93 billion, or 56.8%, to $63.32 billion. Deposits at December 31, 2020 included 
$3.84 billion of time deposits compared to $2.96 billion at year-end 2019. Core deposits, which exclude time deposits and 
brokered deposits, increased $22.05 billion, or 58.9%, during 2020 as a result of continued growth in our multitude of national 
businesses, including Fund Banking, Venture Banking, Digital Banking and Specialized Mortgage Banking Solutions, as well 
as Signet™, our state-of-the-art block-chain based payments platform. Further, we continued to add new private client banking 
teams in New York. All of these initiatives assist us in growing our client base, as well as deposits raised by our existing private 
client banking teams. We primarily focus our deposit gathering efforts in the greater New York, Los Angeles and San Francisco 
metropolitan markets, with money center banks, regional banks and community banks as our primary competitors. 

In 2019, we expanded our deposit gathering efforts to the West Coast with the opening of our first full-service private client 
banking office in San Francisco and the addition of the Specialized Mortgage Servicing Banking team. In 2020, we opened 
four new private client banking offices and onboarded 13 private client banking teams in the Greater Los Angeles market 
place. In addition, we added five new teams to bolster our presence in the San Francisco market. We also added two 
additional teams in New York during 2020. We distinguish ourselves from competitors by focusing on our target market: 
privately owned businesses, their owners and their senior managers, as well as private equity firms and their general partners. 
This niche approach, coupled with our relationship-banking model, provides our clients with a personalized service, which we 
believe gives us a competitive advantage. 

Our deposit mix has remained favorable, with non-interest-bearing and NOW deposits accounting for 29.6% of our total 
deposits and time deposits accounting for 2.57% of our total deposits as of December 31, 2020. Our average cost for total 
deposits was 0.59% for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Strategic Hires

During 2020, we increased our network of seasoned banking professionals by adding 20 private client banking teams and 34 
new banking group directors, including the addition of the aforementioned new banking teams on the West Coast. Our full-time 
equivalent number of employees grew from 1,472 to 1,652 during 2020.

Private Client Banking Teams and Offices

As of December 31, 2020, we had 116 private client banking teams located throughout the metropolitan New York area, 
including those in Connecticut as well as in California and North Carolina. With the on-going consolidation of financial 
institutions in our marketplace and market segmentation by our competitors, we continue to actively recruit experienced private 
client banking teams with established client relationships that fit our niche market of privately owned businesses, their owners 
and senior managers. Our typical group director joins us with 20 years of experience in financial services and an established 
team of two to four additional professionals to assist with business development and client services. Each additional private 
client banking team brings client relationships that allow us to grow our core deposits as well as expand our lending 
opportunities.

We currently operate 36 private client offices in the metropolitan New York area, including those in Connecticut as well as in 
California and North Carolina. While our strategy does not call for us to have an expansive office presence, we will continue to 
add offices to meet the needs of the private client banking teams that we recruit. 
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Our Business Strategy

We intend to increase our presence as a premier relationship-based financial services organization serving the needs of 
privately owned business clients, their owners and their senior managers in major metropolitan areas by continuing to:

Focus on our niche market of privately owned businesses, their owners and their senior managers

We generally target closely held commercial clients with revenues of less than $200 million and fewer than 1,000 employees. 
Our business clients are principally representative of the New York, Los Angeles and San Francisco metropolitan area 
economy and include real estate owners/operators, real estate management companies, law firms, accounting firms, private 
equity firms and their general partners, residential and commercial mortgage servicers, entertainment business managers, 
medical professionals, retail establishments, money management firms and not-for-profit philanthropic organizations. We also 
target the owners and senior management of these businesses who typically have a net worth of between $500,000 and 
$20 million. 

Provide our clients a wide array of high quality banking, brokerage and insurance products and services through our 
private client group structure and a seamless financial services solution

We offer a broad array of financial products and services with a seamless financial services solution through our private client 
banking team structure.

Most of our competitors that sell banking products as well as investment and insurance products do so based on a “silo” 
approach. In this approach, different sales people from different profit centers within the bank, brokerage firm or insurance 
company separately offer their particular products to the client. This approach creates client confusion as to who is servicing 
the relationship. Because no single relationship manager considers all of the needs of a client in the “silo” approach, some 
products and services may not be presented at all to the client. We market our banking, investment and insurance services 
seamlessly, thus avoiding the “silo” approach of many of our competitors in the major metropolitan areas we serve in New York 
and California. Our cash management, investment and insurance products and services are presented to clients by the private 
client banking team professional but provided or underwritten by others.

Our business is built around banking and investment private client groups. We believe that our ability to hire and retain top-
performing relationship group directors is our major competitive advantage. Our group directors have primary responsibility for 
attracting client relationships and, on an on-going basis, through them and their groups, servicing those relationships. Our 
group directors are experienced financial service professionals who come from the following disciplines: private banking, 
middle market banking, high-end retail banking, investment and insurance and institutional brokerage. Our group directors 
each have their own private client banking team (typically two to four professionals) who assists the group director in business 
development and client service. 

Recruit experienced, talented and motivated private client group directors who are top producers and who believe in 
our banking model

A key to our success in developing a relationship-based bank is our ability to recruit and retain experienced and motivated 
financial services professionals. We recruit group directors and private client banking teams who we believe are top 
performers. While recruitment channels differ and our recruitment efforts are largely opportunistic in nature, the continuing 
merger and acquisition activity in the New York and West Coast financial services marketplaces provides an opportunity to 
selectively target and recruit qualified teams. We believe the current market to be a favorable environment for locating and 
recruiting qualified private client banking teams. Our experience has been that such displacement and change leads select 
private client banking teams to smaller, less bureaucratic organizations such as Signature.

Offer incentive-based compensation that rewards private client banking teams for developing their business and 
retaining their clients

Our private client banking team variable compensation model adds to the foundation for our relationship-based banking 
discipline. A key part of our strategy for growing our business is the incentive-based compensation that we employ to help us 
retain our group directors while ensuring that they continue to develop their business and retain their clients. Under our private 
client banking team variable compensation model, annual bonuses are paid to members of the team based upon the profit 
generated from their business. In order to mitigate the inherent risk in our incentive-based compensation model, we have in 
place an internal control structure that includes segregation of duties and risk management review of compensation practices. 
For example, the underwriting and ultimate approval of any loan is performed by loan officers who are separate from the 
private client banking teams and report to our Chief Credit Officer and Chief Lending Officer.

Because we are a relationship-based commercial bank, we compensate our employees for average balances, not for the 
number of accounts or products. Incentive revenue is the same for both retaining and obtaining clients. Additionally, there are 
no sales competitions or sales requirements, nor are there any cross-selling requirements.
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Maintain a flat organization structure for business development purposes that provides our clients and group 
directors with direct access to senior management

Another key element of our strategy is our organizational structure. We operate with a flat organizational and reporting 
structure, through which our group directors report directly to senior management. More importantly, it gives our clients direct 
access to senior management.

Develop and maintain operations support that is client-centric and service oriented

We have made a significant investment in our infrastructure, including our support staff. Although we have centralized many of 
our critical operations, such as finance, information technology, client services, cash management services, loan 
administration and human resources, we have located some functions within the private client offices so they are closer to the 
group directors and our clients. For example, most of our private client offices have a senior lender on location, who is part of 
our credit group, to assist the private client banking teams with the lending process. We have also invested in our information 
technology infrastructure in recent years with the implementation of a new commercial loan servicing platform, a foreign 
exchange system, Signet, and a new commercial loan origination system. In addition, most of our private client offices have an 
investment group director or team that provides brokerage and/or insurance services, as necessary. We believe our existing 
infrastructure (physical and systems infrastructure, as well as people) can accommodate additional growth without substantial 
additional support area personnel or significant spending on technology and operations in the medium term.

Be committed to a sound risk management process while focusing on profitability

Risk management is an important element of our business. We evaluate the inherent risks that affect our business, including 
interest rate risk, credit risk, operational risk, regulatory risk, and reputation risk. We have a Chief Risk Officer whose 
responsibility is the oversight of our risk management processes. Additionally, members of our senior management group have 
significant experience in risk management, credit, operations, finance and auditing. We have put internal controls in place that 
help to mitigate the risks that affect our business. In addition, we have policies and procedures that further help mitigate risk 
and regulatory requirements that mandate that we evaluate, test and opine on the effectiveness of internal controls. No system 
of internal control or policies and procedures will ever totally eliminate risk. However, we believe that our risk management 
processes will help keep our risks to a manageable level.

Maintain an appropriate balance between cost control, incentive compensation and business expansion initiatives

We have established an internal approval process for capital and operating expenses. We maintain cost control practices and 
policies to increase efficiency of operations. A key expense for financial service companies is compensation. Controlling this 
expense is an important element in keeping overall expenses down. Our group directors and their teams receive base salaries 
and benefits; however, a significant portion of their compensation is variable and based upon the profit generated from the 
business they create. This variable compensation model helps us control expenses as employees do not receive variable 
compensation unless revenue is generated. Virtually all expenditures (both current and capital) in excess of certain thresholds 
must be approved by a member of senior management and are reviewed and approved by our Purchasing and Capital 
Expenditures Committee, which includes our Chief Operating Officer and our Chief Financial Officer.

We make extensive use of outsourcing to provide cost-effective operational support with service levels consistent with large-
bank operations. We focus on our financial services business and have outsourced many of our key banking and brokerage 
systems to third-party providers. This has several advantages for an institution like ours, including the ability to cost-effectively 
utilize the latest technology to better serve, and stay focused on, the needs of our clients. Our key outsourcing partners include 
Fidelity Information Services and National Financial Services (the brokerage and investments systems division of Fidelity 
Investments). We maintain management oversight of these providers. Each of these providers was the subject of a due 
diligence investigation prior to their selection and continues to be reviewed on an on-going basis by Vendor Management.

Historical Developments

We were incorporated as a New York State-chartered bank in September 2000. On April 5, 2001, our date of inception, we 
received approval to commence operations from the New York State Banking Department (known as the New York State 
Department of Financial Services as of October 3, 2011). Since commencing operations on May 1, 2001, the following 
subsequent historical developments have occurred in relation to our ownership and capital structure:

• We completed our initial public offering in March 2004 and a follow-on offering in September 2004. Our common 
stock trades on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “SBNY.”

• In March 2005, Bank Hapoalim B.M. sold its controlling stake in us in a secondary offering. After the offering, Bank 
Hapoalim beneficially owned 5.7% of our common stock on a fully diluted basis. Bank Hapoalim no longer owns any 
shares of our stock.

• In September 2008, we completed a public offering of 5,400,000 shares of our common stock generating net 
proceeds of $148.1 million.

• In December 2008, we issued 120,000 shares of senior preferred stock (with an aggregate liquidation preference of 
$120.0 million) and a warrant to purchase 595,829 common shares to the U.S. Treasury in the Troubled Asset Relief 
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Program Capital Purchase Program (the “TARP Capital Purchase Program”), for an aggregate purchase price of 
$120.0 million.

• In light of the restrictions of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, on March 31, 2009, we 
repurchased the 120,000 shares of preferred stock we issued to the U.S. Treasury for $120.0 million plus accrued 
and unpaid dividends of $767,000. 

• In June 2009, we completed a public offering of 5,175,000 shares of our common stock generating net proceeds of 
$127.3 million.

• In March 2010, the U.S. Treasury sold, in a public offering, a warrant to purchase 595,829 shares of our common 
stock that was received from us in the TARP Capital Purchase Program. All warrants were either exercised or expired 
as of the December 12, 2018 expiration date. 

• In July 2011, we completed a public offering of 4,715,000 shares of our common stock generating net proceeds of 
$253.3 million.

• In July 2014, we completed a public offering of 2,415,000 shares of our common stock generating net proceeds of 
$295.8 million.

• In February 2016, we completed a public offering of 2,366,855 shares of our common stock generating net proceeds 
of $318.7 million.

• In April 2016, the Bank issued $260.0 million of subordinated debt to institutional investors.

• In August 2018, the Bank paid its inaugural quarterly cash dividend to common shareholders. The Bank has declared 
and paid a quarterly cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or a total of approximately $31.0 million, each quarter 
beginning with the third quarter of 2018 through the third quarter of 2020. On January 20, 2021, the Bank declared its 
fourth quarter 2020 cash dividend of $0.56 per share to be paid on or after February 12, 2021 to common 
stockholders of record at the close of business on February 1, 2021.

• In October 2018, the Bank’s stockholders approved the repurchase of common stock from the Bank’s shareholders in 
open market transactions in the aggregate purchase amount of up to $500.0 million. 

• On February 19, 2020, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the stock repurchase program that restored 
the Bank’s share repurchase authorization to an aggregate purchase amount of up to $500.0 million, effectively 
increasing the stock repurchase program by $279.1 million. The amended stock repurchase program was approved 
by shareholders in April 2020. The Bank has suspended any future repurchases of common stock given the 
COVID-19 circumstances since the end of the first quarter of 2020. As a result, no common stock was repurchased 
by the Bank during the remainder of 2020. During the third quarter of 2020, we received regulatory approval to extend 
the repurchase of the $170.8 million remaining under the original authorization to September 30, 2021. We will seek 
separate regulatory approval for the additional $279.1 million approved under the amended authorization. To date the 
Bank has repurchased 2,689,544 shares of common stock for a total of $329.2 million, and the amount remaining 
under the amended authorization was $450.0 million at December 31, 2020.

• In November 2019, the Bank issued $200.0 million of subordinated debt.

• On October 6, 2020, the Bank issued $375.0 million of subordinated debt.

• On December 17, 2020, the Bank completed a public offering of 29,200,000 depositary shares of preferred stock 
generating net proceeds of $708.0 million.

• In February 2021, we completed a public offering of 4,025,000 shares of our common stock generating net proceeds 
of $709.0 million.
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Products and Services

Business Clients

We offer a full range of products and services oriented to the needs of our business clients, including:

• Deposit products such as non-interest-bearing checking accounts, money market accounts, and time deposits;
• Escrow deposit services;
• Cash management services;

• Commercial loans and lines of credit for working capital and to finance internal growth, acquisitions and leveraged 
buyouts;

• Subscription lines of credit, management company lines of credit and general partner loans, specifically targeted to 
private equity firms and their general partners;

• Equipment finance and leasing products, including equipment transportation, commercial marine, and national 
franchise financing and/or leasing;

• Municipal finance and tax-exempt lending and leasing products to government entities;
• Venture banking products for technology and life science entrepreneurs throughout all stages of their life cycles;
• Asset-based lending;
• Pay Check Protection ("PPP") loans;
• Main Street Lending Program ("MSLP") Loans;
• Permanent real estate loans;
• Letters of credit;

• Investment products to help better manage idle cash balances, including money market mutual funds and short-term 
money market instruments;

• Business retirement accounts such as 401(k) plans; 

• Business insurance products, including group health and group life products; and
• Signet – digital payments platform, which leverages blockchain technology, allowing our commercial clients to transact 

in a real-time and transparent manner.

Personal Clients

We offer a full range of products and services oriented to the needs of our high net worth personal clients, including:

• Interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing checking accounts, with optional features such as debit/ATM cards and 
overdraft protection and, for our top clients, rebates of certain charges, including ATM fees;

• Money market accounts and money market mutual funds;

• Time deposits;

• Personal loans, both secured and unsecured;

• Credit card accounts;

• Investment and asset management services; and

• Personal insurance products, including health, life and disability.
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Lending Activities

Our traditional commercial and industrial (“C&I”) lending is generally limited to existing clients with whom we have or expect to 
have deposit and/or brokerage relationships in order to assist in monitoring and controlling credit risk.  We target our lending to 
privately owned businesses, their owners and their senior managers, generally high net worth individuals who meet our credit 
standards. Since 2019, we have further expanded this target market to include private equity firms and their general partners 
to grow our fund banking business. In addition, we participated in the PPP under the Cares Act whereby unsecured loans to 
eligible small businesses are made and registered as a lender in the Main Street Lender Program ("MSLP"), which is intended 
to keep credit flowing to small and mid-sized businesses that were in sound financial condition before the coronavirus 
pandemic. Our credit standards are set by the Credit Committee of our Board of Directors (the “Credit Committee”) with the 
assistance of our Chief Credit Officer and Chief Lending Officer, who are charged with ensuring that credit standards are met 
by loans in our portfolio. In addition, we have a credit authorization policy under which no single individual is authorized to 
approve a loan regardless of dollar amount. Smaller loans may be approved by concurring authorized officers. Larger loans 
require the approval of the Credit Committee. Our largest loan category requires the approval of our Board of Directors. Our 
credit standards for commercial borrowers reference numerous criteria with respect to the borrower, including historical and 
projected financial information, the strength of management, acceptable collateral and associated advance rates, and market 
conditions and trends in the borrower’s industry. In addition, prospective loans are analyzed based on current industry 
concentrations in our loan portfolio to prevent an unacceptable concentration of loans in any particular industry. We believe our 
credit standards are similar to the standards generally employed by large nationwide banks in the markets we serve. We seek 
to differentiate ourselves from our competitors by focusing on and aggressively marketing to our core clients and 
accommodating, to the extent permitted by our credit standards, their individual needs. We generally limit unsecured lending 
for consumer loans to private banking clients who we believe demonstrate ample net worth, liquidity and repayment capacity.

We make loans that are appropriately collateralized under our credit standards. Approximately 98% of our funded loans are 
secured by collateral. Unsecured loans are typically made to individuals with substantial net worth.

Commercial and Industrial Loans

Our C&I loan portfolio is comprised of lines of credit for working capital and term loans to finance equipment and other 
business assets, along with commercial overdrafts. Our lines of credit for working capital are generally renewed on an annual 
basis and our term loans generally have terms of two to five years. C&I loans can be subject to risk factors unique to the 
business of each client. In order to mitigate these risks and better serve our clients, we seek to gain an understanding of the 
business of each client and the reliability of their cash flow, so that we can place appropriate value on collateral taken and 
structure the loan to maintain collateral values at appropriate levels. In analyzing credit risk, we generally focus on the 
business experience of our borrowers’ management. We prefer to lend to borrowers with an established track record of loan 
repayment and predictable growth and cash flow. We also rely on the experience of our bankers and their relationships with 
our clients to aid our understanding of the client and its business. Our lines of credit typically are limited to a percentage of the 
value of the assets securing the line. Lines of credit are generally reviewed annually and are typically supported by accounts 
receivable, inventory and equipment. Depending on the risk profile of the borrower, we may require periodic aging of 
receivables, as well as borrowing base certificates representing current levels of inventory, equipment, and accounts 
receivable. Our term loans are typically also secured by the assets of our clients’ businesses. Commercial borrowers are 
required to provide updated personal and corporate financial statements at least annually. 

Our Fund Banking Division also provides subscription lines of credit, management company lines of credit and general partner 
loans, specifically targeted to private equity firms and their general partners. These lines of credit generally have terms of three 
to five years. The fund banking portfolio primarily consists of capital call lines of credit, which are revolving lines of credit to 
private investment funds used by the borrower to bridge their capital calls. Generally, the borrower is an investment fund 
limited partnership and associated loans are secured by a first lien on the right to make and receive capital calls, as well as the 
assets of the fund. Historically, these loans are some of the stronger underwritten loans in the banking industry. They have 
performed well during times of market and economic disruption, such as the 2008 credit crisis. Further, we have not yet 
received a deferral request since COVID-19.

At December 31, 2020, funded C&I loans totaled approximately 43% of our total funded loans. Loans extended to borrowers 
within the financial services industries include loans to finance working capital and equipment, as well as loans to finance 
investment and owner-occupied real estate. This also includes fund banking extensions of credit to private equity firms and 
their general partners.
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Personal residential real estate loans, or first and second mortgage loans for residential properties, are not a core part of our 
business. Historically, we originated these loans to borrowers who were typically high net worth individuals from our private 
client services. However, we no longer originate these loans, though we expect to continue to service the remaining portfolio 
until maturity. 

Substantially all of the real estate collateral for the loans in our portfolio is located within the New York metropolitan area. As a 
result, our financial condition and results of operations may be affected by changes in the economy and the real estate market 
of the New York metropolitan area. A prolonged period of economic recession or other adverse economic conditions in the 
New York metropolitan area may result in an increase in nonpayment of loans, a decrease in collateral value, and an increase 
in our ACLLL.

Letters of Credit

We issue standby or performance letters of credit, and can service the international needs of our clients through correspondent 
banks. At December 31, 2020, our commitments under letters of credit totaled $741.3 million.

Consumer Loans

Our personal loan portfolio consists of personal lines of credit and loans to acquire personal assets. Our personal lines of 
credit generally have terms of one year and our term loans usually have terms of three to five years. Our lines of credit 
typically have floating interest rates. If the financial situation of the client is sufficient, we will grant unsecured lines of credit. 
We also examine the personal liquidity of our individual borrowers, in some cases requiring agreements to maintain a minimum 
level of liquidity, to ensure that the borrower has sufficient liquidity to repay the loan. At December 31, 2020, our consumer 
loans totaled $7.0 million, representing less than 0.01% of our total funded loans.
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Investment and Asset Management Products and Services

Investment and asset management products and services are provided through our subsidiary, Signature Securities. Signature 
Securities is a licensed broker-dealer and is a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) and the 
Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIPC”). Signature Securities is an introducing firm and, as such, clears its trades 
through National Financial Services, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fidelity Investments. Signature Securities is also 
registered as an investment adviser. Our investment group directors work with our clients to define objectives, goals and 
strategies for their investment portfolios, whether our clients are looking for a relationship based provider or are looking for 
assistance with a particular transaction.

We offer a wide array of asset management and investment products, including the ability to purchase and sell all types of 
individual securities such as equities, options, fixed income securities, mutual funds, and annuities. We offer our clients an 
asset management program whereby we work with our clients to tailor their asset allocation according to their risk profile and 
then invest the client’s assets either directly with a select group of high quality money managers, no load mutual funds, or a 
combination of both. We contract with a third party to perform investment manager due diligence for us on these money 
managers and mutual funds. We offer no proprietary products or services. We do not perform and we do not provide our 
clients with our own branded investment research. Instead, we have contracted with a number of third‑party research providers 
and are able to provide our clients with traditional Wall Street research from a number of sources.

We also offer retirement products such as individual retirement accounts (“IRAs”) and administrative services for retirement 
vehicles such as pension, profit sharing, and 401(k) plans to our clients. These products are not proprietary products.

Signature Securities offers wealth management services to our high net worth personal clients. Together with our client and 
their other professional advisors, including attorneys and certified public accountants, we develop a sophisticated financial plan 
that can include estate planning, business succession planning, asset protection, investment management, family office 
advisory services, bill payment, art and collectible advisory services and concentrated stock services.

SBA Loans and Pools

We are an active participant in the SBA loan and SBA pool secondary market by purchasing, securitizing, and selling the 
guaranteed portions of SBA Section 7(a) loans. Most SBA Section 7(a) loans have adjustable rates and float at a spread to the 
prime rate and reset monthly or quarterly. SBA loans consist of a guaranteed portion of the loan and an un-guaranteed 
balance, which typically represents 25% of the original balance that is retained by the originating lender. The guaranteed 
portions of SBA loans are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government and, therefore, have minimal credit risk 
and carry a 0% risk weight for capital purposes. At December 31, 2020, we had $407.4 million in SBA loans held for sale, 
representing approximately 0.9% of our total funded loans, compared to $290.6 million at December 31, 2019.

The Bank purchases, sells and assembles SBA loans and pools. We are one of the largest SBA pool assemblers in the United 
States. Our primary business in the SBA related transactions is to be an active participant in the SBA loan and pool secondary 
market by purchasing, securitizing and selling the government guaranteed portions of the SBA loans. Signature Bank is 
approved by the SBA as a pool assembler.

We purchase the guaranteed portion of SBA loans from various SBA lender clients. Once purchased, we typically warehouse 
the guaranteed loan for approximately 30 to 180 days. From this warehouse, we aggregate like SBA loans by similar 
characteristics into pools for securitization and sale to the secondary market. In order to meet the SBA’s rate requirement, we 
may strip excess servicing from loans with different coupons to create a pool at a common rate. This has resulted in the 
creation of two assets: a par pool and excess servicing strips. Excess servicing represents the portion of the coupon stripped 
from a loan. At December 31, 2020, the carrying amount of our SBA excess servicing strip assets totaled $223.1 million.

Colson Services Corp. (“Colson”) is the third party government appointed fiscal and transfer agent for the SBA’s Secondary 
Market Program. As the designated servicer, Colson provides transaction processing, record keeping and loan servicing 
functions, including document review and custody, payment collection and disbursement, and data collection and exchange for 
us.

Insurance Services

We offer our business and private clients a wide array of individual and group insurance products, including health, life, 
disability and long-term care insurance products through our subsidiary, Signature Securities. We do not underwrite insurance 
policies. We only act as an agent in offering insurance products and services underwritten by insurers that we believe are the 
best for our clients in each category.

Competition

There is significant competition among commercial banking institutions in the New York and California metropolitan areas. We 
compete with other bank holding companies, national and state-chartered commercial banks, savings and loan associations, 
consumer finance companies, credit unions, securities brokerage firms, insurance companies, mortgage banking companies, 
money market mutual funds, asset-based non-bank lenders, and other financial institutions. Many of these competitors have 
substantially greater financial resources, lending limits and larger office networks than we do and are able to offer a broader 
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range of products and services than we can. Because we compete against larger institutions, our failure to compete effectively 
for deposits, loans, and other clients in our markets could cause us to lose market share, slow our growth rate and may have 
an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

The market for banking and brokerage services is extremely competitive and allows consumers to access financial products 
and compare interest rates and services from numerous financial institutions located across the United States. As a result, 
clients of all financial institutions, including those within our target market, are sensitive to competitive interest rate levels and 
services. Our future success in attracting and retaining client deposits depends, in part, on our ability to offer competitive rates 
and services. Our clients are particularly attracted to the level of personalized service we provide. Our business could be 
impaired if our clients believe other banks provide better service or if they come to believe that higher rates are more important 
to them than better service.

Marketplace

The majority of our business is located in the New York metropolitan area. We believe the New York metropolitan area 
economy presents an attractive opportunity to further grow an independent financial services company oriented to the needs of 
the New York metropolitan area economic marketplace. The New York Metropolitan Statistical Area (“MSA”) is, by far, the 
largest market in the United States for bank deposits. The MSA of New York, Newark and Jersey City is – with approximately 
$2.3 trillion in total deposits, as of June 30, 2020 – approximately three times larger than the second largest MSA in the U.S. 
(Sioux Falls, South Dakota). We recently entered the Los Angeles and San Francisco MSAs, which represent the fourth and 
eighth largest markets in the U.S. at $676 billion and $510 billion, respectively. The New York MSA is also home to the largest 
number of businesses with fewer than 500 employees in the nation. 

As of December 31, 2020, we operated 36 private client offices in the New York metropolitan area, including Connecticut, and 
in California and North Carolina. These 36 offices housed a total of 116 private client banking teams. In 2019, we expanded 
our operations to the West Coast with the opening of our first full-service private client banking office in San Francisco and the 
addition of the Specialized Mortgage Servicing Banking team in July 2019. In 2020, we opened four new private client banking 
offices and onboarded 13 private client banking teams in the Greater Los Angeles market place. In addition, we added five 
new teams to bolster our presence in the San Francisco market. We also added two additional teams in New York during 
2020. As part of the continuing development of our business strategy, we expect to add additional private client banking teams 
in 2021. We believe these additional teams will allow us to expand our current operations in the New York metropolitan area, 
as well as on the West Coast.

Information Technology and System Security

We rely on industry leading technology companies to deliver software, support and certain disaster recovery services. Our 
core banking application software (Demand Deposit, Savings, Commercial Loans, General Ledger, Teller, and Internet 
Banking) is provided by Fidelity Information Services. 

Our information technology environment includes the Fidelity Information Services’ technology centers in Little Rock, Arkansas, 
Brown Deer, Wisconsin and Phoenix, Arizona. A combination of backup power generation, uninterruptible power systems and 
24 hour a day monitoring of the facility perimeters, hardware, operating system software, network connectivity, and building 
environmental systems minimizes the risk of any serious outage or security breach. For disaster recovery purposes, full 
redundancy of the Little Rock and Brown Deer technology centers are provided through separate facilities located in 
Jacksonville, Florida and Wisconsin.

Our core brokerage systems are provided by and run at our clearing firm, National Financial Services, LLC, a subsidiary of 
Fidelity Global Brokerage Group, Inc. Our personnel connect to the system via both dedicated and internet based connections 
to National Financial Services in Boston, Massachusetts.

Employees and Human Capital Resources

At December 31, 2020, we employed approximately 1,652 full-time equivalent employees, 1,006 of whom were officers. None 
of our employees are represented by a collective bargaining agreement. We consider our relations with our employees to be 
good.

We encourage and support the growth and development of our employees and, wherever possible, seek to fill positions by 
promotion and transfer from within the organization. Continual learning and career development are advanced through annual 
performance and development conversations with employees, internally developed training programs, customized corporate 
training engagements and seminars, conferences, and other training events employees are encouraged to attend in 
connection with their job duties.

Our human capital objectives include attracting, training, motivating, rewarding and retaining our employees. The safety, health 
and wellness of our employees is a top priority. The COVID-19 pandemic presented a unique challenge with regard to 
maintaining employee safety while continuing successful operations. Through teamwork and the adaptability of our 
management and staff, we were able to transition during the peak of the pandemic, over a short period of time, to remote 
working arrangements, modified hours in our private client offices, and phased return to work schedules while promoting social 
distancing. All employees are asked not to come to work when they experience signs or symptoms of a possible COVID-19 
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illness and have been provided paid time off to cover compensation during such absences. On an ongoing basis, we further 
promote the health and wellness of our employees by strongly encouraging work-life balance, offering flexible work schedules, 
and keeping the employee portion of health care premiums to a minimum.

We recognize that diversity and inclusion are critical to the success of any organization. Diversity and inclusion initiatives are a 
priority for us, and these initiatives permeate every aspect of our institution, including our corporate culture, client-facing 
teams, and human capital objectives. During 2020, we hired a chief corporate social impact officer and formed a Social Impact 
Committee of our Board of Directors responsible for enhancing our diversity and inclusion initiatives and further integrating 
these initiatives into our culture to foster a more diverse, stronger and inclusive workforce.

Employee retention helps us operate efficiently and achieve one of our business objectives, which is being a high-level service 
provider. We believe our commitment to our core values (integrity, collaboration, adaptability, respect and excellence) as well 
as actively prioritizing concern for our employees’ well-being, supporting our employees’ career goals, offering competitive 
wages and providing valuable fringe benefits aids in the retention of our top-performing employees. 

Regulation and Supervision

The following is a general summary of the material aspects of certain statutes and regulations applicable to Signature Bank 
and its subsidiaries. These summary descriptions are not complete, and you should refer to the full text of the statutes, 
regulations, and corresponding guidance for more information. These statutes and regulations are subject to change, and 
additional statutes, regulations, and corresponding guidance may be adopted. We are unable to predict these future changes 
or the effects, if any, that these changes could have on the business, revenues, and results of Signature Bank and its 
subsidiaries.

As a state-chartered bank, the deposits of which are insured by the FDIC, we and our subsidiaries are subject to a 
comprehensive system of bank supervision administered by federal and state banking agencies. Because we are chartered 
under the laws of the State of New York, the New York State Department of Financial Services (“DFS”) is our primary regulator. 
We are also subject to the laws and regulations of the other states in which we do business. The FDIC is our primary federal 
banking regulator because we are not a member of the Federal Reserve System. We also are subject to enforcement and 
rulemaking authorities of the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (commonly referred to as the “CFPB”) for financial 
products and services under its jurisdiction. These regulators oversee our compliance with applicable federal, New York and 
other state laws and regulations governing our activities, operations, and business. We are not controlled by a parent holding 
company, which would be subject to primary federal supervision by the Board of Governors of Federal Reserve System 
(“Federal Reserve”) as a bank holding company. As a bank without a bank holding company, a relatively simple capital and 
corporate structure, and a traditional lending and deposit-taking business model, Signature Bank in certain respects is subject 
to somewhat less burdensome federal bank regulatory requirements than larger banks with more complex structures and 
activities and banks that are subsidiaries of bank holding companies. We are, however, subject to the disclosure and 
regulatory requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as administered by the FDIC, certain investment advice rules 
promulgated by the Department of Labor (“DOL”), and the rules adopted for The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC that are applicable 
to listed companies.

The primary purpose of the U.S. system of bank supervision is to ensure the safety and soundness of banks in order to protect 
depositors, the FDIC insurance fund, and the financial system generally. It is not primarily intended to protect the interest of 
shareholders. Thus, if we were to violate banking law and regulations, including engaging in unsafe or unsound practices, we 
could be subject to enforcement actions and other sanctions that could be detrimental to shareholders. See “Risk Factors—We 
are subject to significant government regulation.”

Safety and Soundness Regulation

New York law governs our authority to engage in deposit-taking, lending, investing, and other activities. New York law also 
imposes restrictions intended to ensure our safety and soundness, including limitations on the amount of money we can lend 
to a single borrower (generally, 15% of capital; 25% if the loan is secured by certain types of collateral), prohibitions on 
engaging in activities such as investing in equity securities or non-financial commodities, and prohibitions on making loans 
secured by our own capital stock.

The federal banking agencies have also adopted guidelines establishing safety and soundness standards for all insured 
depository institutions. The safety and soundness guidelines relate to our internal controls, information systems, internal audit 
systems, loan underwriting and documentation, compensation, and interest rate exposure.  The standards assist the federal 
banking agencies with early identification and resolution of problems at insured depository institutions. If we were to fail to 
meet these standards, the FDIC could require us to submit a compliance plan and take enforcement action if an acceptable 
compliance plan were not submitted.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) provided the federal banking 
agencies with additional latitude to monitor the systemic safety of the financial system and take responsive action, which have, 
and could continue to include, imposing restrictions on the business activities of the Bank. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act 
authorized the federal regulators to impose various new assessments and fees, which impacted the Bank’s operational costs. 

20



The FDIC’s special assessment enacted in connection with the increase of the minimum for the DIF reserve ratio to 1.35% 
was reached in September 2018.  See “—Deposit Premiums and Assessments.” 

The FDIC, as a supervisory matter, expects us to have governance, internal control, compliance, and supervisory programs 
consistent with our size and activities. As of December 31, 2020, the Bank reported $73.89 billion in total consolidated assets. 
As the Bank continues to grow in size and expand the scope of our operations, the FDIC will generally expect us to develop 
and implement enhanced governance, internal control, compliance, and supervisory programs, to implement select banking 
regulations that apply to an institution of our size or structure, and to incur the costs to implement, staff, and maintain those 
programs. For instance, the FDIC’s regulations under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (“FDI Act”) require insured depository 
institutions with $50 billion or more in total assets, including the Bank to periodically submit resolution plans to the FDIC to 
address procedures for the resolution of the institution in the event of its failure. In June 2019, the FDIC issued an advance 
notice of proposed rulemaking regarding potential amendments to such requirements. Under the proposal, the FDIC would 
establish tiered resolution planning requirements based on factors including asset size and complexity, among others, and 
would revise the frequency and content of plan submissions for larger, more complex institutions that would remain subject to 
resolution planning requirements under the amended regulations. The FDIC has requested public comment on whether the 
$50 billion asset threshold should continue to apply in light of the modifications to Dodd-Frank Act resolution planning 
requirements, which are discussed below. Because it has less than $100 billion in total consolidated assets, the Bank is not 
currently required to submit a resolution plan but may again be required to do so once a final rule is adopted. The prospects 
and timing for the adoption of a final rule, as well as the potential application of any final rule to the Bank, are uncertain at this 
time.    

In May 2018, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act (the “Economic Growth Act”) was enacted 
into law. Among other things, the Economic Growth Act raised the total asset threshold from $50 billion to $250 billion for 
automatic applicability of several regulatory requirements established under the Dodd-Frank Act known as “enhanced 
prudential standards” which include requirements related to company-run stress testing, leverage limits, liquidity requirements, 
and resolution planning requirements for bank holding companies. On October 15, 2019, the FDIC adopted a final rule 
implementing portions of the Economic Growth Act which, among other things, raised the minimum asset threshold for covered 
banks to conduct stress tests from $10 billion to $250 billion in total consolidated assets. As a result of this final rule, Signature 
Bank no longer will be subject to the stress testing requirements established by the Dodd-Frank Act until it accumulates $250 
billion in total consolidated assets. See “—Capital Planning and Stress Testing.” However, the Bank will continue to perform 
capital stress testing on a situational and idiosyncratic basis, such as during our annual capital planning and budgeting 
processes.

Under the Economic Growth Act, the Federal Reserve maintains the authority to apply such requirements on a tailored basis to 
bank holding companies with total consolidated assets of $100 billion or more to address financial stability risks or safety and 
soundness concerns. Specifically, for banking organizations that maintain between $100 billion and $250 billion in total 
consolidated assets, the Federal Reserve can subject such banking organizations to certain enhanced prudential standards, 
including the requirements described above, and in some cases the application of the enhanced prudential standards is based 
on whether such organizations also maintain $75 billion or more in weighted average short-term wholesale funding, non-bank 
assets, off-balance sheet exposures, or cross-jurisdictional activity, as applicable. This framework was implemented by a final 
rule adopted by the federal banking agencies in November 2019. Under the new framework, depository institutions without a 
holding company but with greater than $100 billion in total consolidated assets are subject to additional reporting obligations, 
but otherwise generally are not subject to heightened regulatory expectations until accumulating $75 billion or more in the 
same risk-based measures (i.e., weighted short-term wholesale funding, nonbank assets, off-balance sheet exposure, cross-
jurisdictional activities) or $250 billion or more in total consolidated assets. The regulatory relief mandated by the Economic 
Growth Act and its implementing regulations with respect to bank holding companies with less than $100 billion in total 
consolidated assets may ultimately impact the FDIC’s supervisory expectations with respect to banks of our asset size that do 
not have a holding company in order to avoid unnecessary burdens for depository institutions and to ensure consistency with 
the regulatory treatment of bank holding companies of a similar asset size. To the extent that we were to cross the $100 billion 
asset threshold, this may further impact the FDIC’s supervisory expectations in the interest of ensuring consistent regulatory 
treatment.

The Economic Growth Act also enacted several important changes in certain technical compliance areas, for which the 
banking agencies have now issued certain corresponding guidance and/or proposed and interim final rules, including:

• Prohibiting federal banking regulators from imposing higher capital standards on High Volatility Commercial Real 
Estate (“HVCRE”) exposures unless they are for acquisition, development or construction (“ADC”), and clarifying ADC 
status; 

• Requiring the federal banking agencies to amend the liquidity coverage ratio rule (“LCR”) such that all qualifying 
investment-grade, liquid and readily-marketable municipal securities are treated as level 2B liquid assets (i.e., assets 
with a lesser degree of liquidity and more volatility than level 2A assets, which include, for example, certain 
government securities, covered bonds and corporate debt securities), making them more attractive investment 
alternatives; however, the LCR rule, as well as a related rule governing an institution’s net stable funding ratio 
(“NSFR”), will not apply until we either (1) have $100 billion or more in total consolidated assets and $75 billion in 
weighted short-term wholesale funding, nonbank assets, off-balance sheet exposures or cross-jurisdictional activity or 
(2) have $250 billion in total consolidated assets;

21



• Exempting from appraisal requirements certain transactions involving real property in rural areas and valued at less 
than $400,000; and

• Directing the CFPB to provide guidance on the applicability of the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”)- Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) Integrated Disclosure rule (the “TRID Rule”) to mortgage assumption 
transactions and construction-to-permanent home loans, as well the extent to which lenders can rely on model 
disclosures that do not reflect recent regulatory changes.

Federal law generally limits the equity investments of state-chartered banks insured by the FDIC to those that are permissible 
for national banks. Under regulations dealing with equity investments, an insured state bank generally may not, directly or 
indirectly, acquire or retain any equity investment of a type, or in an amount, that is not permissible for a national bank. An 
insured state bank is not prohibited from, among other things: (i) acquiring or retaining a majority interest in a subsidiary that is 
engaged in permissible activities; (ii) investing as a limited partner in a partnership the sole purpose of which is direct or 
indirect investment in the acquisition, rehabilitation, or new construction of a qualified housing project, provided that such 
limited partnership investments may not exceed 2% of the bank’s total assets; (iii) acquiring up to 10% of the voting stock of a 
company that solely provides or reinsures liability insurance for directors, trustees or officers, or blanket bond group insurance 
coverage for insured depository institutions; and (iv) acquiring or retaining the voting shares of a depository institution if certain 
requirements are met. As noted, the direct or indirect activities conducted by a state bank as principal are similarly generally 
limited to those of a national bank; however, the FDIC may, in certain cases, approve of a bank’s direct or indirect conduct of 
otherwise impermissible activities. For instance, an insured state bank may establish a subsidiary to engage in an activity that 
generally is not permissible for the parent bank, such as owning and investing equity securities as principal, provided that the 
activity does not propose a significant risk to the Deposit Insurance Fund (the “DIF”) and the bank is in compliance with 
applicable regulatory capital standards.
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Restrictions on Dividends and Other Distributions

On July 18, 2018, the Bank declared its inaugural quarterly cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or a total of $31.0 million, which 
was paid on August 15, 2018 to our common shareholders of record at the close of business on August 1, 2018. The Bank has 
declared and paid a quarterly cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or approximately $31.0 million each quarter, beginning with the 
third quarter of 2018 through the fourth quarter of 2020. On January 20, 2021, the Bank declared a cash dividend of $0.56 per 
share, payable on or after February 12, 2021 to common stockholders of record at the close of business on February 1, 2021.

Payments of dividends on our common stock, and on the Series A Preferred Stock, may be subject to the prior approval of the 
DFS and of the FDIC. Under New York law, we are prohibited from declaring a dividend so long as there is any impairment of 
our capital stock. In addition, we would be required to obtain the approval of the DFS if the total of all our dividends declared in 
any calendar year would exceed the total of our net profits for that year combined with retained net profits of the preceding two 
years, less any required transfer to surplus or a fund for the retirement of any preferred stock. We would also be required to 
obtain the approval of the FDIC prior to declaring a dividend if after paying the dividend we would be undercapitalized, 
significantly undercapitalized, or critically undercapitalized. See “—Prompt Corrective Action and Enforcement Powers.” In 
addition, the FDIC has stated that excessive dividends can negate strong earnings performance and result in a weakened 
capital position and that dividends generally can be disbursed, in reasonable amounts, only after losses are eliminated and 
necessary reserves and prudent capital levels are established.

In addition, on October 17, 2018, Bank stockholders approved our common stock repurchase program which provides the 
Bank the ability to repurchase common stock from shareholders in the open market up to $500.0 million. Share buybacks are 
also subject to regulatory approval, which were received for the repurchase program of up to $500.0 million in November 2018. 
We received shareholder and regulatory approval to continue the program in 2019. As of March 31, 2020 the Bank has 
repurchased 2,689,544 shares of common stock for a total of $329.2 million. On February 19, 2020, the Board of Directors 
approved an amendment to the stock repurchase program that restored the Bank’s share repurchase authorization to an 
aggregate purchase amount of up to $500.0 million from the $220.9 million that was remaining under the original authorization 
as of December 31, 2019. The amended stock repurchase program was approved by the shareholders in April 2020. The Bank 
has suspended any future repurchases of common stock given the COVID-19 circumstances since the end of the first quarter 
of 2020. As a result, no common stock was repurchased by the Bank during the remainder of 2020. During the third quarter of 
2020, we received regulatory approval to extend the repurchase of the $170.8 million remaining under the original 
authorization to September 30, 2021. We will seek separate regulatory approval for the additional $279.1 million approved 
under the amended authorization. To date the Bank has repurchased 2,689,544 shares of common stock for a total of $329.2 
million, and the amount remaining under the amended authorization was $450.0 million at December 31, 2020. 

On June 25, 2020, the Federal Reserve released the results of stress tests and sensitivity analyses of 34 large banking 
organizations (comprised of a combination of organizations with between $100 billion and $250 billion in total consolidated 
assets and those with $250 billion or more in total consolidated assets or with material levels of other risk factors) in light of the 
economic conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. In order to ensure the resiliency of large banking organizations 
during the ongoing economic and financial market recovery, including in the event of prolonged periods of high unemployment 
and/or severe or unanticipated economic shocks, the Federal Reserve required such organizations in the third quarter of 2020 
to preserve capital by suspending share repurchases, capping dividend payments, and allowing dividends according to a 
formula based on recent income. Large banking organizations also are were required to re-evaluate their long-term capital 
plans to reflect current stresses and revised projections. In addition, also as a result of the above-described stress test results, 
on August 10, 2020 the Federal Reserve announced individual large bank capital requirements effective October 1, 2020. The 
stress capital buffer for these institutions, which must be at least 2.5%, was set at a higher level for most large banks, in many 
cases over 5.0%. On September 30, 2020, the Federal Reserve announced that the above-described capital preservation 
measures would continue through the end of 2020. In addition, in mid-September, the Federal Reserve released hypothetical 
economic scenarios for a second round of stress testing of large banking organizations. The Federal Reserve released the 
results of those stress tests on December 18, 2020, in connection with which the Federal Reserve declared that, in light of 
ongoing economic uncertainty, the restrictions on distributions established in the second half of 2020 would continue into 2021, 
with certain modifications. Specifically, for the first quarter of 2021, both dividends and share repurchases are limited to an 
amount based on the bank’s income over the past year. If a firm does not earn income, it will not be able to pay a dividend or 
make repurchases. These requirements apply only to large banking organizations and therefore do not presently apply to the 
Bank; however, the possibility exists that the federal banking agencies may at a later date impose similar restrictions on 
smaller banking organizations, including the Bank.

Any future determination to pay dividends or repurchase shares will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be 
dependent upon then-existing conditions, including our financial condition and results of operations, capital requirements, 
commercial real estate concentration, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors that the Board of Directors 
considers relevant. 
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Capital and Related Requirements

We are subject to comprehensive capital adequacy requirements intended to protect against losses that we may incur. FDIC 
capital adequacy regulations require that we maintain a minimum ratio of qualifying total capital to total risk-weighted assets 
(including off-balance sheet items) of 8.0%, and a ratio of Tier 1 capital to total risk-weighted assets of 6.0%. Tier 1 capital is 
generally defined as the sum of core capital elements less goodwill and certain other deductions. Core capital includes 
common shareholders’ equity, non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock, and minority interests in equity accounts of 
consolidated subsidiaries. Total capital includes Tier 1 capital, a limited amount of allowances for credit losses for loans and 
leases, perpetual preferred stock, and subordinated debt. At December 31, 2020, our total risk-based capital ratio was 13.54%, 
and our Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio was 9.87%. We are also required to maintain a minimum leverage capital ratio—the ratio 
of Tier 1 capital (net of intangibles) to adjusted total assets—of 4.0%. At December 31, 2020, our leverage capital ratio was 
8.55%. In addition, we must maintain a minimum common equity tier 1 capital ratio of 4.50%. Common equity Tier 1 capital is a 
subset of Tier 1 capital that, for us, consists of common stock instruments that meet the eligibility criteria in FDIC regulations, 
retained earnings, accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and common equity Tier 1 minority interest.  At 
December 31, 2020, our common equity Tier 1 capital ratio was 9.87%.

The FDIC’s current capital rules implement the “Basel III” regulatory capital reforms and changes required by the Dodd-Frank 
Act. “Basel III” refers to two consultative documents released by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (“BCBS”) in 
December 2009, a rules text released in December 2010 and revised in June 2011, and loss absorbency rules issued in 
January 2011, which include significant changes to bank capital, leverage, and liquidity requirements. 

The FDIC’s final capital rules included new risk-based capital and leverage ratios, which where phased-in to effect over a 
multi-year period, and refine the definition of what constitutes “capital” for purposes of calculating those ratios. Full 
implementation of the capital rules for all institutions began on January 1, 2019. The minimum capital-level requirements 
applicable to Signature Bank under the final rules represented the following changes to the bank’s capital adequacy 
requirements: (i) a new common equity Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio; (ii) an increase in the Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio 
minimum requirement from 4.0% to 6.0%; and (iii) a Tier 1 leverage ratio minimum requirement of 4.0% for all institutions, 
where prior to January 1, 2015, banks that received the highest rating of five categories used by regulators to rate banks and 
were not anticipating or experiencing any significant growth were required to maintain a leverage capital ratio of at least 3.0%. 
The final rules also established a “capital conservation buffer” above the new regulatory minimum capital requirements, which 
must consist entirely of common equity Tier 1 capital. The phase-in of the capital conservation buffer began on January 1, 
2016, at a level of 0.625% of risk-weighted assets for 2016 and increased to 1.250% for 2017. The minimum buffer was 
1.875% for 2018 and is currently 2.500%. As the capital rules are now fully implemented, the following effective minimum 
capital ratios currently apply: (i) a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio (plus capital conservation buffer) of 7.0%, (ii) a Tier 1 
capital ratio (plus capital conservation buffer) of 8.5%, and (iii) a total capital ratio (plus capital conservation buffer) of 10.5%. 
Under the final rules, institutions are subject to limitations on paying dividends, engaging in share repurchases, and paying 
discretionary bonuses if their capital levels fall below the buffer amount. These limitations establish a maximum percentage of 
eligible retained income that could be utilized for such actions.

Basel III provided discretion for regulators to impose an additional buffer, the “countercyclical buffer,” of up to 2.5% of common 
equity Tier 1 capital to take into account the macro-financial environment and periods of excessive credit growth. However, the 
final rules apply the countercyclical buffer only to “advanced approaches banks” (i.e., banking organizations with $250 billion or 
more in total assets or $100 billion or more in total consolidated assets and $75 billion or more in short-term wholesale 
funding, non-bank assets, off-balance sheet exposures, or cross-jurisdictional activities), which currently excludes Signature 
Bank. The final rules also implement revisions and clarifications consistent with Basel III regarding the various components of 
Tier 1 capital, including common equity, unrealized gains and losses, as well as certain instruments that will no longer qualify 
as Tier 1 capital, some of which will be phased out over time.

The final rules set forth certain changes for the calculation of risk-weighted assets, which we have been required to utilize 
since January 1, 2015. The standardized approach final rule utilizes an increased number of credit risk exposure categories 
and risk weights, and also addresses: (i) an alternative standard of creditworthiness consistent with Section 939A of the Dodd-
Frank Act; (ii) revisions to recognition of credit risk mitigation; (iii) rules for risk weighting of equity exposures and past due 
loans; (iv) revised capital treatment for derivatives and repo-style transactions; and (v) disclosure requirements for top-tier 
banking organizations with $50 billion or more in total assets that are not subject to the “advance approaches rules.” Based on 
our current capital composition and levels, we believe that we are in compliance with the requirements as set forth in the final 
rules as they are presently in effect.

In November 2017, the federal banking agencies adopted a final rule to extend the regulatory capital treatment applicable 
during 2017 under the capital rules for certain items, including regulatory capital deductions, risk weights, and certain minority 
interest limitations. The relief provided under the final rule applies to banking organizations that are not subject to the capital 
rules’ advanced approaches, such as our Bank. Specifically, the final rule extends the current regulatory capital treatment of 
mortgage servicing assets (“MSAs”), deferred tax assets (“DTAs”) arising from temporary differences that could not be realized 
through net operating loss carrybacks, significant investments in the capital of unconsolidated financial institutions in the form 
of common stock, non-significant investments in the capital of unconsolidated financial institutions, significant investments in 
the capital of unconsolidated financial institutions that are not in the form of common stock, and common equity Tier 1 minority 
interest, Tier 1 minority interest, and total capital minority interest exceeding the capital rules’ minority interest limitations.
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In July 2019, the federal banking agencies adopted a final rule simplifying certain aspects of the capital rules, the key elements 
of which apply solely to banking organizations that are not subject to the advanced approaches capital rule. Under the final 
rule, non-advanced approaches banking organizations, such as Signature Bank, will apply a simpler regulatory capital 
treatment for MSAs; certain DTAs arising from temporary differences; investments in the capital of unconsolidated financial 
institutions other than those currently applied; and capital issued by a consolidated subsidiary of a banking organization and 
held by third parties (often referred to as minority interest) that is includable in regulatory capital. Specifically, the final rule 
eliminates: (i) the capital rule’s 10.0% common equity tier 1 capital deduction threshold that applies individually to MSAs, 
temporary difference DTAs, and significant investments in the capital of unconsolidated financial institutions in the form of 
common stock; (ii) the aggregate 15.0% common equity tier 1 capital deduction threshold that subsequently applies on a 
collective basis across such items; (iii) the 10.0% common equity tier 1 capital deduction threshold for non-significant 
investments in the capital of unconsolidated financial institutions; and (iv) the deduction treatment for significant investments in 
the capital of unconsolidated financial institutions not in the form of common stock. The capital rule will no longer have distinct 
treatments for significant and non-significant investments in the capital of unconsolidated financial institutions, but instead will 
require that non-advanced approaches banking organizations deduct from common equity tier 1 capital any amount of MSAs, 
temporary difference DTAs, and investments in the capital of unconsolidated financial institutions that individually exceeds 
25.0% of common equity tier 1 capital.

Relatedly, in December 2019, the federal banking agencies issued a final rule on the capital treatment of HVCRE exposures 
which brought the regulatory definition of HVCRE exposure in line with the statutory definition of HVCRE ADC in the Economic 
Growth Act. The final rule also clarifies the capital treatment for loans that finance the development of land under the revised 
HVCRE exposure definition and establishes the requirements for certain exclusions from HVCRE exposure capital treatment.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision published the last version of the Basel III accord, generally referred to as “Basel 
IV,” in December 2017. The Basel Committee stated that a key objective of the revisions incorporated into the framework is to 
reduce excessive variability of risk-weighted assets, which will be accomplished by: enhancing the robustness and risk 
sensitivity of the standardized approaches for credit risk and operational risk—which will facilitate the comparability of banks’ 
capital ratios; constraining the use of internally modelled approaches; and complementing the risk-weighted capital ratio with a 
finalized leverage ratio and a revised and robust capital floor.  Leadership of the federal banking agencies, who are tasked with 
implementing Basel IV, have supported the revisions, although their incorporation into to the existing regulatory capital 
framework described above is uncertain at this time.

Government and Regulatory Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Congress, through the enactment of the CARES Act and, more recently, the 
Economic Aid Act, and the federal banking agencies, through rulemaking, interpretive guidance and modifications to agency 
policies and procedures, have taken a series of actions to address regulatory capital, liquidity risk management, financial 
management and reporting, and operational considerations for banking organizations. Notable developments include the 
following.

• On March 15, 2020, the Federal Reserve issued a statement encouraging banks to use their capital and liquidity 
buffers to lend to households and businesses impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The following day, the Federal 
Reserve issued a statement encouraging banks to access the Federal Reserve’s discount window to assist with 
capital and liquidity management in light of the increased credit needs of banking customers.

• On March 17, 2020, the federal banking agencies issued an interim final rule revising the definition of “eligible 
retained income” for banking organizations subject to the capital rules. To reduce the likelihood of significant 
limitations on banking organizations’ capital distributions in light of COVID-19-related reductions in capital ratios, the 
interim final rule amends the definition of “eligible retained income” as the greater of (1) a banking organization's net 
income for the four preceding calendar quarters, net of any distributions and associated tax effects not already 
reflected in net income, and (2) the average of a banking organization's net income over the preceding four quarters. 
A final rule making this interim rule permanent was adopted on August 26, 2020.

• The CARES Act allows financial institutions to elect to suspend the application of US Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (“GAAP”) to any loan modification related to COVID-19 from treatment as a troubled debt restructuring 
(“TDR”) for the period between March 1, 2020 and the earlier of (i) 60 days after the end of the national emergency 
proclamation or (ii) December 31, 2020. A financial institution may elect to suspend GAAP only for a loan that was not 
more than 30 days past due as of December 31, 2019. In addition, the temporary suspension of GAAP does not 
apply to any adverse impact on the credit of a borrower that is not related to COVID-19. The suspension of GAAP is 
applicable for the entire term of the modification, including an interest rate modification, a forbearance agreement, a 
repayment plan, or other agreement that defers or delays the payment of principal and/or interest. Accordingly, a 
financial institution that elects to suspend GAAP should not be required to increase its reported TDRs at the end of 
the period of relief, unless the loans require further modification after the expiration of that period.

• The CARES Act amends Section 1105 of the Dodd-Frank Act to authorize the FDIC to establish a new Temporary 
Liquidity Guarantee Program (“TLGP”), as well as a new Transaction Account Guarantee (“TAG”) program, with 
expiration established at the end of 2020. The TAG program applies only to amounts in non-interest-bearing 
transaction accounts, such as demand deposit accounts and NOW accounts; however, under the TLGP, the FDIC 
can guarantee other forms of insured depository institution indebtedness. The FDIC has yet to implement or release 
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interpretive guidance on these programs; however, similar programs were implemented by the FDIC in response to 
the 2008 financial crisis.

• The Federal Reserve, on its own and in cooperation with the Department of the Treasury, established a number of 
financing and liquidity programs that are available to institutions like the Bank. These include the MSLP, which was 
intended to keep credit flowing to small and mid-sized businesses that were in sound financial condition before the 
coronavirus pandemic but needed financing to maintain operations. The Bank registered as a lender in the MSLP. 
The MSLP has terminated.

• The Economic Aid Act was enacted on December 27, 2020 as part of the Consolidated Appropriations Act for Fiscal 
Year 2021. The Economic Aid Act reopens the PPP to certain businesses that satisfy applicable eligibility criteria. 
Specifically, among other things, the Economic Aid Act: (i) extends the original PPP (or the “First Draw”) deadline from 
August 8, 2020 to March 31, 2021; (ii) establishes “Second Draw” PPP loans, which enables certain entities to 
receive a second round of PPP credit; (iii) appropriates $284.5 billion for “First Draw” and “Second Draw” PPP loans; 
and (iv) extended the suspension of GAAP to COVID-19 related modifications until the earlier of January 1, 2022 or 
60 days after the end of the COVID-19 national emergency. On January 6, 2021, the SBA and the Department of the 
Treasury issued interim final rules and revised the borrower application forms for the PPP. The SBA resumed its 
acceptance of First Draw PPP loan applications on January 11, 2021 and began accepting applications for Second 
Draw PPP loans on January 13, 2021.

For additional information regarding actions taken by regulatory agencies to provide relief to consumers who have been 
adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, see the discussion below under “Consumer Financial Protection.” For a 
description of the PPP and the MSLP programs, both of which we participate in as a lender, see “― Recent Highlights ― 
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act and Other Regulatory Actions”.

Current Expected Credit Loss Treatment

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued an accounting standard update, “Financial 
Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,” which replaced the legacy 
"incurred loss” model for recognizing credit losses with an “expected loss” model referred to as the Current Expected Credit 
Loss (“CECL”) model. Under the CECL model, we are required to present certain financial assets carried at amortized cost, 
such as loans and leases held for investment and held-to-maturity debt securities, at the net amount expected to be collected. 
The measurement of expected credit losses is to be based on information about past events, including historical experience, 
current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. 

In October 2019, four federal banking agencies issued a request for comment on a proposed interagency policy statement on 
the new CECL methodology. The policy statement proposes to harmonize the agencies’ policies on allowances for credit 
losses with the FASB’s new accounting standards. Specifically, the statement (1) updates concepts and practices from prior 
policy statements issued in December 2006 and July 2001 and specifies which prior guidance documents are no longer 
relevant; (2) describes the appropriate CECL methodology, in light of Topic 326, for determining allowances for credit losses 
(“ACLs”) on financial assets measured at amortized cost, net investments in leases, and certain off-balance sheet credit 
exposures; and (3) describes how to estimate an ACL for an impaired available-for-sale debt security in line with Topic 326. 
The proposed policy statement would be effective at the time that each institution adopts the new standards required by the 
FASB.

The CARES Act provides that banks or bank holding companies (or their affiliates) are not required to comply with CECL, until 
the earlier of (i) the end of the national emergency proclamation or (ii) December 31, 2020. On March 27, 2020, in an effort to 
allow banking organizations to focus on their lending operations in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the federal banking 
agencies issued an interim final rule providing that banking organizations that implement CECL before the end of 2020 have 
the option to delay, for two years, an estimate of CECL's effect on regulatory capital, relative to the incurred loss methodology's 
effect on regulatory capital, followed by a three-year transition period. On March 31, 2020, the federal banking agencies issued 
a joint statement clarifying the interaction of the CARES Act, the interim final rule, and the regulatory capital rules. On May 8, 
2020, the federal banking agencies issued a final interagency policy statement on Allowances for Credit Losses. The policy 
statement describes the measurement of expected credit losses using the CECL methodology and updates concepts and 
practices detailed in existing supervisory guidance that remains applicable. It will be effective at the time an institution adopts 
the credit losses accounting standard, which may be delayed as described above. At the same time, the agencies also 
finalized interagency guidance on credit review systems, which presents principles for establishing a system of independent, 
ongoing credit risk review in accordance with safety and soundness standards. On August 26, 2020, the federal banking 
agencies adopted a final rule, substantially similar to the March interim final rule, except that the final rule applies to all 
financial institutions, unlike the interim final rule, which only applied to banks that were required to convert to CECL in 2020. 

The Bank’s adoption of CECL resulted in a $45.8 million, or 18.2% increase in our allowance for credit losses, including the 
impact of $4.6 million to our allowance for unfunded commitments. The allowance for credit losses for unfunded commitments 
is recorded in accrued expenses and other liabilities. As of adoption, our allowance for credit losses for loans and leases 
(“ACLLL”) increased $41.2 million, or 16.5%. The increase at adoption was the result of estimating credit losses over a loan’s 
full expected life under CECL rather than a point in time estimate of incurred losses to date under legacy GAAP. Further 
contributing to the overall increase in our ACLLL during the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2020 was a provision for 
credit losses for loans and leases of $66.8 million, $93.0 million, $52.7 million, and $35.6 million, respectively, wholly 
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attributable to COVID-19 and its impact on the US Economy. In recent quarters, the portfolio mix of our loan growth has 
continued to shift from commercial real estate to fund banking. As fund banking loans generally possess stronger credit quality, 
as evident in the portfolio risk rating composition, a lower loss rate is ascribed, which partially offset the impact of COVID-19.  
On March 27, 2020, the Federal Reserve, FDIC and OCC issued an interim final rule that delays the estimated impact on 
regulatory capital stemming from the implementation of CECL for a transition period of up to five years, and we elected to 
utilize this five-year transition period option.

Prompt Corrective Action and Enforcement Powers

We are also subject to FDIC regulations that apply to every FDIC-insured commercial bank and thrift institution, a system of 
mandatory and discretionary supervisory actions that generally become more severe as the capital levels of an individual 
institution decline. The regulations establish five capital categories for purposes of determining our treatment under these 
prompt corrective action (“PCA”) provisions:  “well capitalized,” “adequately capitalized,” “undercapitalized,” “significantly 
undercapitalized,” or “critically undercapitalized.” As of December 31, 2020, the capital ratios of Signature Bank exceeded the 
minimum ratios established for a “well capitalized” institution.

Under the current PCA capital category definitions, we will be categorized as “well capitalized” if we (i) have a total risk-based 
capital ratio of 10.0% or greater; (ii) have a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 8.0% or greater; (iii) have a common equity Tier 1 
risk-based capital ratio of 6.5% or greater; (iv) have a leverage ratio of 5.0% or greater; and (v) are not subject to any written 
agreement, order, capital directive, or PCA directive issued by the FDIC to meet and maintain a specific capital level.

We will be categorized as “adequately capitalized” if we have (i) a total risk-based capital ratio of 8.0% or greater; (ii) a Tier 1 
risk-based capital ratio of 6.0% or greater; (iii) a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 4.5% or greater; and (iv) a leverage ratio 
of 4.0% or greater (3.0% if we are rated in the highest supervisory category). 

We will be categorized as “undercapitalized” if we have (i) a total risk-based capital ratio that is less than 8.0%; (ii) a Tier 1 risk-
based capital ratio that is less than 6.0%; (iii) a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio that is less than 4.5%; or (iv) a leverage ratio 
that is less than 4.0%.

We will be categorized as “significantly undercapitalized” if we have (i) a total risk-based capital ratio that is less than 6.0%; (ii) 
a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio that is less than 4.0%; (iii) a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio that is less than 3.0%; or (iv) a 
leverage ratio that is less than 3.0%. 

We will be categorized as “critically undercapitalized” and subject to provisions mandating appointment of a conservator or 
receiver if we have a ratio of “tangible equity” to total assets that is 2.0% or less. “Tangible equity” generally includes core 
capital plus cumulative perpetual preferred stock.

In addition to measures taken under the PCA provisions, insured banks may be subject to potential actions by the federal 
regulators for unsafe or unsound practices in conducting their businesses or for violations of any law, rule, regulation or any 
condition imposed in writing by the agency or any written agreement with the agency. Enforcement actions may include the 
issuance of cease and desist orders, the imposition of civil money penalties, the issuance of directives to increase capital, 
formal and informal agreements, or removal and prohibition orders against “institution-affiliated” parties, and termination of 
insurance of deposits. The DFS also has broad powers to enforce compliance with New York laws and regulations. The DFS 
and/or the FDIC examine us periodically for safety and soundness and for compliance with applicable laws. 

Capital Planning and Stress Testing

As discussed above, the Economic Growth Act raised the asset threshold for required Dodd-Frank Act Stress Tests (“DFAST”) 
from $10 billion to $250 billion for insured depository institutions and bank holding companies and made the requirement 
“periodic” rather than “annual.”  The Federal Reserve plans to continue capital stress testing of bank holding companies with 
total consolidated assets above $100 billion under its Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review (“CCAR”), and the 
Economic Growth Act provides the Federal Reserve with discretion to subject bank holding companies with more than $100 
billion in total assets to enhanced supervision on a tailored basis. Notwithstanding the regulatory relief mandated under the 
Economic Growth Act, the federal banking agencies indicated through interagency guidance that the capital planning and risk 
management practices of institutions with total assets less than $100 billion would continue to be reviewed through the regular 
supervisory process. The Bank will continue to perform capital stress testing on a situational and idiosyncratic basis, such as 
during our annual capital planning and budgeting processes. 

The Dodd-Frank Act also required the FDIC, in coordination with federal financial regulatory agencies, to issue regulations 
establishing methodologies for stress testing that provide for at least three different sets of conditions, including baseline, 
adverse, and severely adverse, and which require banks to publish a summary of the results of the stress tests. As discussed 
above, these requirements were modified in certain aspects by the Economic Growth Act and its implementing regulations. 
Under its stress testing regulations, the FDIC requires a bank subject to the rule to assess the quarterly impact of stress 
scenarios on the bank’s capital over a horizon of nine quarters. The Bank has developed a process to comply with the stress 
testing requirements. This process involves the input of Senior Management, Risk Management, and Finance, along with third-
party consultants. The Risk Committee of the Board of Directors receives quarterly updates as to the progress and challenges 
in complying with this new regulatory requirement. 
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Although Signature Bank will continue to monitor and stress test its capital in a manner consistent with the safety and 
soundness expectations of the federal banking agencies and in accordance with applicable internal processes, due to the 
above-described changes to the DFAST requirements, Signature Bank will no longer be required to file and report annual 
company-run stress tests until the revised minimum asset threshold is reached. As noted above, however, stress testing 
requirements and the capital preservation and liquidity management expectations of the federal banking agencies may be 
adjusted temporarily in the near-term and applied to a broader range of banking organizations, including the Bank, due to the 
economic conditions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Volcker Rule 

Section 619 of the Dodd-Frank Act, known as the “Volcker Rule,” prohibits (subject to certain exceptions) banks and their 
affiliates from engaging in short-term proprietary trading in securities and derivatives and from investing in and sponsoring 
certain unregistered investment companies defined in the rule as “covered funds” (including not only such things as hedge 
funds, commodity pools and private equity funds, but also a range of asset securitization structures that do not meet exemptive 
criteria in the final rules). The federal banking agencies, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and the Commodity 
Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) adopted a final rule implementing the Volcker rule in December 2013.  Banks were 
required to conform their activities and investments to the requirements of the final rule by July 21, 2015. The final rule also 
requires banks to develop compliance and control programs, including board of directors oversight, appropriate for the size of 
the bank and the types and complexity of its activities. 

Under the Economic Growth Act, banks with fewer than $10 billion in total consolidated assets that also do not exceed certain 
trading asset and trading liability thresholds are exempt from Volcker Rule requirements. Signature Bank has assets in excess 
of $10 billion and will therefore not benefit from this general exemption. The Economic Growth Act also amends the Volcker 
Rule’s restriction on sponsoring hedge funds and private equity funds to permit such funds to share the name or a variation of 
the same name of the banking entity that is an investment adviser to the fund provided that (1) the investment adviser is not a 
bank, bank holding company or a foreign banking organization that is treated as a bank holding company under the 
International Banking Act of 1978, (2) the investment adviser does not share the same name, or a variation of the same name, 
as a bank, bank holding company or a foreign banking organization that is treated as a bank holding company under the 
International Banking Act of 1978, and (3) the name does not contain the word “bank”. In July 2019, the federal banking 
agencies, the SEC and the CFTC adopted a final rule implementing these changes.  

In October 2019, the agencies adopted a final rule modifying the Volcker Rule’s implementing regulations to impose certain 
simplified and streamlined compliance requirements. Among other things, the final rule: (i) revises the regulatory definition of 
“trading account” by establishing a new presumption regarding the application of the “short-term intent” prong of the definition, 
clarifying that firms that are subject to the “market risk capital rule” prong are not subject to the short-term intent prong, and 
allowing firms to opt into the market risk rule prong; (ii) revises the regulatory definition of “trading desk” by adopting a multi-
factor definition based on the same criteria typically used to establish trading desks for other operational, management, and 
compliance purposes; (iii) revises the exclusion from the regulatory definition of “proprietary trading” for liquidity management 
and adopts several new exclusions (including those for error trades and error-correcting trades, customer-driven matched 
swap transactions, mortgage servicing assets and mortgage servicing rights hedging activities, and purchasing or selling 
financial instruments that would not be accounted for as trading assets or liabilities on applicable reporting forms); (iv) 
streamlines applicable exemptions for underwriting and market-making related activities, risk-mitigating hedging activities, and 
activities conducted solely outside the United States; (v) tailors compliance program obligations based principally on trading 
assets and liabilities and eliminates the CEO attestation requirement for all banking entities except those with significant 
trading assets and liabilities (firms with $20 billion or more in trading assets and liabilities will be subject to heightened 
compliance requirements); and (vi) revises the metrics reporting obligation requirements to eliminate certain metrics, require 
reporting on a quarterly schedule, and to apply only to banking entities that have significant trading assets and liabilities. The 
final rule became effective on January 1, 2020 and the compliance date for the final rule was January 1, 2021.  

Separately, on June 25, 2020, the federal banking agencies, the SEC and the CFTC finalized amendments to the “covered 
fund” prohibitions set forth under the Volcker Rule, which became effective on October 1, 2020. Among other things, the cover 
funds rule revised the loan securitization exemption from the “covered fund” prohibition to allow a loan securitization pool to 
include a limited amount of non-securities assets; limited the extraterritorial impact of the Volcker Rule on foreign funds offered 
outside the United States by modifying the exemptions provided under the Volcker Rule for “foreign excluded funds” and 
“foreign public funds”; established new exclusions from the definition of “covered fund” for “venture capital funds,” “credit 
funds” that invest in a portfolio of loans, leases, cash, money market mutual funds and cash equivalents, “family wealth 
management” vehicles, and “customer facilitation” special purpose entities for transactions with specific customers; 
established exemptions from the Volcker Rule’s “Super-23A” affiliate transaction restrictions for “low risk” transactions between 
a banking entity and its advised or sponsored covered fund based on exemptions set forth in the Federal Reserve’s Regulation 
W as well as for payments, collections and settlements; and reversed a previous interpretation provided in the Volcker Rule’s 
original adopting release that certain “parallel” investments by a banking entity into portfolio assets alongside a “covered fund” 
are investments in the “covered fund” for purposes of the Volcker Rule’s investment cap.
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Deposit Account Restrictions 

Since 2011, financial institutions have been able to pay interest on demand deposit accounts. As of December 31, 2020, 
$18.76 billion, or 29.6%, of our total deposits were held in non-interest bearing demand deposit accounts. Thus far, the change 
has not had a meaningful effect on our business. 

On April 24, 2020, the Federal Reserve announced an interim final rule amending its Regulation D to delete the six-per-month 
limit on convenient transfers from the "savings deposit" definition (which includes money market deposit accounts). The interim 
final rule allows banks immediately to suspend enforcement of the six transfer limit and to allow their customers to make an 
unlimited number of convenient transfers and withdrawals from their savings deposits at a time when financial events 
associated with the coronavirus pandemic have made such access more urgent. Although adopted to address the economic 
and financial market conditions relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, this amendment is permanent. We note that, although no 
longer required by rule, the Bank has elected to reinstitute the six transfer limit formerly imposed by Regulation D.

Interstate Branching

Applicable federal law governing interstate branching generally permits a bank in one state to establish a de novo branch in 
another host state if state banks chartered in such host state would also be permitted to establish a branch in that state. Under 
these amendments, Signature Bank is permitted to establish branch offices in other states in addition to our existing New York 
branch offices. In addition, to the extent permitted under the New York Banking Law and applicable host state law, the Bank is 
permitted to establish non-branch offices in other states, such as loan production offices or representative offices. We may be 
required to obtain the regulatory approval of the DFS, the FDIC and the banking agencies of the states in which we seek to 
establish branches or other offices. In February 2015, the Bank officially opened its first full-service private client banking office 
in Greenwich, CT. In February 2019, the Bank officially opened its first full-service private client banking office in San 
Francisco. In February 2020, the Bank officially opened its first private client banking office in Charlotte, NC. During 2020, the 
Bank officially opened four new private client banking offices in Los Angeles. 

Consumer Financial Protection

Federal and state banking laws require us to take steps to protect consumers. Bank regulatory agencies are increasingly 
focusing attention on compliance with consumer protection laws and regulations. These laws include disclosures regarding 
truth in lending, truth in savings, and funds availability. 

To promote fairness and transparency for mortgages, credit cards, and other consumer financial products and services, the 
Dodd-Frank Act established the CFPB. This agency is responsible for various functions, including conducting financial 
education programs; collecting, investigating, and responding to consumer complaints; and interpreting and enforcing federal 
consumer financial laws, as defined by the Dodd-Frank Act, that, among other things, govern the provision of deposit accounts 
along with mortgage origination and servicing. Some federal consumer financial laws enforced by the CFPB include the Equal 
Credit Opportunity Act of 1974 (“ECOA”), TILA, the Truth in Savings Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (“HMDA”), 
RESPA, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, and the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”). Regulations implemented under 
these statutes that apply to the Bank’s retail banking activities include Regulation B (ECOA), Regulation C (HMDA), Regulation 
V (FCRA), Regulation X (RESPA), Regulation Z (TILA), and the TRID Rule (implemented under TILA and RESPA). The CFPB 
also is permitted to prevent any institution under its authority from engaging in an unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice 
regarding the CFPB’s standards for enforcing the UDAAP prohibition. Over the course of the past several years, the CFPB has 
been particularly active––through rulemaking and the publication of interpretive guidance––in the areas of mortgage 
origination and servicing. See “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Industry—New regulations could restrict our ability to 
originate, service, and sell mortgage loans.”

The CFPB has the authority to take supervisory and enforcement action against banks and other financial services companies 
under the agency’s jurisdiction that fail to comply with federal consumer financial laws. As an insured depository institution with 
total assets of more than $10 billion, the Bank is subject to the CFPB’s supervisory and enforcement authorities. The Dodd-
Frank Act also permits states to adopt stricter consumer protection laws and state attorneys general to enforce consumer 
protection rules issued by the CFPB. Further to this point, in April 2019, the DFS announced the creation of a new Consumer 
Protection and Financial Enforcement Division with responsibility for protecting and educating consumers and investigating 
consumer fraud and financial crimes.   
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The Bank is likely to continue to incur significant costs related to consumer protection compliance, including but not limited to 
potential costs associated with CFPB examinations, regulatory and enforcement actions and consumer-oriented litigation. The 
CFPB historically has been active in bringing enforcement actions against banks and nonbank financial institutions to enforce 
consumer financial laws, and has developed a number of new enforcement theories and applications of these laws; however, 
other federal financial regulatory agencies, including the FDIC, and state attorneys general and regulatory agencies, including 
the DFS, also have been increasingly active in this area with respect to institutions over which they have jurisdiction.

In response to financial pressures caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the CARES Act creates a forbearance program for 
impacted borrowers and imposes a temporary 60-day moratorium on foreclosures and foreclosure-related evictions in respect 
of “federally backed mortgage loans,” which include loans secured by a first or subordinate lien on residential 1-to-4-family real 
property that have been purchased by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, are insured by the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (“HUD”), the Department of Veteran’s Affairs, or the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”), are 
guaranteed under certain provisions of the National Housing Act or the Housing and Community Development Act, or were 
made directly by the USDA. On June 17, 2020, the date of expiration of the statutory relief described above, the Federal 
Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”) announced that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac would extend their single-family moratorium 
on foreclosures and evictions until at least August 31, 2020, and on January 19, 2021, the FHFA announced an additional 
extension of this moratorium through February 28, 2021. Similarly, FHA announced on December 21, 2020 an extension of its 
moratorium for FHA-insured loans also to February 28, 2021. In addition, the CARES Act established a forbearance program 
for multifamily mortgage loan borrowers experiencing financial hardship as a result of COVID-19. Any "multifamily borrower" 
with a "federally backed multifamily mortgage loan" (i.e., a loan that is secured by a first or subordinate lien on residential 
multifamily (5+) real property and that is insured, assisted, or purchased by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or HUD) that 
experiences a financial hardship during the COVID-19 pandemic may request a forbearance. A "multifamily borrower" is a 
borrower of a residential mortgage loan that is secured by a lien against a property comprising five or more dwelling units. On 
December 23, 2020, the FHFA announced an extension of its forbearance program for qualifying multifamily properties through 
March 31, 2021.  

Moreover, on January 20, 2021, President Biden issued an Executive Order extending the federal eviction moratorium issued 
through the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention––which was recently extended by Congress through January 31, 
2021––through March 31, 2021. As part of the COVID-19 relief package proposed by the Administration, this eviction 
moratorium would be further extended through September 30, 2021 if adopted as proposed. In addition, President Biden 
requested that the federal agencies discussed above continue to extend the moratorium on foreclosures on federally-
guaranteed mortgages until at least March 31, 2021.

On February 16, 2021, the Administration, together with HUD, the Department of Veterans Affairs and the Department of 
Agriculture, took action to further extend and expand COVID-19 mortgage forbearance and foreclosure relief programs 
administered by those agencies. Specifically, this joint action (i) extended the foreclosure moratorium for relevant borrowers 
through June 30, 2021; (ii) extended the mortgage payment forbearance enrollment window until June 30, 2021 for relevant 
borrowers who wish to request forbearance; and (iii) provided up to six months of additional mortgage payment forbearance, in 
three-month increments, for relevant borrowers who entered forbearance on or before June 30, 2020. Consistent with these 
measures, FHFA announced in connection with its most recent extension of foreclosure and eviction protection for borrowers 
with mortgage loans guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac that borrowers who had entered forbearance for a period that 
is scheduled to expire may be eligible for an extension of the forbearance period for up to three additional months.

In addition, in certain states in which we do business or in which our borrowers and loan collateral are located, temporary bans 
on evictions and foreclosures have been enacted through a mix of executive orders, regulations, and judicial orders. For 
example, the DFS has taken certain actions to provide relief to mortgage loan borrowers impacted by COVID-19. On March 
19, 2020, the DFS issued a directive to DFS-supervised mortgage servicers to undertake certain efforts to assist such 
borrowers, including forbearing mortgage payments for up to 90 days, waiving late fees, electing not to report late payments to 
credit rating agencies, and postponing foreclosures and evictions for up to 90 days. In addition, on June 17, 2020, New York 
Governor Andrew Cuomo signed legislation that expands mortgage forbearance available for those experiencing financial 
hardship during the COVID-19 crisis. The legislation applies to those who have mortgages with state-regulated financial 
institutions and is intended to be an expansion of the CARES Act’s mortgage forbearance provisions. The legislation provides 
up to one year of forbearance if the borrower’s hardship persists and provides flexible payment options. In addition, on 
December 28, 2020, Governor Cuomo signed the COVID-19 Emergency Eviction and Foreclosure Prevention Act of 2020, 
which prevents residential evictions, foreclosure proceedings, credit discrimination and negative credit reporting related to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Of note, this legislation imposes a moratorium on residential foreclosure proceedings and evictions until 
May 1, 2021. On August 31, 2020, the California Legislature passed legislation extending an existing moratorium on evictions 
through January 31, 2021, provided that renters pay a portion of their rent for the period between September 1, 2020 and 
January 31, 2021. The legislation also requires servicers of residential mortgages, including those on real property containing 
up to four dwelling units, to comply with certain standards when notifying and communicating with borrowers who have 
experienced a COVID-19-related financial hardship and may be pursuing forbearances or other loss mitigation options.

Corporate Governance

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are required to certify that our quarterly and annual reports do not 
contain any untrue statement of a material fact. Rules adopted by the SEC under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have several 
requirements, including having these officers certify that: they are responsible for establishing, maintaining and regularly 
evaluating the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting; they have made certain disclosures to our auditors 
and the audit committee of the Board of Directors about our internal control over financial reporting; and they have included 
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information in our quarterly and annual reports about their evaluation and whether there have been changes in our internal 
control over financial reporting or in other factors that could materially affect internal control over financial reporting.

Community Reinvestment Act and Fair Lending

We are subject to certain requirements and reporting obligations under the Community Reinvestment Act (“CRA”).  The CRA 
generally requires federal banking agencies to evaluate the record of a financial institution in meeting the credit needs of its 
local communities, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods. The CRA further requires the agencies to take into 
account our record of meeting community credit needs when evaluating applications for, among other things, new branches or 
mergers. We are also subject to analogous state CRA requirements in New York, California and other states in which we may 
establish branch offices. The performance standards and examination frequency of CRA evaluations differ depending on 
whether a bank falls into the small or large bank category. The FDIC’s most recent CRA examination concluded as on 
February 8, 2016, and the most recent New York State examination concluded on December 31, 2014. Signature Bank was 
evaluated under the large bank standards. In measuring our compliance with these CRA obligations, the regulators rely on a 
performance-based evaluation system that bases our CRA rating on our actual lending service and investment performance. In 
connection with their assessments of CRA performance, the FDIC and DFS assign a rating of “outstanding,” “satisfactory,” 
“needs to improve,” or “substantial noncompliance.” Signature Bank received a “satisfactory” CRA Assessment Rating from 
both regulatory agencies in its most recent examinations.

In December 2019, the OCC and the FDIC released a notice of proposed rulemaking representing the first major revision of 
the federal interagency CRA regulations in nearly 25 years. Among other things, the proposed rule provided for objective 
numerical metrics for quantifying CRA performance, procedures to facilitate the identification of qualifying CRA activities, and, 
in the case of institutions with a majority of their deposits outside of traditional, facilities-based assessment areas, assessment 
areas based on the locations of significant levels of retail domestic deposits. The proposal also provided for the periodic 
publication of a non-exhaustive list of examples of qualifying activities. In addition, the proposed revision imposed significant 
additional reporting and information collection requirements on covered institutions. The Federal Reserve, although it has 
expressed interest in CRA reform, was not part of this effort.

The OCC adopted a final rule on May 20, 2020 that was generally consistent with the proposed rule, although it added some 
clarifications and transitional relief. The FDIC, however, did not join in the final rule and has indicated it is not ready to adopt a 
final rule at this time, particularly in light of the ongoing pandemic. Members of Congress and community groups have 
expressed hostility to the new rule, and have raised the possibility of repealing it through legislative action. In light of this 
uncertainty, and the fact that the FDIC has not yet taken action on new rule, it is impossible to predict the substance and timing 
of a revised CRA rule.

Fair lending laws prohibit discrimination in the provision of banking services, and the enforcement of these laws has been an 
increasing focus for the CFPB, HUD and other regulators. Fair lending laws include ECOA, the Fair Housing Act of 1968, and, 
at the state level, Section 296-A of the New York Executive Law and, in California, the California Fair Employment and Housing 
Act and the Unruh Civil Rights Act. These laws generally outlaw discrimination in credit and residential real estate transactions 
on the basis of prohibited factors including, among others, race, color, national origin, gender, and religion. A lender may be 
liable for policies that result in a disparate treatment of or have a disparate impact on a protected class of applicants or 
borrowers. If a pattern or practice of lending discrimination is alleged by a regulator, then that agency may refer the matter to 
the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) for investigation. In December 2012, the DOJ and CFPB entered into a Memorandum 
of Understanding under which the agencies have agreed to share information, coordinate investigations and have generally 
committed to strengthen their coordination efforts; however, such coordination has been less extensive under the current 
leadership of the DOJ and the CFPB. The extent to which coordination between the two agencies will occur in the future is 
uncertain. Signature Bank is required to have a fair lending program that is of sufficient scope to monitor the inherent fair 
lending risk of the institution and that appropriately remediates issues which are identified.

Anti-Money Laundering Regulation

We must also comply with the anti-money laundering (“AML”) provisions of the Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”), as amended by the 
USA PATRIOT Act, and implementing regulations issued by the FDIC and the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network 
(“FinCEN”) of the U.S. Department of the Treasury. As a result, we must obtain and maintain certain records when opening 
accounts, monitor account activity for suspicious transactions, impose a heightened level of review on private banking 
accounts opened by non-U.S. persons and, when necessary, make certain reports to law enforcement or regulatory officials 
that are designed to assist in the detection and prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing activities. To this end, 
we are also required to maintain an anti-money laundering compliance program that includes policies, procedures, and internal 
controls; the appointment of an anti-money laundering compliance officer; an internal training program; and internal audits.

FinCEN's regulations implementing the BSA include express requirements regarding risk-based procedures for conducting 
ongoing customer due diligence. Such procedures require banks to take appropriate steps to understand the nature and 
purpose of customer relationships. In addition, absent an applicable exclusion, banks must identify and verify the identity of the 
beneficial owners of all legal entity customers at the time a new account is established. We have incurred, and are likely to 
continue to incur, certain costs associated with the expansion and maintenance of our AML program in accordance with 
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maintaining our AML program in ongoing compliance with applicable regulatory requirements as they may evolve from time to 
time.

On January 1, 2021, Congress overrode former President Trump’s veto and thereby enacted the National Defense 
Authorization Act, which enacted the most significant overhaul of the BSA and related anti-money laundering laws since the 
USA PATRIOT Act. Notable amendments include (i) significant changes to the collection of beneficial ownership and the 
establishment of a beneficial ownership registry, which requires corporate entities (generally, any corporation, LLC, or other 
similar entity with 20 or fewer employees and annual gross income of $5 million or less) to report beneficial ownership 
information to FinCEN (which will be maintained by FinCEN and made available upon request to financial institutions); (ii) 
enhanced whistleblower provisions, which provide that one or more whistleblowers who voluntarily provide original information 
leading to the successful enforcement of violations of the AML laws in any judicial or administrative action brought by the 
Secretary of the Treasury or the Attorney General resulting in monetary sanctions exceeding $1 million (including 
disgorgement and interest but excluding forfeiture, restitution, or compensation to victims) will receive not more than 30 
percent of the monetary sanctions collected and will receive increased protections; (iii) increased penalties for violations of the 
BSA; (iv) improvements to existing information sharing provisions that permit financial institutions to share information relating 
to SARs with foreign branches, subsidiaries, and affiliates (except those located in China, Russia, or certain other jurisdictions) 
for the purpose of combating illicit finance risks; and (v) expanded duties and powers of FinCEN. Many of the amendments, 
including those with respect to beneficial ownership, require the Department of Treasury and the Financial Crimes 
Enforcement Network to promulgate rules. 

Signature Bank also is subject to New York AML laws and regulations. In June 2016, the DFS adopted a final rule that requires 
certain New York-regulated financial institutions, including Signature Bank, to comply with enhanced anti-terrorism and AML 
requirements beginning in 2017. The rule adds, among other AML program requirements, greater specificity to certain 
transaction monitoring and filtering requirements and the obligation to conduct an ongoing, comprehensive risk assessment 
and expressly eliminates a regulated institution’s ability to adjust its monitoring and filtering programs to limit the number of 
alerts generated. Effective April 2018, the rule also required chief compliance officers to submit certifications of compliance 
with these requirements annually. Signature Bank has incurred, and likely will continue to incur, additional cost in complying 
with these requirements.

In December 2019, three federal banking agencies and FinCEN issued a joint statement clarifying the compliance procedures 
and reporting requirements that banks must follow for customers engaged in the growth or cultivation of hemp, including a 
clear statement that banks need not file a SAR on customers engaged in the growth or cultivation of hemp in accordance with 
applicable laws and regulations. This statement does not apply to cannabis-related business; therefore, the statement pertains 
only to customers who are lawfully growing or cultivating hemp and are not otherwise engaged in unlawful or suspicious 
activity.

Cybersecurity and Data Privacy

Under privacy protection provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 and related regulations, we are limited in our ability 
to disclose non-public information about consumers to nonaffiliated third parties. These limitations require disclosure of privacy 
policies to consumers and, in some circumstances, allow consumers to prevent disclosure of certain personal information to a 
nonaffiliated third party. Federal banking agencies, including the FDIC, have adopted guidelines for establishing information 
security standards and cybersecurity programs for implementing safeguards under the supervision of the board of directors. 
These guidelines, along with related regulatory materials, increasingly focus on risk management and processes related to 
information technology and the use of third parties in the provision of financial services. In October 2016, the federal banking 
agencies issued an advance notice of proposed rulemaking on enhanced cybersecurity risk-management and resilience 
standards that would apply to large and interconnected banking organizations and to services provided by third parties to 
these firms. If adopted as proposed, these enhanced standards would apply to depository institutions, and depository 
institution holding companies with total consolidated assets of $50 billion or more, including the Bank. However, the federal 
banking agencies have not yet taken further action on these proposed standards and it is not clear whether the asset threshold 
set in the advanced notice of proposed rulemaking, among other aspects of the proposal, would be included in any future 
rulemaking. 

On December 15, 2020, the federal banking agencies announced the issuance of a notice of proposed rulemaking that, if 
adopted, would impose upon banking organizations and their service providers new notification requirements for significant 
cybersecurity incidents. Specifically, the proposed rule would require banking organizations to notify their primary federal 
regulator promptly, and not later than 36 hours after, the discovery of a "computer-security incident" that rises to the level of a 
"notification incident" within the meaning attributed to those terms by the proposed rule. Banks’ service providers would be 
required under the proposed rule to notify any affected bank to or on behalf of which it provides services "immediately" after 
experiencing any incident that the service provider believes "in good faith could disrupt, degrade, or impair service provided by 
that entity to the bank for four or more hours." The prospects and timing for the adoption of the proposed cybersecurity incident 
notification requirements (which are similar in certain respects to those which currently apply to the Bank under the DFS’s 
cybersecurity regulations, as discussed below), is not certain at this time.

The Bank is also subject to New York cybersecurity and data privacy laws and regulations, including the cybersecurity 
requirements for financial services companies established by the DFS and the New York State security breach notification law, 
which was amended and expanded in July 2019. The DFS’s cybersecurity regulations require banks, insurance companies, 
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and other financial services institutions regulated by the DFS to establish and maintain a cybersecurity program designed to 
protect consumers and ensure the safety and soundness of New York State’s financial services industry. These regulations 
require each regulated entity to assess its specific risk profile and design a program that addresses its risks in a robust fashion 
and, like the DFS’s enhanced anti-terrorism and AML requirements, the regulations impose an obligation to conduct an 
ongoing, comprehensive risk assessment and require each institution’s board of directors, or a senior officer of the institution, 
to submit annual certifications of compliance with these requirements. The Bank must certify its compliance with the 
cybersecurity regulations to the DFS on an annual basis. In addition, the “SHIELD Act,” which was enacted in July 2019, 
amended New York’s existing data breach notification law to expand the scope of protected “private information” and 
reportable data security breaches and to require covered institutions to adopt reasonable data security safeguards. 

In addition, other state cybersecurity and data privacy laws and regulations may expose the Bank to risk and result in certain 
risk management costs. Notably, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”), which became effective on 
January 1, 2020, gives California residents the right to request disclosure of information collected about them, and whether 
that information has been sold or shared with others, the right to request deletion of personal information (subject to certain 
exceptions), the right to opt out of the sale of personal information, and the right not to be discriminated against for exercising 
these rights. The CCPA also created a private right of action with statutory damages for data security breaches, thereby 
increasing potential liability associated with a data breach, which has triggered a number of class actions against other 
companies since January 1, 2020. On November 3, 2020, the California electorate approved Proposition 24, a ballot initiative 
that established the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA”). The CPRA, much of which will not become operative until 
January 1, 2023, amends the scope and several of the substantive requirements of the CCPA, as well as certain mechanisms 
for administration and enforcement of the statute. Although the Bank may enjoy several fairly broad exemptions from the 
CCPA’s privacy requirements, those exemptions do not extend to the private right of action for a data security breach. The 
CCPA, including any amendments thereto or final regulations implemented thereunder, as well as other similar state data 
privacy laws and regulations, may require the establishment by the Bank of certain regulatory compliance and risk 
management controls.

Transactions with Related Parties

Transactions between banks and their affiliates are limited by Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act. An affiliate of 
a bank is any company or entity that controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the bank. In a holding company 
context, the parent bank holding company and any companies which are controlled by such parent holding company are 
affiliates of the bank.

Generally, Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act and Regulation W (i) limit the extent to which the bank or its 
subsidiaries may engage in “covered transactions” with any one affiliate to an amount equal to 10% of such institution’s capital 
stock and surplus, and contain an aggregate limit on all such transactions with all affiliates to an amount equal to 20% of such 
institution’s capital stock and surplus and (ii) require that all such transactions be on terms substantially the same, or at least 
as favorable, to the institution or subsidiary as those provided to non-affiliates. The term “covered transaction” includes the 
making of loans, purchase of assets, issuance of a guarantee and other similar transactions. In addition, loans or other 
extensions of credit by the financial institution to the affiliate are required to be collateralized in accordance with the 
requirements set forth in Section 23A of the Federal Reserve Act. For purposes of the above, an “affiliate” does not include a 
subsidiary of the bank, unless the subsidiary is a financial subsidiary or a subsidiary formed under Section 24 of the FDI Act for 
the purpose of holding and investing as principal in equity securities, is itself a depository institution, or is directly controlled by 
one or more affiliates of the parent bank or a shareholder, or group of shareholders, that controls the parent bank. In addition, 
the so-called “Super 23A” provisions of the Volcker Rule apply similar restrictions on transactions between a bank and any 
“covered fund” that the bank advises or sponsors. 

In March 2020, the Federal Reserve issued to certain banks a temporary waiver of the limitations set forth under Section 23A 
of the Federal Reserve Act and Regulation W in order to allow such banks to purchase certain assets from affiliated broker-
dealers and money market mutual funds. The relief afforded by such waivers will expire within a prescribed period as set forth 
in the institution’s waiver letter as measured from the date of issuance.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Loans to Insiders

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 generally prohibits loans by a company to its executive officers and directors.  However, the 
law contains a specific exception for loans by a depository institution to its executive officers and directors in compliance with 
federal banking laws, assuming such loans are also permitted under the law of the institution’s chartering state. The Federal 
Reserve Act and its implementing Regulation O also provide limitations on the ability of Signature Bank to extend credit to 
executive officers, directors and 10% shareholders (“insiders”). The law limits both the individual and aggregate amount of 
loans Signature Bank may make to insiders based, in part, on Signature Bank’s capital position and requires certain Board 
approval procedures to be followed. Such loans are required to be made on terms substantially the same as those offered to 
unaffiliated individuals and not involve more than the normal risk of repayment. There is an exception for loans made pursuant 
to a benefit or compensation program that is widely available to all employees of the institution and does not give preference to 
insiders over other employees. Loans to executive officers are further limited to specific categories. In addition, the Federal 
Reserve has provided relief to banks lending under the PPP (see “― Recent Developments ― Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security (“CARES”) Act and Other Regulatory Actions”), by issuing an Interim Final Rule exempting certain PPP 
loans from the definition of “extension of credit” for purposes of Regulation O’s restrictions on loans to insiders (although not 
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for purposes of certain additional restrictions applicable to loans to executive officers). The Interim Final Rule granted an 
exemption for loans made through June 30, 2020, but did not address the extension of the original June 30, 2020 PPP loan 
application deadline until August 8, 2020. However, on July 17, 2020, the Federal Reserve issued a second Interim Final Rule 
expanding the exemption provided under the initial Interim Final Rule to apply to PPP loans made through August 8, 2020.

Change in Control

The approval of the DFS is required before any person or group of persons deemed to be acting in concert may acquire 
“control” of a banking institution, which includes Signature Bank. “Control” is defined as the possession, directly or indirectly, of 
the power to direct or cause the direction of management and policies of a banking institution through ownership of stock or 
otherwise and is presumed to exist if, among other things, any company owns, controls, or holds the power to vote 10% or 
more of the voting stock of a banking institution. As a result, any person or company that seeks to acquire 10% or more of our 
outstanding common stock must obtain prior regulatory approval.

In addition to the New York requirements, the federal Bank Holding Company Act prohibits a company from, directly or 
indirectly, acquiring 25% or more (5% if the acquirer is a bank holding company) of any class of our voting stock or obtaining 
the ability to control in any manner the election of a majority of our directors or otherwise directing the management or policies 
of our company without prior application to and the approval of the Federal Reserve. Moreover, under the Change in Bank 
Control Act, any person or group of persons acting in concert who intends to acquire 10% or more of any class of our voting 
stock or otherwise obtain control over us would be required to provide prior notice to and obtain the non-objection of the FDIC. 

In January 2020, the Federal Reserve adopted a final rule for control and divestiture proceedings under the under the Bank 
Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, and the Home Owners’ Loan Act. The final rule does not apply to control 
determinations under the Change in Bank Control Act, Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act and its implementing 
Regulation W, or Regulation O. Under the final rule, control determinations are to be made according to a more rules-based 
methodology. The final rule establishes a general three-prong test for determining whether a company controls a bank or 
savings association. Pursuant to this test, a company controls another company if the first company, directly or indirectly or 
acting through one or more other persons, (i) owns, controls or has power to vote 25% or more of any class of voting securities 
of the second company, (ii) controls in any manner the election of a majority of the directors of the other company, or (iii) based 
on the facts and circumstances of the investment, directly or indirectly exercises a "controlling influence" over the management 
or policies of the other company. The final rule includes rebuttable presumptions of control based on a tiered framework 
focused on equity ownership, business relationships, control over the election of directors, director and senior management 
interlocks, as well as business terms and contractual arrangements. In addition to the rebuttable presumptions under the tiered 
framework, the final rule includes other rebuttable presumptions of control and non-control focused on prior control 
relationships, management agreements, investment adviser arrangements, consolidation under generally accepted accounting 
principles, and equity ownership levels. As a general matter, the tiers will vary based on percentage of voting ownership with 
additional requirements to qualify for the rebuttable presumption at voting ownership levels of 5% or greater, 10% or greater, 
and 15% or greater. The final rule became effective on September 30, 2020.

Incentive Compensation

Guidelines adopted by the federal banking agencies pursuant to the FDI Act prohibit excessive compensation as an unsafe 
and unsound practice and describe compensation as excessive when the amounts paid are unreasonable or disproportionate 
to the services performed by an executive officer, employee, director or principal shareholder.

In June 2010, the federal banking agencies jointly adopted the Guidance on Sound Incentive Compensation Policies intended 
to ensure that banking organizations do not undermine the safety and soundness of such organizations by encouraging 
excessive risk-taking. This guidance, which covers all employees that have the ability to expose the organization to material 
amounts of risk, either individually or as part of a group, is based upon the key principles that a banking organization’s 
incentive compensation arrangements should (i) provide employee incentives that appropriately balance risk in a manner that 
does not encourage employees to expose their organizations to imprudent risk, (ii) be compatible with effective controls and 
risk management, and (iii) be supported by strong corporate governance, including active and effective oversight by the 
organization’s board of directors. Any deficiencies in the Bank’s compensation practices could lead to supervisory or 
enforcement actions by the FDIC.

Section 956 of the Dodd-Frank Act requires the federal banking agencies and the SEC to establish joint regulations or 
guidelines prohibiting incentive-based payment arrangements at specified regulated entities, such as us, having at least $1 
billion in total assets that encourage inappropriate risk-taking by providing an executive officer, employee, director or principal 
shareholder with excessive compensation, fees, or benefits or that could lead to material financial loss to the entity. In addition, 
these regulators must establish regulations or guidelines requiring enhanced disclosure to regulators of incentive-based 
compensation arrangements. The federal banking agencies proposed such regulations in April 2011 and issued a second 
proposed rule in April 2016. The second proposed rule would apply to all banks, among other institutions, with at least 
$1 billion in average total consolidated assets, and would go beyond the Guidance on Sound Incentive Compensation Policies 
discussed above to prohibit certain types and features of incentive-based compensation arrangements, require incentive-
based compensation arrangements to adhere to certain basic principles, and require appropriate board or committee oversight 
and recordkeeping and disclosures to the appropriate agency. In addition, institutions with at least $50 billion in average total 
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consolidated assets would be subject to additional compensation-related requirements and prohibitions. The prospects for 
continued consideration of these proposed rules by the SEC and federal banking agencies are uncertain, but implementation 
of any final rules is not expected in the near term.  

In October 2016, the DFS also announced a renewed focus on employee incentive arrangements and issued new guidance to 
New York State-regulated banks to ensure that these arrangements do not encourage inappropriate practices. The guidance 
listed adapted versions of the key principles from the Guidance on Sound Incentive Compensation Policies as minimum 
requirements and advised these banks that incentive compensation arrangements must be subject to effective risk 
management, oversight, and control. In November 2016, the CFPB issued similar guidance to financial services companies, 
including the entities that it supervises. Incentive compensation and sales practices, particularly in connection with certain 
products and services that are viewed as high-risk from a supervisory perspective—such as cross-selling and overdraft 
services—continue to be priority issues on the examination and supervision agendas of the CFPB and the federal banking 
agencies. 

In addition, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA”), which was signed into law in December 2017, contains certain 
provisions affecting performance-based compensation. Specifically, the pre-existing exception to the $1.0 million deduction 
limitation applicable to performance-based compensation was repealed. The deduction limitation is now applied to all 
compensation exceeding $1.0 million, for the Bank’s covered employees, regardless of how it is classified, which would have 
an adverse effect on income tax expense and net income.

Regulation of Signature Securities

Signature Securities is registered as a broker-dealer with and subject to examination and supervision by the SEC. The SEC is 
the federal agency primarily responsible for the regulation of broker-dealers. Signature Securities is also subject to regulation 
by one of the brokerage industry’s self-regulatory organizations, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”). As a 
registered broker-dealer, Signature Securities is subject to the SEC’s uniform net capital rule. The purpose of the net capital 
rule is to require broker-dealers to have at all times enough liquid assets to satisfy promptly the claims of clients if the broker-
dealer goes out of business. If Signature Securities fails to maintain the required net capital, the SEC and FINRA may impose 
regulatory sanctions including suspension or revocation of its broker-dealer license. A change in the net capital rules, the 
imposition of new rules, or any unusually large charge against Signature Securities’ net capital could limit its operations. As a 
subsidiary of Signature Bank, Signature Securities is also subject to regulation and supervision by the DFS. Signature 
Securities currently is permitted to act as a broker and as a dealer in certain bank eligible securities.

The SEC and FINRA each have taken actions to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including, among others, the 
following: the extension of filing deadlines for required reports; relief from procedural requirements associated with public 
disclosures and regulatory applications; the adoption of temporary amendments to regulatory requirements and processes 
relating to capital formation and certain securities processing services that have been impacted by the pandemic; and 
establishing processes for remote dispute resolution proceedings, testing and examinations. These actions may be extended 
and new relief may be provided based on the duration of the pandemic.

In June 2018, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit issued a mandate vacating the DOL’s “fiduciary rule” and related 
prohibited transaction exemptions, which had been enacted initially in 2016. However, on June 29, 2020, the DOL released a 
proposed prohibited transaction class exemption and associated guidance, intended as the “fiduciary rule[s]” replacement. If 
adopted, the exemption would allow investment advice fiduciaries to IRAs and ERISA plans (and similar tax-favored accounts) 
to receive variable compensation and other transaction-based fees in connection with providing investment advice as a 
fiduciary. Also, if adopted, the exemption would also allow investment advice fiduciaries to engage in certain principal 
transactions, without violating the prohibited transaction rules of ERISA and the IRS Code. Further, under the proposal, 
fiduciary status would be determined under the long-standing five-part test and, unlike the “fiduciary rule”, the regulatory 
definition of "fiduciary" is not expanded. To the extent that the DOL proceeds with this rulemaking or other rulemakings,, 
Signature Securities likely will undertake certain measures to comply with the rule on a transitional basis; however, to date, our 
brokerage and investment advisory services and activities have not been affected by the DOL’s rulemaking initiative. On June 
5, 2019, the SEC adopted Regulation Best Interest (“Reg BI”). Reg BI establishes a “best interest” standard of conduct for 
broker-dealers and associated persons when they make a recommendation to a retail customer of any securities transaction or 
investment strategy involving securities, including recommendations of types of accounts. The new rule requires Signature 
Securities to review and possibly modify our compliance activities, which is causing us to incur certain additional compliance 
costs. In addition, state laws that impose a fiduciary duty also may require monitoring, as well as require that we undertake 
additional compliance measures.

Signature Securities is also subject to state insurance regulation. In July 2004, Signature Securities received approval from the 
New York State Banking Department and the New York State Department of Insurance (the pre-2011 predecessor agencies of 
the DFS) to act as an agent in the sale of insurance products. Signature Securities’ insurance activities are subject to 
extensive regulation under the laws of the various states where its clients are located. The applicable laws and regulations 
vary from state to state, and, in every state of the United States, an insurance broker or agent is required to have a license 
from that state. These licenses may be denied or revoked by the appropriate governmental agency for various reasons, 
including the violation of state regulations and conviction for crimes.
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Deposit Premiums and Assessments

Under FDIC regulations, we are required to pay premiums to the DIF to insure our deposit accounts. The FDIC utilizes a risk-
based premium system in which an institution pays premiums for deposit insurance on the institution’s average consolidated 
total assets minus average tangible equity. For large insured depository institutions, generally defined as those with at least 
$10 billion in total assets, the assessment rate schedules combine regulatory ratings, PCA capital evaluations, and financial 
measures into two scorecards, one for most large insured depository institutions and another for highly complex insured 
depository institutions, to calculate assessment rates. A highly complex institution is generally defined as an insured depository 
institution with more than $50 billion in total assets that is controlled by a parent company with more than $500 billion in total 
assets. The assessment rate schedule includes an adjustment for significant amounts of brokered deposits applicable to large 
institutions that are either less than well capitalized or have a composite rating of “3,” “4,” or “5” under the Uniform Financial 
Institution Rating System. For such an institution, an assessment rate adjustment applies when its ratio of brokered deposits to 
domestic deposits is greater than 10%. 

The Dodd-Frank Act increased the minimum for the DIF reserve ratio, the ratio of the amount in the DIF to insured deposits 
from 1.15% to 1.35% and required that the ratio reach 1.35% by September 30, 2020. Banks with total assets of $10 billion or 
more are responsible for funding this increase. In March 2016, the FDIC adopted a final rule, which took effect on June 30, 
2016, imposing a surcharge on banks with at least $10 billion in total assets at an annual rate of four and one-half basis points 
applied to the institution’s assessment base (with certain adjustments) in order to reach a DIF reserve ratio of 1.35%. In 
conjunction with this surcharge, a new assessment rate schedule for the regular surcharge was implemented. Under the newly 
effective assessment rate schedules, the total base assessment rates for large and highly complex institutions range from one 
to 40 basis points. In total, the changes to the FDIC’s assessments decreased our deposit insurance assessments by $1.7 
million in 2018 compared to 2017. On September 30, 2018, the DIF reserve ratio reached 1.36%, exceeding the statutorily 
required minimum reserve ratio of 1.35% ahead of the September 30, 2020 deadline required under the Dodd-Frank Act. FDIC 
regulations provide that, upon reaching the minimum, surcharges on insured depository institutions with total consolidated 
assets of $10 billion or more will cease. The last quarterly surcharge was reflected in Signature Bank’s December 2018 
assessment invoice, which covered the assessment period from July 1 through September 30. March 2019 assessment 
invoices, which cover the assessment period from October 1, 2018, through December 31, 2018, no longer included a 
quarterly surcharge. Assessment rates, which declined for all banks when the reserve ratio first surpassed 1.15% in the third 
quarter of 2016, are expected to remain unchanged. Assessment rates are scheduled to decrease when the reserve ratio 
exceeds 2%.

On June 26, 2020, the FDIC published a final rule to mitigate the deposit insurance assessment effects of banks’ participation 
in the COVID-19 related PPP, Paycheck Protection Program Liquidity Facility (“PPPLF”), and Money Market Mutual Fund 
Liquidity Facility (“MMLF”). As described under “― Recent Developments ― Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security 
(“CARES”) Act and Other Regulatory Actions,” the Bank is a PPP lender. Absent such relief, we could be subject to increased 
deposit insurance assessments as a result. The final rule (i) removes the effect of participation in the PPP on various risk 
measures used to calculate a bank’s assessment rate; (ii) removes the effect of participation in the PPP on certain adjustments 
to a bank’s assessment rate; (iii) provides an offset to a bank’s assessment for the increase to its assessment base attributable 
to participation in the PPP; and (iv) removes the effect of participation in the PPP when classifying banks as small, large, or 
highly complex for assessment purposes. The final rule is effective retroactively as of April 1, 2020 to ensure that changes to 
deposit insurance assessment calculations apply to banks’ assessments starting in the second quarter of 2020. As a result of 
these changes, the Bank’s deposit insurance assessment for the second quarter of 2020 was reduced by $133,000 or 
approximately $530,000 annually.

In addition, all FDIC-insured institutions are required to pay assessments to the FDIC to fund interest payments on bonds 
issued by the Financing Corporation (“FICO”), an agency of the federal government established to recapitalize the Federal 
Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation. The FICO assessment rates, which are determined quarterly, averaged 0.565 basis 
points of insured deposits on an annualized basis in fiscal year 2016. All FICO bonds matured by the first half of 2019.

Historically, deposit insurance premiums we have paid to the FDIC have been deductible for federal income tax purposes; 
however, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 disallows the deduction of such premium payments for banking organizations with 
total consolidated assets of $50 billion or more. We reached $50 billion in total consolidated assets as of December 31, 2019, 
therefore we lost full deductibility of our entire FDIC assessment expense in 2020. This disallowance has been phased in over 
the last two years.  

Regulation of Brokered Deposits

Section 29 of the FDI Act establishes, among other things, a general prohibition on the acceptance by any insured depository 
institution that is not well capitalized of any deposit obtained, directly or indirectly, by or through any “deposit broker.” This 
statutory prohibition is further implemented through the regulations of the FDIC and, historically, numerous published and 
unpublished FDIC staff interpretations of the statute and the FDIC’s regulation. As discussed further below, the FDIC recently 
finalized substantial amendments to its brokered deposits regulation.

In January 2015, the FDIC issued guidance on brokered deposits regulation, which it updated in June 2016, that reiterated the 
FDIC’s views that use of brokered deposits to fund unsound or rapid expansion of loans and investment portfolios has 
contributed to institutions’ weakened financial and liquidity positions over successive economic cycles and that the overuse of 
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brokered deposits and the improper management of brokered deposits by problem institutions have contributed to bank 
failures and losses to the DIF. In December 2018, the FDIC published an advanced notice of proposed rulemaking soliciting 
public comment on its regulation of brokered deposits in light of the impact of changes in technology, business models and 
financial products in the decades since the adoption of statutory restrictions on banks’ acceptance of brokered deposits. In 
December 2019, the FDIC issued a notice of proposed rulemaking on its brokered deposits regulation. The proposal sought to 
clarify and modernize the FDIC’s existing regulatory framework. Notable aspects of the proposal include provisions (i) defining 
the operative prongs of the definition of “deposit broker” (including the meaning of “facilitating” the placement of deposits within 
the scope of the “deposit broker” definition), (ii) creating three general tests to determine the application of the “primary 
purpose” exception to such definition, (iii) establishing an application process for entities seeking to rely upon the “primary 
purpose” exception, and (iv) permitting wholly-owned subsidiaries of insured depository institutions to take advantage of 
exception for insured depository institutions with respect to funds placed with such institution (the so-called “own bank” 
exception). 

On December 15, 2020, the FDIC adopted a final rule amending its brokered deposits framework. The final rule deviated from 
the proposed rule in several respects. In brief, the final rule makes the following notable changes to the FDIC’s brokered 
deposits regulation: (i) the definition of “deposit broker” is amended to exclude persons who have an exclusive deposit 
placement arrangement with a single bank; (ii) a person is viewed as “facilitating” the placement of deposits, and therefore is a 
“deposit broker,” if the person (a) has legal authority, contractual or otherwise, to close a deposit account or move a third 
party’s funds to another bank; (b) is involved in negotiating or setting rates, fees, terms or conditions for a deposit account; or 
(c) engages in “matchmaking” as defined and interpreted in the final rule; (iii) notice and application processes, and related 
reporting requirements, are established for certain deposit placement arrangements that are eligible for reliance upon the 
“primary purpose” exception; and (iv) several specially designated “primary purpose” exceptions are established, including 
exceptions for deposit placement arrangements whereby (a) less than 25% of the total assets that a person has “under 
administration” for its customers are placed with banks, and (b) 100% of depositors’ funds that that a person places, or assists 
in placing, with banks are placed into transactional accounts that do not pay fees, interest or other remuneration to the 
depositor.

The final rule is scheduled to take effect on April 1, 2021 and will be reflected in Call Report data due June 30, 2021; however, 
full compliance with the final rule is not required until January 1, 2022. Under the amended brokered deposits regulation, the 
range of activities viewed as deposit brokerage will be modified, which could have an impact on the Bank’s deposit premiums, 
capital and liquidity risk management planning, and regulatory monitoring and reporting obligations. However, due to the 
recency of the final rule, it may be subject to further review and approval by incoming Administration officials and could be 
withdrawn and revised through additional notice-and-comment rulemaking. In addition, the final rule could be subject to review 
and disapproval by Congress under the Congressional Review Act.  See “Risk Factors––Government and Regulation Risks 
Related to Our Business––The Bank faces risks related to the adoption of future legislation and potential changes in federal 
regulatory agency leadership, policies and priorities.”

Other Regulatory Requirements

Federal banking laws and regulations apply increasingly stringent regulatory and supervisory requirements to banks or bank 
holding companies that cross total asset thresholds of $10 billion, $50 billion, $100 billion and $250 billion. Signature Bank is 
positioned to be subject, in some instances, to somewhat lighter federal bank regulatory requirements than larger banks and 
banks that are subsidiaries of registered bank holding companies. As an organization with a bank as its top-level company and 
with a relatively simple business model, Signature Bank, at its asset size of $73.89 billion as of December 31, 2020, is, and in 
the foreseeable future expects to be, subject to only some of these escalating requirements.

The FDI Act, as administered by the FDIC, restricts the acceptance of brokered deposits and imposes certain restrictions on 
deposit interest rates. Banks that do not maintain their regulatory capital above the level required to be “well capitalized” face 
tiered limits on their ability to accept or renew deposits classified as “brokered deposits”. “Adequately capitalized” banks may 
not accept or renew brokered deposits unless they obtain a waiver from the FDIC. Brokered deposits include deposits 
obtained through a “deposit broker,” which is broadly defined under the FDI Act and existing FDIC rules and interpretations. In 
some circumstances, employees of a bank and its subsidiaries can be treated as deposit brokers and the customer deposits 
that they are involved in servicing can be treated as brokered deposits. The Economic Growth Act established that reciprocal 
deposits are not treated as brokered deposits in the case of a “well capitalized” institution that received an “outstanding” or 
“good” rating on its most recent examination to the extent the amount of such deposits does not exceed the lesser of $5 billion 
or 20% of the bank’s total liabilities. In December 2018, the FDIC published a final rule implementing these statutory changes. 
See “—Deposit Premiums and Assessments” for a discussion of the brokered-deposit assessment rate adjustment applicable 
to certain institutions.

The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 eliminated most of the barriers to affiliations among banks, securities firms, insurance 
companies, and other financial companies previously imposed under federal banking laws if certain criteria are satisfied. 
Certain subsidiaries of well-capitalized and well-managed banks may be treated as “financial subsidiaries,” which are generally 
permitted to engage in activities that are financial in nature, including securities underwriting, dealing, and market making; 
sponsoring mutual funds and investment companies; and activities that the Federal Reserve has determined to be closely 
related to banking.
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Commercial real estate loans represent a significant portion of our loan portfolio. As of December 31, 2019, our ratio of total 
commercial real estate loans to total risk-based capital was 480.2%, and as of December 31, 2020, that ratio had decreased to 
376.4%. From December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2020, the outstanding balance of our commercial real estate loan portfolio 
increased $1.66 billion, or 6.5%. Due to the risks associated with this type of lending, in 2006, the federal banking agencies, 
including the FDIC, issued guidance on commercial real estate concentration risk management. Under this guidance, a bank’s 
commercial real estate lending exposure may receive increased supervisory scrutiny under certain circumstances, including 
where total commercial real estate loans represent 300% or more of an institution’s total risk-based capital and the outstanding 
balance of the commercial real estate loan portfolio has increased by 50% or more during the preceding 36 months. In 
December 2015, the agencies released a new statement on prudent risk management for commercial real estate lending. In 
this statement, the agencies expressed concerns about easing commercial real estate underwriting standards, directed 
financial institutions to maintain underwriting discipline and exercise risk management practices to identify, measure, and 
monitor lending risks, and indicated that they will continue to pay special attention to commercial real estate lending activities 
and concentration going forward.

The FDIC regulates its supervised institutions’ relationships with and management of third parties. Federal banking guidance 
requires us to conduct due diligence and oversight in third-party business relationships and to control risks in the relationship 
to the same extent as if the activity were directly performed by the Bank. In July 2016, the FDIC proposed new Guidance for 
Third-Party Lending to set forth safety and soundness and consumer compliance measures FDIC-supervised institutions 
should follow when lending through a business relationship with a third party.

The Bank is required to implement and maintain business continuity and disaster recovery plans to ensure its resilience and 
continued operations in the event of significant business disruptions related to cybersecurity events, natural disasters and 
other potentially catastrophic events. Such plans are intended to be aligned with banking organizations’ risk profiles and roles 
within the overall financial services sector. Plans must contain proactive measures to safeguard banking organizations’ 
employees, customers, products and establish response procedures in the event of significant business disruptions. On March 
6, 2020, in response to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Federal Financial Institution Examination Council (“FFIEC”) 
(comprised of the Federal Reserve, the FDIC, the OCC, the National Credit Union Administration and the CFPB) updated its 
business continuity planning guidance to include additional considerations related to pandemic planning. The guidance 
identifies actions beyond a traditional business continuity planning that should be taken to address certain unique challenges 
posed by pandemics. Specifically, a financial institution's planning should provide for, among other things; a preventative 
program (including monitoring of potential outbreaks, educating employees, providing appropriate hygiene training and tools, 
and coordinating with critical service providers); a documented strategy that provides for scaling the institution's pandemic 
efforts to be consistent with the effects of a particular stage of a pandemic outbreak; a comprehensive framework of facilities, 
systems, or procedures that provide the firm with the capability to continue critical operations during prolonged staff shortages; 
and a testing program to ensure that the planning practices and capabilities are effective and will allow critical operations to 
continue.

The Bank has entered into certain financial contracts that utilize the soon-to-be-discontinued London Interbank Offered Rate 
(“LIBOR”). On July 1, 2020, the FFIEC published guidance for financial institutions on the supervisory, risk management and 
planning considerations relating to the transition away from LIBOR as a reference rate for a variety of financial contracts. On 
November 30, 2020, the federal banking agencies published a joint statement on the LIBOR transition in which the agencies 
expressed their view that any financial institution which enters into new financial contracts that use LIBOR as a reference rate 
after December 31, 2021 would create safety and soundness risks. Accordingly, the banking agencies encouraged institutions 
to cease entering into new contracts that use LIBOR as a reference rate as soon as practicable and in any event by December 
31, 2021. The joint statement also provided that financial contracts entered into before December 31, 2021 should either utilize 
a reference rate other than LIBOR or have robust fallback language that includes a clearly defined alternative reference rate 
after LIBOR’s discontinuation.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 
Risk Factor Summary

We are providing the following summary of the risk factors contained in our Form 10-K to enhance the readability and 
accessibility of our risk factor disclosures. We encourage our stockholders to carefully review the full risk factors contained in 
this Form 10-K in their entirety for additional information regarding the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual 
results to vary materially from recent results or from our anticipated future results.

Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic
• The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted our business and financial results, and the ultimate impact will 

depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and 
duration of the pandemic and actions taken currently or in the future by governmental authorities in response to the 
pandemic.
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Risks Related to Market and Liquidity Risks Related to Our Business
• Volatility in global financial markets might continue and the federal government may continue to take measures to 

intervene.
• Changes in U.S. trade policies, including the imposition of tariffs and retaliatory tariffs, may adversely impact our 

business, financial condition and results of operations.
• Difficult market conditions may have an adverse impact on our industry.
• Fiscal challenges facing the U.S. government could negatively impact financial markets which in turn could have an 

adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.  
• Our operations are affected significantly by interest rate levels and we are vulnerable to changes in interest rates.
• The planned phase out of LIBOR as a financial benchmark presents risks to the financial instruments originated or 

held by Signature Bank.
• We are vulnerable to illiquid market conditions, resulting in the potential for significant declines in the fair value of our 

investment portfolio.
• We primarily invest in mortgage-backed obligations and such obligations may be impacted by market dislocations, 

declining home values and prepayment risk, which may lead to volatility in cash flow and market risk and declines in 
the value of our investment portfolio.

• Adverse developments in the residential mortgage market may adversely affect the value of our investment portfolio.
• If the U.S. agencies or U.S. government-sponsored enterprises were unable to pay or to guarantee payments on their 

securities in which we invest, our results of operations would be adversely affected.
• The vast majority of our business operations and substantially all of our real estate collateral are concentrated in the 

New York metropolitan area, and a downturn in the economy and the real estate market of the New York metropolitan 
area, as well as changes in rent regulation laws, may have a material adverse effect on our business.

• Inflation or deflation could adversely affect our business and financial results.

Risks Related to Strategic Risks Related to Our Business
• We may be unable to successfully implement our growth strategy.
• We may be unable to successfully integrate new business lines into our existing operations.
• We compete with many larger financial institutions which have substantially greater financial and other resources than 

we have.
• Government intervention in the banking industry has the potential to change the competitive landscape.
• We may not be able to acquire suitable client relationship groups or manage our growth.
• Provisions in our charter documents may delay or prevent our acquisition by a third party.
• There are substantial regulatory limitations on changes in control of the Bank.

Risks Related to Operational Risks Related to Our Business
• We are vulnerable to downgrades in credit ratings for securities within our investment portfolio.
• There are material risks involved in commercial lending, which generally involves a higher risk than residential 

mortgage loans, that could adversely affect our business.
• As the size of our loan portfolio grows, the risks associated with our loan portfolio may be exacerbated.
• Our failure to effectively manage our credit risk could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and 

results of operations.
• Lack of seasoning of the mortgage loans underlying our investment portfolio may increase the risk of credit defaults in 

the future.
• Our Allowance for Credit Losses for Loans and Leases ("ACLLL") may not be sufficient to absorb actual losses.
• We rely on the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York for secondary and contingent liquidity sources.
• We are dependent upon key personnel.
• Curtailment of government guaranteed loan programs could affect our SBA business.
• We rely extensively on outsourcing to provide cost-effective operational support.
• Decreases in trading volumes or prices could harm the business and profitability of Signature Securities.
• Our ability to pay cash dividends or engage in share repurchases is restricted.
• The loss of our deposit clients or substantial reduction of our deposit balances could force us to fund our business 

with more expensive and less stable funding sources.
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• Downgrades of our credit rating could negatively affect our funding and liquidity by reducing our funding capacity and 
increasing our funding costs. 

• We may not be able to raise the additional funding needed for our operations.
• Our business may be adversely impacted by severe weather, acts of war or terrorism, public health issues and other 

external events.
• Other changes in accounting standards or interpretation in new or existing standards could materially affect our 

financial results.
• Negative public opinion could damage our reputation and adversely affect our earnings.
• FDIC insurance premiums fluctuate materially, which could negatively affect our profitability.
• The soundness of other financial institutions could adversely affect us.

Risks Related to Government and Regulation Risks Related to Our Business

• We are subject to significant government regulation.

• We are subject to stringent regulatory capital requirements, which may adversely impact our return on equity, require 
us to raise additional capital, or constrain us from obtaining deposits, paying dividends or repurchasing shares.

• The Dodd-Frank Act may continue to affect our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.
• We use brokered deposits to fund a portion of our activities and the loss of our ability to accept or renew brokered 

deposits could have an adverse effect on us.
• Regulations could restrict our ability to service and sell mortgage loans.
• We will be expected to make additional expenditures on enhanced governance, internal control, compliance, and 

supervisory programs and to comply with additional regulations as we surpassed $50 billion in assets.
• Recent financial services regulatory relief measures have not eliminated many of the aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act 

that have increased our compliance costs.
• Changes in the federal, state or local tax laws may negatively impact our financial performance.
• Regulatory net capital requirements significantly affect and often constrain our brokerage business.
• The repeal of federal prohibitions on the payment of interest on demand deposits could increase our interest 

expense.
• We are subject to various legal claims and litigation. Our management of the risk of system failures or breaches of 

our network security is increasingly subject to regulation and could subject us to increased operating costs, as well as 
litigation and other liabilities.

• We are subject to laws regarding the privacy, information security and protection of personal information and any 
violation of these laws or an incident involving personal, confidential or proprietary information of individuals could 
damage our reputation and otherwise adversely affect our operations and financial condition.

• We may be responsible for environmental claims.
• Climate change and related legislative and regulatory initiatives may result in operational changes and expenditures 

that could significantly impact our business.  
• The misconduct of employees or their failure to abide by regulatory requirements is difficult to detect and deter.
• We depend upon the accuracy and completeness of information about clients and other third parties and are subject 

to losses resulting from fraudulent or negligent acts on the part of our clients or other third parties.
• The failure of our brokerage clients to meet their margin requirements may cause us to incur significant liabilities.
• The Bank faces risks related to the adoption of future legislation and potential changes in federal regulatory agency 

leadership, policies and priorities. 
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Risk Factors

If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition or operating results could be materially adversely 
affected. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our 
business operations. As a result, we cannot predict every risk factor, nor can we assess the impact of all of the risk factors on 
our businesses or to the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may impact our financial condition and results of 
operations.

Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted our business and financial results, and the ultimate impact will 
depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and 
duration of the pandemic and actions taken currently or in the future by governmental authorities in response to the 
pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic is creating extensive disruptions to the global economy, to businesses and to the lives of individuals 
throughout the world. Governments, businesses, and the public are taking unprecedented actions to contain the spread of 
COVID-19 and to mitigate its effects, including quarantines, travel bans, shelter-in-place orders, closures of businesses and 
schools, fiscal stimulus, and legislation designed to deliver monetary aid and other relief to those adversely impacted by the 
pandemic. Although in various locations some of the activity restrictions listed above have been relaxed in progressive steps, 
in many geographies the number of individuals diagnosed with COVID-19 has significantly increased in recent months causing 
a freezing or, in a growing number of geographies, reversal of the relaxation of activity restrictions. Moreover, although multiple 
COVID-19 vaccines have received regulatory approval and currently are being distributed to certain at-risk populations, it is too 
early to know how quickly these vaccines can be distributed to the broader population and how effective they will be in 
mitigating the adverse social and economic effects of the pandemic. While the scope, duration, and full effects of COVID-19 
are rapidly evolving and not fully known, the pandemic and related efforts to contain it have markedly reduced and disrupted 
global economic activity, adversely affected the functioning of financial markets, impacted interest rates, increased economic 
and market uncertainty, and disrupted trade and supply chains. And while there have been trillions of dollars in economic 
stimulus packages initiated by the Federal Reserve and other areas of the federal government, including the $2 trillion CARES 
Act, the $900 billion relief package in the form of the Economic Aid Act and potential additional stimulus and COVID-19-related 
relief that will be considered by Congress early in 2021, in an effort to counteract the significant economic disruption from 
COVID-19, and further action has been taken by the Federal Reserve and other areas of the federal government, there can be 
no assurance that these packages will be sufficient, or produce positive results quickly enough, to stimulate the economy, and 
additional governmental stimulus and related interventions may be needed.

• Credit Risk

Our risks of timely loan repayment and the value of collateral supporting the loans are affected by the strength of our 
borrowers’ businesses. Concern about the spread of COVID-19 has caused and is likely to continue to cause business 
shutdowns, limitations on commercial activity and financial transactions, labor shortages, supply chain interruptions, increased 
unemployment and commercial and residential property vacancy rates, reduced profitability and ability for property owners to 
make mortgage payments and lessees to make rent payments, and overall economic and financial market instability, all of 
which may cause our clients to be unable to make scheduled loan payments. If the effects of COVID-19 result in widespread 
and sustained repayment shortfalls on loans in our portfolio, we could incur significant delinquencies, foreclosures and credit 
losses, particularly if the available collateral is insufficient to cover our exposure. The future effects of COVID-19 on economic 
activity could negatively affect the collateral values associated with our existing loans, the ability to liquidate the real estate 
collateral securing our residential and commercial real estate loans, our ability to maintain loan origination volume and to 
obtain additional financing, the future demand for or profitability of our lending and services, and the financial condition and 
credit risk of our clients. Further, in the event of delinquencies, regulatory changes and policies designed to protect borrowers 
may slow or prevent us from making our business decisions or may result in a delay in our taking certain remediation actions, 
such as foreclosure. In addition, we have unfunded commitments to extend credit to clients. During a challenging economic 
environment like the current one, our clients are more dependent on our credit commitments and increased borrowings under 
these commitments could adversely impact our liquidity. Furthermore, in an effort to support our communities during the 
pandemic, we have participated in and intended to continue our participation in the PPP under the CARES Act and the 
Economic Aid Act. Through the PPP, unsecured loans are originated to eligible small businesses. PPP loans are subject to 
regulatory requirements that require deferral of loan payments for a specified time or that would limit our ability to pursue all 
available remedies in the event of a loan default. If the borrower under the PPP loan fails to qualify for loan forgiveness, we are 
at the heightened risk of holding these loans at unfavorable interest rates as compared to the loans to clients that we would 
have otherwise extended credit. While the PPP loans are guaranteed by the Small Business Administration, various regulatory 
requirements will apply to our ability to seek recourse under the guarantees, and related procedures are currently subject to 
uncertainty. If a borrower defaults under a PPP loan, these requirements and uncertainties may result in our inability to fully 
recover against the loan guaranty or to seek full recourse against the borrower. Additionally, the PPP loans are not secured by 
an interest in a borrower’s assets or otherwise backed by personal guarantees.
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• Strategic Risk

Our success may be affected by a variety of external factors that may affect the price or marketability of our products and 
services, changes in interest rates that may increase our funding costs, reduced demand for our financial products due to 
economic conditions and the various response of governmental and nongovernmental authorities. The COVID-19 pandemic 
has significantly increased economic and demand uncertainty and has led to disruption and volatility in the global capital 
markets. Furthermore, many of the governmental actions have been directed toward curtailing household and business activity 
to contain COVID-19. These actions have been rapidly expanding in scope and intensity. For example, in many of our markets, 
local governments have acted to temporarily close or restrict the operations of most businesses. Our relationships with existing 
clients who applied for but are not eligible for PPP loans may have been adversely affected by restrictions on our ability to 
make PPP loans to such clients. Further, our relationships with clients who received PPP loans from us may be adversely 
affected to the extent a client’s PPP loan is not eligible for forgiveness, in whole or in part. The future effects of COVID-19 on 
economic activity could negatively affect the future banking products we provide, including a decline in the originating of loans 
and potential loss of clients.

• Operational Risk

Current and future restrictions on our workforce’s access to our facilities could limit our ability to meet client servicing 
expectations and have a material adverse effect on our operations. We rely on business processes and branch activity that 
largely depend on people and technology, including access to information technology systems as well as information, 
applications, payment systems and other services provided by third parties. In response to COVID-19, we have modified our 
business practices with a portion of our employees working remotely from their homes to have our operations uninterrupted as 
much as possible. Further, technology in employees’ homes may not be as robust as in our offices and could cause the 
networks, information systems, applications, and other tools available to employees to be more limited or less reliable than in 
our offices. The continuation of these work-from-home measures also introduces additional operational risk, including 
increased cybersecurity risk. These cyber risks include greater phishing, malware, and other cybersecurity attacks, 
vulnerability to disruptions of our information technology infrastructure and telecommunications systems for remote operations, 
increased risk of unauthorized dissemination of confidential information, limited ability to restore the systems in the event of a 
systems failure or interruption, greater risk of a security breach resulting in destruction or misuse of valuable information, and 
potential impairment of our ability to perform critical functions, including wiring funds, all of which could expose us to risks of 
data or financial loss, litigation and liability and could seriously disrupt our operations and the operations of any impacted 
clients.

Moreover, we rely on many third parties in our business operations, including the appraiser of the real property collateral, 
vendors that supply essential services such as loan servicers, providers of financial information, systems and analytical tools 
and providers of electronic payment and settlement systems, and local and federal government agencies, offices, and 
courthouses. In light of the developing measures responding to the pandemic, many of these entities may limit the availability 
and access of their services. For example, loan origination could be delayed due to the limited availability of real estate 
appraisers for the collateral. Loan closings could be delayed related to reductions in available staff in recording offices or the 
closing of courthouses in certain counties, which slows the process for title work, mortgage and UCC filings in those counties. 
If the third-party service providers continue to have limited capacities for a prolonged period or if additional limitations or 
potential disruptions in these services materialize, it may negatively affect our operations.

Further, during the period from April 3, 2020 through December 31, 2020, we processed more than 5,500 applications for PPP 
loans, which resulted in significant demands and pressures on our operations. In addition, with the re-opening of the PPP in 
January 2021 through the adoption of the Economic Aid Act and related SBA and Treasury Department rulemakings, the Bank 
has received additional “First Draw” and “Second Draw” PPP loan applications and expects to receive additional loan 
applications in the coming weeks. During the period from January 11, 2021 through February 23, 2021, we processed more 
than 3,000 applications for PPP loans, which continued to result in significant demands and pressures on our operations. In 
light of the speed at which the PPP was implemented, particularly due to the “first come first served” nature of the program, the 
loans originated under this program may present potential fraud risk, increasing the risk that loan forgiveness may not be 
obtained by the borrowers and that the guaranty may not be honored. In addition, there is risk that the borrowers may not 
qualify for the loan forgiveness feature due to the conduct of the borrower after the loan is originated. These factors may result 
in us having to hold a significant amount of these low-yield loans on our books for a significant period of time. We will continue 
to face increased operational demands and pressures as we monitor and service our book of PPP loans, process applications 
for loan forgiveness and pursue recourse under the SBA guarantees and against borrowers for PPP loan defaults. As a result 
of participation in the PPP, we may be subject to litigation and claims by borrowers under the PPP loans that we have made, 
as well as investigation and scrutiny by our regulators, Congress, the Small Business Administration, the U.S. Treasury 
Department and other government agencies.

Regardless of whether these claims and investigations are founded or unfounded, if such claims and investigations are not 
resolved in a timely manner favorable to us, they may result in significant costs and liabilities (including increased legal and 
professional services costs) and/or adversely affect the market perception of us and our products and services.
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• Interest Rate Risk

Our net interest income, lending activities, deposits and profitability could be negatively affected by the COVID-19 pandemic’s 
impact on interest rates, including if interest rates remain low or become more volatile. In March 2020, the Federal Reserve 
lowered the target range for the federal funds rate to a range from 0 to 0.25 percent, citing concerns about the impact of 
COVID-19 on markets and stress in the energy sector. Throughout 2020, the Federal Open Market Committee has elected to 
continue to follow this approach as pandemic-related risks to the economy are likely to persist for the foreseeable future. 
Lower rates on loans and securities may reduce the spread between the rates we pay on deposits and the rates at which we 
can invest those funds. In addition, a prolonged period of extremely volatile and unstable market conditions would likely 
increase our funding costs and negatively affect market risk mitigation strategies. For instance, as of December 31, 2020, 
approximately 88% of our total deposits of $63.32 billion are not FDIC-insured, and if a significant portion of these deposits 
were withdrawn we might need to replace them with more expensive funding. Higher income volatility from changes in interest 
rates and spreads to benchmark indices could cause a loss of future net interest income and a decrease in current fair market 
values of our assets. Fluctuations in interest rates will impact both the level of income and expense recorded on most of our 
assets and liabilities and the market value of all interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which in turn could have 
a material adverse effect on our net income, operating results, or financial condition.

• Regulatory Risk

There have been a number of recent bank regulatory actions and legislative changes intended to help mitigate the adverse 
economic impact of COVID-19 on borrowers, including mandates requiring financial institutions to work constructively with 
borrowers affected by COVID-19. In addition, states, including New York and California, have adopted, through a mix of 
executive orders, regulations, and judicial orders, temporary bans on evictions and foreclosures, and flexibility regarding rental 
payments, such as the use of security deposits to pay rent. At the federal level, Section 4022 of the CARES Act allows 
borrowers with federally-backed one-to-four family mortgage loans experiencing a financial hardship due to COVID-19 to 
request forbearance, regardless of delinquency status, for up to 360 days. Although the statutory period for relief under this 
provision has expired, the federal agencies responsible for its implementation have extended the period of relief, which at 
present is February 28, 2021. In addition, under Section 4023 of the CARES Act, until the earlier of December 31, 2020 or the 
date the national emergency declared by the President terminates, borrowers with federally-backed multifamily mortgage loans 
whose payments were current as of February 1, 2020, but who have since experienced financial hardship due to COVID-19, 
may request a forbearance for up to 90 days. Borrowers receiving such forbearance may not evict or charge late fees to 
tenants for its duration. On December 23, 2020, the FHFA announced an extension of its forbearance program for qualifying 
multifamily properties through March 31, 2021. Moreover, on January 20, 2021, President Biden issued an Executive Order 
extending the federal eviction moratorium issued through the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention––which was recently
extended by Congress through January 31, 2021––through March 31, 2021. As part of the COVID-19 relief package proposed 
by the Administration, this eviction moratorium would be further extended through September 30, 2021 if adopted as proposed. 
In addition, President Biden requested that the federal agencies discussed above continue to extend the moratorium on 
foreclosures on federally-guaranteed mortgages until at least March 31, 2021. Since then, the FHFA and the Federal Housing 
Administration (“FHA”) have extended their moratoria to that date.

On June 17, 2020, Governor Andrew Cuomo signed legislation that expands mortgage forbearance available for those 
experiencing financial hardship during the COVID-19 crisis in New York State. The legislation applies to those who have 
mortgages with state-regulated financial institutions and is intended to be an expansion of the CARES Act’s mortgage 
forbearance provisions. The legislation provides up to one year of forbearance if the borrower’s hardship persists and provides 
flexible payment options. Further, on December 28, 2020, Governor Cuomo signed the COVID-19 Emergency Eviction and 
Foreclosure Prevention Act of 2020, which prevents residential evictions, foreclosure proceedings, credit discrimination and 
negative credit reporting related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Of note, this legislation imposes a moratorium on residential 
foreclosure proceedings and evictions until May 1, 2021. Similar forbearance initiatives have been adopted in California and 
other states, and are under consideration in several states. These regulatory, legislative and judicial actions may be expanded, 
extended and amended as the pandemic and its economic impact develop. As a result of the forbearance and mitigation 
programs described above, we expect a significant decline in borrower loan payments, which may have a material impact on 
our earnings.

Because there have been no comparable recent global pandemics that resulted in similar global impact, we do not yet know 
the full extent of COVID-19’s effects on our business, operations, or the global economy as a whole. Any future development 
will be highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and duration of the pandemic, the effectiveness of our 
remote working arrangements, third party providers’ ability to support our operation, and any actions taken by governmental 
authorities and other third parties in response to the pandemic. The uncertain future development of this crisis could materially 
and adversely affect our business, operations, operating results, financial condition, liquidity or capital levels.
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Market and Liquidity Risks Related to Our Business

Volatility in global financial markets might continue and the federal government may continue to take measures to 
intervene.

The federal government may, in response to economic downturns, take significant measures in the area of financial policy and 
banking regulation that may impact our business and the markets in which we compete. These have included such measures 
as the enactment of the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 and the Dodd-Frank Act, taken in response to the 
financial crisis that began in late 2007, as well as the adoption of accommodative monetary policy. Federal financial regulators 
also may take a variety of regulatory and supervisory actions in respect of banks and other financial institutions in response to 
such events. Although the U.S. and global financial markets have been relatively stable in recent years, credit and capital 
markets have continued to experience periods of disruption and inconsistency following adverse changes in the global 
economy. We cannot predict the federal government’s responses to any further dislocation and instability in the global 
economy, and potential future government responses and changes in law or regulation may affect our business, results of 
operations and financial conditions. 

Additionally, economic conditions throughout the world remain uncertain. Concerns about the European Union (“EU”), 
including Britain’s departure from the EU (“Brexit”) and the stability of the EU’s sovereign debt, have caused uncertainty and 
disruption for financial markets globally. The ultimate effects of Brexit and the EU’s financial support program, as well as the 
impact of any anticipated and future changes in global fiscal and monetary policy, are difficult to predict and may further 
deteriorate economic conditions or increase volatility in financial markets. We hold corporate debt securities issued by U.S. 
financial institutions that have material exposure to foreign countries. As such, deterioration of the economic conditions or 
increase in volatility of financial markets outside of the United States could have an adverse effect on the issuers of corporate 
debt that we hold. If such an effect were to negatively impact the ability of such issuers to pay their debts, it could have an 
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Global volatility may also produce exchange rate 
fluctuations and currency devaluations that negatively affect our business. Furthermore, a slowdown or deterioration of 
economic conditions in other parts of the world may have an adverse effect on economic conditions in the United States, which 
could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. We cannot predict the federal 
government’s response to any dislocation or instability in the United States, and potential future government responses and 
changes in law or regulation may affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Changes in U.S. trade policies, including the imposition of tariffs and retaliatory tariffs, may adversely impact our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

There continues to be discussion and dialogue regarding potential changes to U.S. trade policies, legislation, treaties and 
tariffs with countries such as China and those located in the EU. Tariffs and retaliatory tariffs have been imposed, and 
additional tariffs and retaliatory tariffs have been proposed. Such tariffs, retaliatory tariffs or other trade restrictions on products 
and materials that our customers import or export could cause the prices of our customers’ products to increase, which could 
reduce demand for such products, or reduce our customers’ margins, and adversely impact their revenues, financial results 
and ability to service debt. This, in turn, could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, to 
the extent changes in the political environment have a negative impact on us or on the markets in which we operate our 
business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely impacted in the future. Although it is 
possible that the trade policies of the incoming Administration will deviate, perhaps substantially, from those of the prior 
Administration, it remains unclear what the U.S. government or foreign governments will or will not do with respect to tariffs 
already imposed, additional tariffs that may be imposed, or international trade agreements and policies.

Difficult market conditions may have an adverse impact on our industry.

Uncertainty and deterioration in market conditions may have adverse effects on certain industries, may have an adverse effect 
on certain regional or national economic conditions in the United States, and may have an adverse effect on the market for 
commercial and industrial loans. In particular, we may face the following risks in connection with challenging market conditions:

• Commercial loans (including commercial and industrial loans and loans secured by commercial real estate) and multi-
family mortgage loans constitute a substantial portion of our loan activity and loan portfolio. Difficult market conditions 
could have an adverse impact on the ability of borrowers, especially industries that are more exposed to those 
conditions, to make timely loan payments, which could lead to losses on such loans. Any significant losses on such 
loans could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

• Market developments may affect confidence levels and may cause declines in credit usage and adverse changes in 
payment patterns, as well as increases in delinquencies and default rates, which we expect would negatively impact 
our provision for credit losses on loans and leases.

• The process we use to estimate losses inherent in our credit exposure requires difficult, subjective, and complex 
judgments, including forecasts of economic conditions and how these economic predictions might impair the ability of 
our borrowers to repay their loans, which may no longer be capable of accurate estimation which may, in turn, impact 
the reliability of the process.
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• As discussed further below, shifts in prevailing interest rates and the value of domestic and foreign currencies may 
have an adverse effect on our earnings and capital and our ability to engage in lending activities. Moreover, 
prolonged periods of low prevailing interest rates may negatively impact our net interest margins, which may affect 
the profitability of our loan products and the Bank as a whole. 

Fiscal challenges facing the U.S. government could negatively impact financial markets which in turn could have an 
adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.  

Many of our investment securities are issued by the U.S. government and government agencies and sponsored entities. As a 
result of uncertain domestic political conditions, including the federal government shutdown in 2019 and potential future federal 
government shutdowns, the possibility of the federal government defaulting on its obligations for a period of time due to debt 
ceiling limitations or other unresolved political issues, investments in financial instruments issued or guaranteed by the federal 
government pose economic and liquidity risks. Following the government shutdown in 2011, Standard & Poor’s lowered its 
long term sovereign credit rating on the United States from AAA to AA+. A further downgrade or a downgrade by other rating 
agencies, as well as sovereign debt issues facing the governments of other countries, could have a material adverse impact 
on financial markets and economic conditions in the United States and worldwide. In addition, the U.S. government and the 
governments of other countries took steps to stabilize the financial system, including investing in financial institutions, and 
implementing programs to improve general economic conditions, but there can be no assurances that these efforts will restore 
long-term stability and that they will not result in adverse unintended consequences. 

Our operations are affected significantly by interest rate levels and we are vulnerable to changes in interest rates.

We incur interest rate risk. Our income and cash flows and the value of our assets depend to a great extent on the difference 
between the interest rates we earn on interest-earning assets, such as loans and investment securities, and the interest rates 
we pay on interest-bearing liabilities such as deposits and borrowings. These rates are highly sensitive to many factors beyond 
our control, including general economic conditions and policies of various governmental and regulatory agencies, particularly 
of the Federal Reserve. Changes in monetary policy, including changes in interest rates, significantly influence the interest we 
earn on our loans and investment securities and the amount of interest we pay on deposits and borrowings. Although the 
Federal Reserve cut its benchmark short-term interest rate three times in 25 basis point increments in 2019, reversing nearly 
all of 2018’s rate increases of 100 basis points; interest rates had moved above their recent historical lows after the Financial 
crisis of 2007 due to the rate increases since 2016; specifically, one 25 basis point increase in fiscal 2016 and three 25 basis 
point increases in fiscal 2017. However, in response to the economic conditions resulting from the outbreak of the COVID-19 
pandemic, the Federal Reserve’s target federal funds rate is been reduced nearly to 0%. Accordingly, the yield on our assets 
may decline to a greater extent than the decline in our cost of interest-bearing liabilities which, in turn, could reduce our net 
interest margin and spread and net income.

The Bank also entered into several interest rate swap contracts to manage our fair value and cash flow exposures to changes 
in benchmark interest rates. The periodic net settlements of these interest rate swaps could either result in a pay or receive 
position dependent upon the associated benchmark interest rate compared to the associated contractual terms.  See Risk 
Factors—“The planned phase out of LIBOR as a financial benchmark presents risks to the financial instruments originated or 
held by Signature Bank.”

If the rate of interest we pay on our deposits and other borrowings increases more than the rate of interest we earn on our 
loans and other investments, our net interest income and, therefore, our earnings could be materially adversely affected. Our 
earnings could also be materially adversely affected if the interest rates on our loans and other investments fall more quickly 
than those on our deposits and other borrowings or if they remain low relative to the rates on our deposits and other 
borrowings. Furthermore, an increase in interest rates may negatively affect the market value of securities in our investment 
portfolio. Our fixed-rate securities, generally, are more negatively affected by these increases. A reduction in the market value 
of our portfolio will increase the unrealized loss position of our available-for-sale investments. Based upon our current interest 
rate swap strategy, a reduction in interest rates could also negatively impact the net settlement of our interest rate swaps and 
the corresponding net interest income.

Any of these events could materially adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition. For a discussion of our 
interest rate risk management process, see “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”

The planned phase out of LIBOR as a financial benchmark presents risks to the financial instruments originated or 
held by Signature Bank.

The London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) is the reference rate used for many of our transactions, including our lending 
and borrowing and our purchase and sale of securities, as well as the derivatives that we use to manage risk related to such 
transactions. However, a reduced volume of interbank unsecured term borrowing coupled with recent legal and regulatory 
proceedings related to rate manipulation by certain financial institutions has led to international reconsideration of LIBOR as a 
financial benchmark. The United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”), which regulates the process for establishing 
LIBOR, announced in July 2017 that the sustainability of LIBOR cannot be guaranteed. Accordingly, the FCA intends to stop 
persuading, or compelling, banks to submit to LIBOR after 2021. Until such time, however, FCA panel banks have agreed to 
continue to support LIBOR. It is impossible to predict what benchmark rate(s) may replace LIBOR or how LIBOR will be 
determined for purposes of financial instruments that are currently referencing LIBOR if and when it ceases to exist. The 
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Federal Reserve Board, in conjunction with the Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of 
large U.S. financial institutions, is considering replacing the U.S. dollar LIBOR with a new index calculated by short-term 
repurchase agreements, backed by U.S. Treasury securities ("SOFR"). Because of the difference in how it is constructed, 
SOFR may diverge significantly from LIBOR in a range of situations and market conditions. SOFR is observed and backward 
looking, which stands in contrast with LIBOR under the current methodology, which is an estimated forward-looking rate and 
relies, to some degree, on the expert judgment of submitting panel members. Given that SOFR is an overnight secured rate 
backed by government securities, it will be a rate that does not take into account bank credit risk or term (as is the case with 
LIBOR). SOFR is therefore likely to be lower than LIBOR and is less likely to correlate with the funding costs of financial 
institutions. The American Financial Exchange (“AFX”) has also created the American Interbank Offered Rate (“Ameribor”) as 
another potential replacement for LIBOR. Ameribor is calculated daily as the volume-weighted average interest rate of the 
overnight unsecured loans on AFX. Because of the difference in how it is constructed, Ameribor may diverge significantly from 
LIBOR in a range of situations and market conditions. It remains to be seen whether SOFR and/or Ameribor are accepted by 
financial markets and the Bank’s counterparties and customers as a replacement benchmark rate for LIBOR. The uncertainty 
surrounding potential reforms, including with respect to factors such as the use of alternative, market-based reference rates, 
changes to the methods and processes used to calculate rates, the quality of the data upon which rates will be based, and 
how closely rates will track to LIBOR may limit the extent to which markets accept alternative rates, which may, in turn, have 
an adverse effect on the trading market for LIBOR-based securities, loan yields, and the amounts received and paid on 
derivatives instruments. In addition, the implementation of LIBOR reform proposals may result in increased compliance costs 
and operational costs, including costs related to continued participation in LIBOR.

We are vulnerable to illiquid market conditions, resulting in the potential for significant declines in the fair value of 
our investment portfolio.

In cases of illiquid or dislocated marketplaces, there may not be an available market for certain securities in our portfolio. For 
example, mortgage-related assets have experienced, and are likely to continue to experience, periods of illiquidity, caused by, 
among other things, an absence of a willing buyer or an established market for these assets, or legal or contractual restrictions 
on sale. Shifts in market conditions may create dislocations in the market for bank-collateralized pooled trust preferred 
securities and may limit other securities that we hold. Adverse market conditions that include bank failures could result in a 
significant decline in the fair value of these securities. We have in the past, and may in the future, be required to recognize the 
credit component of the additional credit related impairments as a charge to current earnings resulting from the decline in the 
fair value of these securities.

We primarily invest in mortgage-backed obligations and such obligations may be impacted by market dislocations, 
declining home values and prepayment risk, which may lead to volatility in cash flow and market risk and declines in 
the value of our investment portfolio.

Our investment portfolio largely consists of mortgage-backed obligations primarily secured by pools of mortgages on single-
family residences. The value of mortgage-backed obligations in our investment portfolio may fluctuate for several reasons, 
including (i) delinquencies and defaults on the mortgages underlying such obligations, particularly if unemployment and under-
employment rates were to return to elevated levels, (ii) falling home prices, (iii) lack of a liquid market for such obligations, and 
(iv) uncertainties in respect of government-sponsored enterprises such as the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie 
Mae”) or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”), which guarantee such obligations. Home values have 
declined significantly prior to and in the aftermath of the financial crisis. Although home prices have stabilized in many housing 
markets in recent years, if the value of homes were to materially decline, the fair value of the mortgage-backed obligations in 
which we invest may also decline. Any such decline in the fair value of mortgage-backed obligations, or perceived market 
uncertainty about their fair value, could adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.

In addition, when we acquire a mortgage-backed security, we anticipate that the underlying mortgages will prepay at a 
projected rate, thereby generating an expected yield. Prepayment rates generally increase as interest rates fall and decrease 
when rates rise, but changes in prepayment rates are difficult to predict. In light of recent historically low interest rates, many of 
our mortgage-backed securities have a higher interest rate than prevailing market rates, resulting in a premium purchase price. 
In accordance with applicable accounting standards, we amortize the premium over the expected life of the mortgage-backed 
security. If the mortgage loans securing the mortgage-backed security prepay more rapidly than anticipated, we would have to 
amortize the premium on an accelerated basis, which would thereby adversely affect our profitability.

Adverse developments in the residential mortgage market may adversely affect the value of our investment portfolio.

The residential mortgage market in the United States may experience a variety of difficulties related to changing economic 
conditions, including those relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, increases in unemployment and under-employment rates, 
heightened defaults, credit losses and liquidity concerns. Historically, economic  disruptions, including those relating to recent 
international trade negotiations, have adversely affected the performance and fair value of many of the types of financial 
instruments in which we invest and similar future conditions may produce the same impact. Many residential mortgage-backed 
securities have been downgraded by rating agencies over the past decade. As a result of these difficulties and changed 
economic conditions, many companies operating in the mortgage sector failed and others faced serious operating and 
financial challenges during the credit-crisis. In the aftermath of the financial crisis, the Federal Reserve took certain actions in 
an effort to ameliorate market conditions; however, its ability to do so in the future may be limited by political, economic and 
legal factors and any such efforts may be ineffective. While the housing market has stabilized and economic conditions 
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improved, as a result of these factors, among others, the market for these securities may be adversely affected for a significant 
period of time.

Adverse conditions in the residential mortgage market also negatively impacted other sectors in which the issuers of securities 
in which we invest operate, which adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect, the fair value of such securities, 
including private collateralized mortgage obligations and bank-collateralized pooled trust preferred securities, in our investment 
portfolio.

If the U.S. agencies or U.S. government-sponsored enterprises were unable to pay or to guarantee payments on their 
securities in which we invest, our results of operations would be adversely affected.

A large portion of our investment portfolio consists of mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations 
issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac and debentures issued by the Federal Home Loan Banks (“FHLBs”), 
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the FHLBs are U.S. government-sponsored enterprises but their 
guarantees and debt obligations are not backed by the full faith and credit of the United States.

The economic crisis of 2008 to 2010, especially as it relates to the residential mortgage market, adversely affected the 
financial results and stock values of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and resulted in the value of the debt securities issued or 
guaranteed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac becoming unstable and relatively illiquid compared to prior periods. In recent 
years, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were able to overcome the market disruptions of the economic crisis and have been 
profitable since 2013. However, the future of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac remains uncertain. Members of Congress have 
recently introduced bills that would reform the housing finance system and government-sponsored enterprises. Among these 
bills was a proposal to wind down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac over a period of time, and to restrict the activities of these 
enterprises before the wind down. Alternatively, there have been proposals to privatize Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. We are 
unable to predict whether these other proposals will be adopted, and, if so, what the effect of the adopted reform would be. 
U.S. debt ceiling and budget deficit concerns in recent years have increased the possibility of additional U.S. government 
shutdowns, credit-rating downgrades and economic slowdowns, or a recession in the United States. Although U.S. lawmakers 
have passed legislation to raise the federal debt ceiling on multiple occasions, ratings agencies have lowered or threatened to 
lower the long-term sovereign credit rating on the United States. In recent years uncertainty regarding the U.S. Federal budget 
has increased as the current Administration and Congress work on their future budget plans. Any further downgrades to the 
U.S. government’s sovereign credit rating or its perceived creditworthiness could adversely affect the ability of the U.S. 
government to support the financial stability of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the FHLBs.

Should the U.S. government contain, reduce or eliminate support for the financial stability of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the 
FHLBs, the ability for those entities to operate as independent entities is questionable. Any failure by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac 
or the FHLBs to honor their guarantees of mortgage-backed securities, debt or other obligations will have severe ramifications 
for the capital markets and the financial industry. Any failure by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or the FHLBs to pay principal or 
interest on their mortgage guarantees and debentures when due could also materially adversely affect our results of 
operations and financial condition.

The vast majority of our business operations and substantially all of our real estate collateral are concentrated in the 
New York metropolitan area, and a downturn in the economy and the real estate market of the New York metropolitan 
area, as well as changes in rent regulation laws, may have a material adverse effect on our business.

As of December 31, 2020, approximately 59.2% of the collateral for the loans in our portfolio consisted of real estate. 
Substantially all of the collateral is located in the New York metropolitan area. As a result, our financial condition and results of 
operations have been and may in the future be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, changes in the economy and the real 
estate market of the New York metropolitan area, including policy changes enacted by local governments affecting multi-family 
borrowers, specifically the Housing Stability and Tenant Protection Act of 2019 which became effective in September 2019. 
The new rent regulation law repealed vacancy decontrol and high-income deregulation, reformed rent increases for capital 
improvements, and capped the maximum rent increase for rent-controlled tenants. In the late second and early third quarter of 
2019, the Bank completed an assessment of the potential impact of this new rent regulation law on its existing multi-family 
borrowers and evaluated its current underwriting standards related to potential future multi-family borrowers and enacted risk 
rating changes, as deemed necessary. A prolonged period of economic recession or other adverse public health, economic or 
political conditions in the New York metropolitan area may result in an increase in nonpayment of loans, a decrease in 
collateral value, and an increase in our ACLLL. 
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In addition, our geographic concentration in the New York metropolitan area heightens our exposure to future terrorist attacks 
or other disasters, which may adversely affect our business and that of our clients and result in a material decrease in our 
revenues. Future terrorist attacks or other disasters cannot be predicted, and their occurrence can be expected to further 
negatively affect the U.S. economy generally and specifically the regional market in which we operate.

Since February 2019, when the Bank opened a full service branch office in San Francisco, CA, the Bank’s first brick-and-
mortar office on the West Coast, we have significantly increased our footprint and presence on the West Coast with openings 
of four new private client banking offices in Los Angeles and the onboarding of 18 private banking teams which consist of 76 
banking professionals on the West Coast during 2020. The same economic risk factors that apply to the portion of our 
business concentrated in the New York metropolitan area also apply to our business operations on the West Coast. Our overall 
risk exposure will increase as our business operations in that region continue to expand.

Inflation or deflation could adversely affect our business and financial results.

Inflation can adversely affect us by increasing costs of capital and labor and reducing the purchasing power of our cash 
resources. In addition, inflation is often accompanied by higher interest rates, which may negatively affect the market value of 
securities in our investment portfolio. Current or future efforts by the government to stimulate the economy may increase the 
risk of significant inflation and its adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Alternatively, a significant period of deflation could cause a decrease in overall spending and borrowing levels. This could lead 
to a further deterioration in economic conditions, including an increase in the rate of unemployment and under-employment. 
Deflation is often accompanied by lower interest rates, which may lower the rate of interest we earn on our loans and may 
have a material adverse effect on our net interest income and earnings. Renewed declines in oil and gas prices could increase 
the risk of significant deflation, which would have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Strategic Risks Related to Our Business

We may be unable to successfully implement our growth strategy.

Since our initial public offering in 2004, we have experienced rapid and significant growth. Our total consolidated assets have 
grown from $3.36 billion at December 31, 2004 to $73.89 billion at December 31, 2020. We intend to continue to pursue our 
strategy for growth. There can be no assurance, however, that we will continue to experience such rapid growth, or any 
growth, in the future. Accordingly, our growth prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties 
encountered by banking institutions pursuing growth strategies. In order to execute this strategy successfully, we must, among 
other things:

• assess market conditions for growth;

• build our client base;

• maintain credit quality;

• properly manage risks, including operational risks, credit risks, interest rate risks and compliance risks;

• attract sufficient core deposits to fund our anticipated loan growth;

• identify and attract new banking group directors and teams;

• identify and pursue suitable opportunities for opening new banking locations; and

• maintain sufficient capital to satisfy regulatory requirements.

Our ability to grow successfully will depend on our ability to execute these objectives, as well as on factors beyond our control, 
such as national and regional economic conditions and interest rate trends. Failure to manage our growth effectively could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, future prospects, financial condition or results of operations and could 
adversely affect our ability to successfully implement our growth strategy.

We may be unable to successfully integrate new business lines into our existing operations.

To further lay the necessary groundwork for future growth, we launched several new businesses and executed certain key 
initiatives since 2018, including the launch of a Fund Banking Division in October 2018, and our digital payments platform, 
Signet, in January 2019, which enables real-time payments between our commercial clients. In addition we announced our 
entry into venture banking in March 2019, and established our mortgage servicing banking initiative in July 2019 with the 
appointment of the Specialized Mortgage Banking Solutions team, specializing in providing treasury management product and 
services to residential and commercial mortgage servicers. After opening our flagship office in San Francisco in February 
2019, which marked the commencement of our West Coast operations, the Bank has executed on our proven model by 
attracting new leadership for our West Coast initiative and onboarded a total of 18 teams in both San Francisco and the 
greater Los Angeles marketplace during 2020. Together with our San Francisco office, the Bank now has a total of 23 private 
banking teams, which consist of 76 banking professionals, on the West Coast as of December 31, 2020. 
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Although we continue to expend substantial managerial, operating and financial resources as our business grows, we may be 
unable to successfully continue the integration of these new business lines, and we may be unable to realize the expected 
revenue contributions. Moreover, we may not be as successful in managing new business lines as we have been for business 
lines with which we have more experience. We will be required to employ and maintain qualified personnel, and as our 
business expands into new and existing markets, we may be required to install additional operational and control systems. Any 
failure to successfully manage this integration may adversely affect our future financial condition and results of operations.

We compete with many larger financial institutions which have substantially greater financial and other resources 
than we have.

There is significant competition among commercial banking institutions in the New York metropolitan area and, also, on the 
West Coast where we recently opened our first full-service private client banking office in February 2019. We compete with 
bank holding companies, national and state-chartered commercial banks, savings and loan associations, consumer finance 
companies, credit unions, securities brokerage firms, insurance companies, mortgage banking companies, money market 
mutual funds, asset-based non-bank lenders and other financial institutions. Many of these competitors have substantially 
greater financial resources, lending limits and larger office networks than we do, and are able to offer a broader range of 
products and services than we can. Because we compete against larger institutions, our failure to compete effectively for 
deposit, loan and other clients in our markets could cause us to lose market share or slow our growth rate and could have a 
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

The market for banking and brokerage services is extremely competitive and allows consumers to access financial products 
and compare interest rates and services from numerous financial institutions located across the United States. As a result, 
clients of all financial institutions, including those within our target market, are sensitive to competitive interest rate levels and 
services. Our future success in attracting and retaining client deposits depends, in part, on our ability to offer competitive rates 
and services. Competition with respect to the rates we pay on deposits relative to the rates we obtain on our loans and other 
investments may put pressure on our profitability. Our clients are also particularly attracted to the level of personalized service 
we can provide. Our business could be impaired if our clients believe other banks provide better service or if they come to 
believe that higher rates are more important to them than better service.

In addition, the financial services industry is undergoing rapid technological changes, with frequent introductions of new 
technology-driven products and services including internet services, cryptocurrencies and payment systems. In addition to 
improving the ability to serve clients, the effective use of technology increases efficiency and enables financial institutions to 
reduce long-term costs. These technological advancements also have made it possible for non-financial institutions, such as 
the “fintech companies” and marketplace lenders, to offer products and services that have traditionally been offered by 
financial institutions. Federal and state banking agencies continue to deliberate over the regulatory treatment of fintech 
companies, including whether the agencies are authorized to grant charters or licenses to such companies and whether it 
would be appropriate to do so in consideration of several regulatory and economic factors. The increased demand for, and 
availability of, alternative payment systems and currencies not only increases competition for such services, but has created a 
more complex operating environment that, in certain cases, may require additional or different controls to manage fraud, 
operational, legal and compliance risks.

As noted above, the Bank launched its proprietary commercial payments platform, Signet, in 2019. The platform utilizes a 
blockchain infrastructure that enables the Bank’s customers to make payments in U.S. dollars in real-time, without the 
assistance of third-party intermediaries, through an asset tokenization and redemption process. Our future success will 
depend, in part, upon our ability to continue to address the needs of our clients by using innovative technologies to provide 
products and services that will satisfy client demands for convenience and security, as well as to create additional efficiencies 
in our operations. New technologies, such as the blockchain and stablecoin technologies used by the Signet platform, could 
require us to spend more to modify or adopt our products to attract and retain clients or to match products and services offered 
by our competitors, including fintech companies. New technologies also expose us to additional operational, financial, and 
regulatory risks. Because many of our competitors have substantially greater resources to invest in technological 
improvements than we do, or, at present, operate in a less-burdensome regulatory environment, these institutions could pose 
a significant competitive threat to us.

Government intervention in the banking industry has the potential to change the competitive landscape.

Historically there has been significant government intervention in the banking industry. In response to the economic crisis of 
2008, the federal government took extraordinary measures to stabilize the financial system, including through equity 
investments, liquidity facilities and guarantees. Although the Dodd-Frank Act limited the ability of the federal government to 
provide emergency assistance to individual financial institutions, it is possible that the federal government could take certain 
steps to intervene in the banking industry in order to stabilize the financial system in the event of future disruptions. The federal 
government’s past actions have affected the competitive landscape in certain respects. For example, clients may view some of 
our competitors as being “too big to fail,” meaning that such competitors may thereby benefit from an implicit U.S. government 
guarantee beyond that provided to banks generally. Any such intervention, or the perception of the possibility of such 
intervention, could adversely affect our competitive standing and profitability. Further, rulemaking and other administrative 
actions taken by the federal banking agencies in response to the COVID-19 pandemic have impacted the Bank’s operations 
and risk management. In addition, as a result of both the pandemic itself and the economic conditions relating to the 
pandemic, the needs of certain of our customers, and the preferred delivery of banking services, has been affected in certain 
respects. As a result of these dynamics, the Bank’s ability to compete for the business of certain customers also may be 
affected.
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In addition, certain government programs introduced during the economic crisis may give rise to new competitors. For 
instance, non-bank lenders, some pursuing non-traditional models, which are not, at present, subject to regulatory capital limits 
or bank supervision, have become active competitors. Certain state regulatory agencies have adopted “regulatory sandboxes,” 
which provide for certain exemptions from licensing and other functional regulatory requirements for fintech companies that 
provide certain innovative financial products and services. In December 2016, the OCC announced that it would explore the 
possibility of using its chartering authority to grant certain fintech companies a special purpose national bank charter. In July 
2018, the OCC adopted a policy statement providing that it would begin accepting applications for special purpose national 
bank charters from fintech companies which are engaged in the business of banking, but do not take deposits. The OCC’s 
authority to issue special purpose bank charters to non-bank fintech companies continues to be subject to ongoing litigation. 
Nevertheless, these developments are likely to result in increased competition for our clients’ banking business. Similarly, the 
FDIC introduced a bidding process for institutions that have been or will be placed into receivership by federal or state 
regulators and made the process open to existing financial institutions, as well as groups without pre-existing operations. This 
process and other programs like it that exist now or that may be developed in the future could give rise to a significant number 
of new competitors, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We may not be able to acquire suitable client relationship groups or manage our growth.

A principal component of our growth strategy is to increase market penetration and product diversification by recruiting group 
directors and their teams. However, we believe that there is a limited number of potential group directors and teams that will 
meet our development strategy and other recruiting criteria. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will identify potential 
group directors and teams that will contribute to our growth. Even if suitable candidates are identified, we cannot assure you 
that we will be successful in attracting them, as they may opt instead to join our competitors.

Even if we are successful in attracting these group directors and teams, we cannot assure you that they will be successful in 
bringing additional clients and business to us. Furthermore, the addition of new teams involves several risks including risks 
relating to the quality of the book of business that may be contributed, adverse personnel relations and loss of clients because 
of a change of institutional identity. In addition, the process of integrating new teams could divert management time and 
resources from attention to existing clients. We or such directors or teams also may face litigation in some instances brought 
by former employers of these individuals relating to their separation from the former employer. We cannot assure you that we 
will be able to successfully integrate any new team that we may acquire or that any new team that we acquire will enhance our 
business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

Provisions in our charter documents may delay or prevent our acquisition by a third party.

Our restated Certificate of Organization (as amended) and By-laws (as amended) contain provisions that may make it more 
difficult for a third party to acquire control of us without the approval of our Board of Directors. For example, our By-laws 
contain provisions that separate our Board of Directors into three separate classes with staggered terms of office and 
provisions that restrict the ability of shareholders to take action without a meeting. These provisions could delay, prevent or 
deter a merger, acquisition, tender offer, proxy contest or other transaction that might otherwise result in our stockholders 
receiving a premium over the market price for their common stock.

There are substantial regulatory limitations on changes in control of the Bank.

Federal law prohibits a company or a group of persons deemed to be “acting in concert” from, directly or indirectly, acquiring 
25% or more (5% if the acquirer is a bank holding company) of any class of our voting stock or obtaining the ability to control in 
any manner the election of a majority of our directors or otherwise to direct the management or policies of our company 
without prior application to and the approval of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. Moreover, any 
individual or group of individuals or entities deemed to be acting in concert who acquires 10% or more of our voting stock or 
otherwise obtains control over Signature Bank would be required to file a notice with the FDIC under the Change in Bank 
Control Act and to receive a non-objection to such acquisition of control. Finally, any person or group of persons deemed to be 
acting in concert would be required to obtain approval of the DFS before acquiring 10% or more of our voting stock. See 
“Regulation and Supervision—Change in Control.” Accordingly, prospective investors need to be aware of and comply with 
these requirements, if applicable, in connection with any purchase of shares of our common stock. This may effectively reduce 
the number of investors who might be interested in investing in our stock and also limits the ability of investors to purchase us 
or cause a change in control.

Operational Risks Related to Our Business

We are vulnerable to downgrades in credit ratings for securities within our investment portfolio.

Although approximately 99.4% of our portfolio of investment securities was rated investment grade or better as of 
December 31, 2020, we remain exposed to potential investment rating downgrades by credit rating agencies of the issuers 
and guarantors of securities in our investment portfolio. A significant volume of downgrades would negatively impact the fair 
value of our securities portfolio, resulting in a potential increase in the unrealized loss in our investment portfolio, which could 
negatively affect our earnings. Rating downgrades of securities to below investment grade level and other events may result in 
impairment of such securities, requiring recognition of the credit component of the other-than-temporary impairment as a 
charge to current earnings.
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There are material risks involved in commercial lending, which generally involves a higher risk than residential 
mortgage loans, that could adversely affect our business.

Commercial loans represented approximately 99.7% of our total loan portfolio as of December 31, 2020, and our business 
plan calls for continued efforts to increase our assets invested in commercial loans. Our credit-rated commercial loans include 
commercial and industrial loans to our privately-owned business clients along with loans to commercial borrowers that are 
secured by real estate (commercial property, multi-family residential property, 1–4 family residential property, and acquisition, 
development and construction). Commercial loans generally involve a higher degree of credit risk than residential mortgage 
loans do, in part, to their larger average size and less readily-marketable collateral. In addition, unlike residential mortgage 
loans, commercial loans generally depend on the cash flow of the borrower’s business to service the debt. 

A significant portion of our commercial loans depend primarily on the liquidation of assets securing the loan for repayment, 
such as real estate, inventory and accounts receivable. These loans carry incrementally higher risk, because their repayment 
often depends solely on the financial performance of the borrower’s business. In addition, the federal banking agencies, 
including the FDIC, have applied increased regulatory scrutiny to institutions with commercial loan portfolios that are fast 
growing or large relative to the institutions’ total capital. For a discussion of supervisory issues associated with commercial real 
estate portfolio concentration, see “Regulation and Supervision—Other Regulatory Requirements.”

For all of these reasons, increases in nonperforming commercial loans could result in operating losses, impaired liquidity and 
the erosion of our capital, and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Credit 
market tightening could adversely affect our commercial borrowers through declines in their business activities and adversely 
impact their overall liquidity through the diminished availability of other borrowing sources or otherwise. 

As the size of our loan portfolio grows, the risks associated with our loan portfolio may be exacerbated.

Our ability to grow our loan portfolio safely depends on maintaining disciplined and prudent underwriting standards and 
ensuring that our banking teams follow those standards. As we grow our business and hire additional banking teams, the size 
of our loan portfolio grows, which can exacerbate the risks associated with that portfolio. Although we attempt to minimize our 
credit risk through certain procedures, including stress testing and monitoring the concentration of our loans within specific 
industries, we cannot assure you that these procedures will remain as effective when the size of our loan portfolio increases. 
This weakening of our standards for any reason, such as to seek higher yielding loans, or a lack of discipline or diligence by 
our employees in underwriting and monitoring loans, may result in an increase in charge-offs or underperforming loans, which 
could adversely affect our business.

Our failure to effectively manage our credit risk could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and 
results of operations.

There are risks inherent in making any loan, including repayment risks associated with, among other things, the period of time 
over which the loan may be repaid, changes in economic and industry conditions, dealings with individual borrowers and 
uncertainties as to the future value of collateral. Although we attempt to minimize our credit risk by monitoring the 
concentration of our loans within specific industries and through what we believe to be prudent loan application approval 
procedures, we cannot assure you that such monitoring and approval procedures will reduce these lending risks.

In addition, we are subject to credit risk in our investment portfolio. Our investments include debentures, mortgage-backed 
securities and collateralized mortgage obligations issued or guaranteed by U.S. government-sponsored enterprises, such as 
Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan Banks, as well as collateralized mortgage obligations, bank-
collateralized pooled trust preferred securities and other debt securities issued by private issuers. The issuers of our trust 
preferred securities include several depositary institutions that suffered significant losses during the economic crisis. While the 
issuers of our trust preferred securities have stabilized and recapitalized, should the economy weaken, credit risk may affect 
the value of our holdings, as we are exposed to credit risks associated with the issuers of the debt securities in which we 
invest. Further, with respect to the mortgage-backed securities in which we invest, we also are affected by the credit risk 
associated with the borrowers of the loans underlying these securities.

Lack of seasoning of the mortgage loans underlying our investment portfolio may increase the risk of credit defaults 
in the future.

The mortgage loans underlying certain mortgage-backed obligations in which we invest also may not begin to show signs of 
credit deterioration until they have been outstanding for some period of time. Because the mortgage loans underlying certain of 
the mortgage-backed obligations in our investment portfolio are relatively new, the level of delinquencies and defaults on such 
loans may increase in the future, thus adversely affecting the mortgage-backed obligations we hold.

Our Allowance for Credit Losses for Loans and Leases ("ACLLL") may not be sufficient to absorb actual losses.

Experience in the banking industry indicates that a portion of our loans will become delinquent, and that some of these loans 
may be only partially repaid or may never be repaid at all. Despite our underwriting criteria, we experience losses for reasons 
beyond our control, including general economic conditions. A prolonged period of economic recession or other adverse 
economic conditions in the New York metropolitan area may result in an increase in nonpayment of loans, a decrease in 
collateral value and an increase in our ACLLL. Although we believe that our ACLLL is maintained at a level adequate to absorb 
the current expected lifetime losses in our loan portfolio, these estimates of loan losses are necessarily subjective and their 
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accuracy depends on the actual outcome of future events, some of which are beyond our control. We may need to make 
significant and unanticipated increases in our loss allowances in the future, which would materially adversely affect our 
financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, bank regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their supervisory functions, periodically review our loan portfolio 
and related ACLLL. These regulatory agencies may require us to increase our provision for credit losses for loans and leases 
or to recognize further loan charge-offs based upon their judgments, which may be different from ours. In addition, changes to 
the accounting standards that govern our financial reporting related to our loans may result in unanticipated effects on the 
timing or amount of our loan losses. An increase in the ACLLL required by these regulatory agencies or the unanticipated 
recognition of losses on our loans could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

We rely on the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York for secondary and contingent liquidity sources.

We utilize the FHLB of New York for secondary and contingent sources of liquidity. Also, from time to time, we utilize this 
borrowing source to capitalize on market opportunities to fund investment and loan initiatives. Our FHLB borrowings were 
approximately $2.84 billion at December 31, 2020. Because we rely on the FHLB for liquidity, if we were unable to borrow from 
the FHLB, we would need to find alternative sources of liquidity, which may not be available or may be available only at a 
higher cost and on terms that do not match the structure of our liabilities as well as FHLB borrowings do.

As a member of the FHLB, we are required to purchase capital stock of the FHLB as partial collateral and to pledge 
marketable securities or loans for our borrowings. At December 31, 2020, we held $407.36 million of FHLB stock. As of 
December 31, 2020, the Bank had pledged $10.45 billion of commercial real estate loans through a blanket assignment to 
secure borrowings from the FHLB to meet collateral requirements of $3.49 billion on FHLB borrowings. While not pledged, 
FHLB held also $351.4 million of securities as of December 31, 2020 as the custodian. These securities can be pledged 
towards future borrowings, as necessary.

We are dependent upon key personnel.

Our success depends to a significant extent upon the performance of certain key executive officers and employees, the loss of 
any of whom could have a material adverse effect on our business. Our key executive officers and employees include our 
Chairman, Scott A. Shay, our President and Chief Executive Officer, Joseph J. DePaolo, and our Vice-Chairman, John 
Tamberlane. Although we have entered into agreements with Messrs. Shay and DePaolo, we have not entered into an 
agreement with Mr. Tamberlane and we generally do not have employment agreements with our key personnel. We adopted 
an equity incentive plan and a change of control plan for key personnel in connection with the consummation of our initial 
public offering. Even though we are party to these agreements and sponsor these plans, we cannot assure you that we will be 
successful in retaining any of our key executive officers and employees.

Our business is built around group directors, who are principally responsible for our client relationships. A principal component 
of our strategy is to increase market penetration by recruiting and retaining experienced group directors, their groups, loan 
officers and other management professionals. Competition for experienced personnel within the commercial banking, specialty 
finance, brokerage and insurance industries is strong and we may not be successful in attracting and retaining the personnel 
we require. Our ability to develop new lines of business such as our Fund Banking Division and Signature Public Funding, and 
our ability to expand into new digital products and new geographic markets, are also dependent on our ability to attract and 
retain key personnel. We cannot assure you that our recruiting efforts will be successful or that they will enhance our business, 
results of operations or financial condition.

In addition, our group directors or other key professionals may leave us at any time and for any reason. They are not under 
contractual restrictions to remain with us and would not be bound by non-competition agreements or non-solicitation 
agreements if they were to leave us. If a number of our key group directors or other key professionals were to leave, our 
business could be materially adversely affected. We cannot assure you that such losses will not occur.

Our SBA division is also dependent upon relationships our SBA professionals have developed with clients from whom we 
purchase loans and upon relationships with investors in pooled securities. The loss of a key member of our SBA division team 
may lead to the loss of existing clients. We cannot assure you that we will be able to recruit qualified replacements with a 
comparable level of expertise and relationship base.

Curtailment of government guaranteed loan programs could affect our SBA business.

Our SBA business relies on the purchasing, pooling and selling of government guaranteed loans, in particular those 
guaranteed by the SBA. From time to time, the government agencies that guarantee these loans reach their internal limits and 
cease to guarantee loans for a period of time. In addition, these agencies may change their rules for loans or Congress may 
adopt legislation that would have the effect of discontinuing or changing the programs. If changes to the SBA program occur, 
the volumes of loans that qualify for government guarantees could decline. Levels of activity may also be impacted by 
temporary government shutdowns. Lower volumes of origination of government guaranteed loans may reduce the profitability 
of our SBA business. 

We rely extensively on outsourcing to provide cost-effective operational support.

We make extensive use of outsourcing to provide cost-effective operational support with service levels consistent with large 
bank operations, including key banking, brokerage and insurance systems. For example, under the clearing agreement 
Signature Securities has entered into with National Financial Services, LLC (a Fidelity Investments company), National 
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Financial Services, LLC processes all securities transactions for the account of Signature Securities and the accounts of its 
clients. Services of the clearing firm include billing and credit extension and control, receipt, custody and delivery of securities. 
Signature Securities is dependent on the ability of its clearing firm to process securities transactions in an orderly fashion. In 
addition, Fidelity Information Services provides us with all our core banking applications. Our outsourcing agreements can 
generally be terminated by either party upon notice. Although we maintain contingency plans for the transitioning of outsourced 
activities to other third parties, the termination of some of our outsourcing agreements, including the agreements with National 
Financial Services, LLC and Fidelity Information Services, could result in a disruption of service that could, even if temporary, 
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our third-party outsourcing relationships are subject to evolving regulatory requirements regarding vendor management. 
Federal banking guidance requires us to conduct due diligence and oversight in third party business relationships and to 
control risks in the relationship to the same extent as if the activity were directly performed by the Bank. In July 2016, the FDIC 
proposed new Guidance for Third Party Lending to set forth safety and soundness and consumer compliance measures FDIC-
supervised institutions should follow when lending through a business relationship with a third party. In June 2017, the FDIC 
adopted supervisory guidance on model risk management which builds upon previously-issued risk management guidance 
and requires us to, among other things, validate third-party vendors and products in a manner consistent with FDIC 
supervisory expectations and our internal risk management protocols. If our regulators conclude that we are not exercising 
proper oversight and control over third-party vendors, or that third parties are not performing their services appropriately, then 
we may be subject to enhanced supervisory scrutiny or enforcement actions. These regulatory changes or enforcement 
actions could result in additional costs and a material adverse effect on our business and our ability to use third party services 
to receive cost-effective operational support.

Decreases in trading volumes or prices could harm the business and profitability of Signature Securities.

Declines in the volume of securities trading and in market liquidity generally result in lower revenues from our brokerage and 
related activities. The profitability of our Signature Securities business would be adversely affected by a decline in revenues 
because a significant portion of its costs are fixed. For these reasons, decreases in trading volume or securities prices could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to pay cash dividends or engage in share repurchases is restricted.

On July 18, 2018, the Bank declared its inaugural quarterly common stock cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or a total of $31.0 
million, which was paid on August 15, 2018 to our common stockholders of record at the close of business on August 1, 2018. 
The Bank has declared and paid a quarterly cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or approximately $30.0 to $31.0 million each 
quarter from the third quarter of 2018 through the third quarter of 2020. On January 20, 2021, the Bank declared its fourth 
quarter 2020 cash dividend of $0.56 per share to be paid on or after February 12, 2021 to common stockholders of record at 
the close of business on February 1, 2021.

In addition, on October 17, 2018, Bank stockholders approved our common stock repurchase program which provides the 
Bank the ability to repurchase common stock from shareholders in the open market up to $500.0 million. Share buybacks are 
also subject to regulatory approval, which were received for the repurchase program of up to $500.0 million in November 2018. 
We received shareholder and regulatory approval to continue the program in 2019. On February 19, 2020, the Board of 
Directors approved an amendment to the stock repurchase program that restored the Bank’s share repurchase authorization 
to an aggregate purchase amount of up to $500.0 million from the $220.9 million that was remaining under the original 
authorization as of December 31, 2019. The amended stock repurchase program was approved by the shareholders in April 
2020. The Bank has suspended any future repurchases of common stock given the COVID-19 circumstances since the end of 
the first quarter of 2020. As a result, no common stock was repurchased by the Bank during the remainder of 2020. During the 
third quarter of 2020, we received regulatory approval to extend the repurchase of the $170.8 million remaining under the 
original authorization to September 30, 2021. We will seek separate regulatory approval for the additional $279.1 million 
approved under the amended authorization. To date the Bank has repurchased 2,689,544 shares of common stock for a total 
of $329.2 million, and the amount remaining under the amended authorization was $450.0 million at December 31, 2020. 

Payments of dividends for our common and preferred stock will be subject to the prior approval by the FDIC if, after having 
paid a dividend we would be undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized or critically undercapitalized, and by the DFS 
under certain conditions. Our ability to pay dividends and to buy back shares will also depend upon the amount of cash 
available to us from our subsidiaries. Restrictions on our subsidiaries’ ability to make dividends or advances to us will tend to 
limit our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders. See “Regulation and Supervision—Restrictions on Dividends and Other 
Distributions.”

The loss of our deposit clients or substantial reduction of our deposit balances could force us to fund our business 
with more expensive and less stable funding sources.

Over the past five years, our deposits have increased from $26.77 billion as of December 31, 2015 to $63.32 billion as of 
December 31, 2020. This growth has been driven by several factors, including many investors’ desire for safer, more stable 
investments, such as bank deposits. Given our business model, our depositor base is more heavily weighted to larger 
uninsured deposits than many other banks. As of December 31, 2020, approximately 88% of our total deposits of $63.32
billion were not FDIC-insured.
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We have traditionally obtained funds principally through deposits. The interest rates paid for borrowings generally are fixed and 
medium to long-term in nature and typically exceed the interest rates paid on deposits. Deposit outflows can occur for a 
number of reasons, including because clients may seek investments with higher yields, clients with uninsured deposits may 
seek greater financial security during prolonged periods of extremely volatile and unstable market conditions or clients may 
simply prefer to do business with our competitors, or for other reasons. If a significant portion of our deposits were withdrawn 
we may need to rely more heavily on more expensive borrowings and other sources of funding to fund our business and meet 
withdrawal demands, adversely affecting our net interest margin. The occurrence of any of these events could materially and 
adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Downgrades of our credit rating could negatively affect our funding and liquidity by reducing our funding capacity 
and increasing our funding costs. 

Kroll Bond Rating Agency, Fitch Ratings Inc. and Moody's Investors Service are the full-service rating agencies (the “Rating 
Agencies”) that provide us with deposit and debt ratings which evaluate liquidity, asset quality, capital adequacy and earnings. 
The Rating Agencies continuously evaluate these ratings based on a number of factors, including standalone financial 
strength, as well as factors not entirely within our control, such as the Rating Agencies’ respective proprietary rating 
methodology and assumptions and conditions affecting the financial services industry and markets generally. We may not be 
able to maintain our current ratings. Downgrades of our deposit and debt ratings could negatively impact our ability to access 
the capital markets and other sources of funds as well as the costs of those funds, and our ability to maintain certain deposits. 
This could affect our growth, profitability, and financial condition, including our liquidity.

We may not be able to raise the additional funding needed for our operations.

If we are unable to generate profits and cash flow on a consistent basis, we may need to arrange for additional financing to 
support our business. Although we have completed a number of successful capital raising transactions, including our 2021 
public offering of 4,025,000 shares of our common stock, our 2020 issuances of $730.0 million aggregate principal amount of 
Noncumulative Perpetual Series A Preferred Stock and $375.0 million aggregate principal amount of Fixed-to-Floating Rate 
Subordinated Notes, our 2019 issuance of $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of Fixed-To-Floating Rate Subordinated 
Notes, our 2016 issuance of $260.0 million aggregate principal amount of Variable Rate Subordinated Notes, our 2016 public 
offering of 2,366,855 shares of our common stock and our 2014 public offering of 2,415,000 shares of our common stock, we 
cannot assure you that, if needed or desired, we would be able to obtain additional capital or financing on commercially 
reasonable terms or at all. Our failure to obtain sufficient capital or financing could have a material adverse effect on our 
growth, on our ability to compete effectively and on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our business may be adversely impacted by severe weather, acts of war or terrorism, public health issues and other 
external events.

Our primary markets are located near coastal waters, which could generate naturally occurring severe weather that could have 
a significant impact on our business. In addition, New York City remains a central target for potential civil unrest, acts of war or 
terrorism against the United States and other acts of violence or threats to national security and our operations and the 
operations of our vendors, suppliers and clients may be subject to disruption from a variety of causes, including work 
stoppages, financial difficulties, fire, earthquakes, flooding or other natural disasters. Moreover, a public health issue such as 
the COVID-19 pandemic or another major pandemic could adversely affect economic conditions. The United States and other 
countries have experienced, and may experience in the future, outbreaks of contagious diseases that affect public perception 
of health risk. In the event of a widespread, prolonged, actual or perceived outbreak of a contagious disease, our operations 
could be negatively impacted by a reduction in customer traffic, quarantines or closures of our offices and facilities, the decline 
in productivity of our key officers and employees or other factors. Such events could have a significant impact on our ability to 
conduct our business and could affect the ability of our borrowers to repay their loans, impair the value of the collateral 
securing our loans, and cause significant property damage, thus increasing our expenses and/or reducing our revenues. In 
addition, such events could affect the ability of our depositors to maintain their deposits with us, and adverse consequences 
may also result from corresponding disruption in the operations of our vendors, suppliers and clients, which could have a 
material effect upon our business. Although we have established disaster recovery policies and procedures, the occurrence of 
any such event could have a material adverse effect on our business which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on 
our financial condition and results of operations. See “Risk Factors––The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted our 
business and financial results, and the ultimate impact will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and 
cannot be predicted, including the scope and duration of the pandemic and actions taken currently or in the future by 
governmental authorities in response to the pandemic.”

Other changes in accounting standards or interpretation in new or existing standards could materially affect our 
financial results.

From time to time the FASB and the SEC change accounting regulations and reporting standards that govern our preparation 
of financial statements, and bank regulators often provide supervisory views and guidance regarding the implementation of 
these standards. In addition, the FASB, SEC and the bank regulators may revise their previous interpretations regarding 
existing accounting regulations and the application of these accounting standards. These changes in accounting regulations 
and reporting standards and revisions in accounting interpretations are out of our control and may have a material impact on 
our financial statements.
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Negative public opinion could damage our reputation and adversely affect our earnings.

Reputational risk, or the risk to our earnings and capital from negative public opinion, is inherent in our business. Negative 
public opinion can result from the actual or perceived manner in which we conduct our business activities; our management of 
actual or potential conflicts of interest and ethical issues; and our protection of confidential client information. Our brand and 
reputation may also be harmed by actions taken by third parties that we contract with to provide services to the extent such 
parties fail to meet their contractual, legal and regulatory obligations or act in a manner that is harmful to our clients. If we fail 
to supervise these relationships effectively, we could also be subject to regulatory enforcement, including fines and penalties. 
Negative public opinion can adversely affect our ability to keep and attract clients and can expose us to litigation and 
regulatory action. We take steps to minimize reputation risk in the way we conduct our business activities and deal with our 
clients, communities and vendors but our efforts may not be sufficient.

FDIC insurance premiums fluctuate materially, which could negatively affect our profitability.

The FDIC insures deposit accounts at certain financial institutions, including Signature Bank. Under FDIC regulations, we are 
required to pay premiums to the Deposit Insurance Fund (“DIF”) to maintain our deposit accounts’ required insurance. After the 
passage of the Dodd-Frank Act, the FDIC adopted new rules that redefined how deposit insurance assessments are 
calculated. The FDIC utilizes a risk-based premium system in which an institution pays premiums for deposit insurance on the 
institution’s average consolidated total assets minus average tangible equity. For large insured depository institutions, 
generally defined as those with at least $10 billion in total assets, the assessment rate schedules combine regulatory ratings, 
PCA capital evaluations, and financial measures into two scorecards, one for most large insured depository institutions and 
another for highly complex insured depository institutions, to calculate assessment rates. A highly complex institution is 
generally defined as an insured depository institution with more than $50 billion in total assets that is controlled by a parent 
company with more than $500 billion in total assets. Because of our organizational structure, Signature Bank is not viewed as 
“highly complex’ and is not likely to be viewed as such in the near future. The assessment rate schedule includes an 
adjustment for significant amounts of brokered deposits applicable to large institutions that are either less than well capitalized 
or have a composite rating of “3,” “4,” or “5” under the Uniform Financial Institution Rating System. For such an institution, an 
assessment rate adjustment applies when its ratio of brokered deposits to domestic deposits is greater than 10%. If our 
regulatory ratings, PCA capital evaluations, financial measures, or levels of brokered deposits change in ways that indicate 
greater risk, our deposit insurance assessments could increase materially.

In March 2016, the FDIC adopted a final rule on deposit insurance assessment rates for large and small insured depository 
institutions, which took effect on June 30, 2016. The final rule imposes a surcharge on banks with at least $10 billion in total 
assets at an annual rate of four and one-half basis points applied to the institution’s assessment base (with certain 
adjustments) in order to reach a DIF reserve ratio of 1.35% (which occurred as of September 30, 2018, thus saving the Bank 
approximately $3.5 million per quarter prospectively). See “Regulation and Supervision—Deposit Premiums and 
Assessments.” Any further increase in assessment fees, whether due to the FDIC’s assessment of our risk level, additional 
regulatory changes, or increases in our assessment base, could have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations 
and financial condition.

The soundness of other financial institutions could adversely affect us.

Financial services institutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, counterparty or other relationships.  We have 
exposure to many different industries and counterparties, and we routinely execute transactions with counterparties in the 
financial services industry, including broker-dealers, commercial banks, investment banks, mutual and hedge funds and other 
institutional clients. Many of these transactions expose us to credit risk in the event of default of our counterparty or client. In 
addition, our credit risk may be exacerbated when the collateral held by us cannot be realized upon or is liquidated at prices 
not sufficient to recover the full amount of the loan or derivative exposure due us. There can be no assurance that any such 
losses would not materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

Government and Regulation Risks Related to Our Business

We are subject to significant government regulation.

We operate in a highly-regulated environment and are subject to supervision and regulation by a number of governmental 
regulatory agencies, including, among others, the FDIC, the DFS, the Federal Reserve, the CFPB, the SEC and FINRA. In 
addition, we may be subject to inquiries or investigations conducted by the U.S. Department of Justice or State Attorneys 
General, either in connection with referrals made by our regulators or on an independent basis. As we expand our operations, 
we will become subject to regulation by additional states. Regulations adopted by our banking regulators are generally 
intended to provide protection for our depositors and our clients, rather than our shareholders, and govern a comprehensive 
range of matters relating to ownership and control of our shares, our acquisition of other companies and businesses, the 
activities in which we are permitted to engage, maintenance of adequate capital levels, and other aspects of our operations. 

These regulatory agencies possess broad authority to prevent or remedy unsafe or unsound practices or violations of law. For 
example, bank regulators view certain types of clients as “high risk” clients under the Bank Secrecy Act, and other laws and 
regulations, and require enhanced due diligence and enhanced monitoring with respect to such clients. While we believe that 
we adequately perform such enhanced due diligence and monitoring with respect to our clients that fall within this category, if 
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the regulators believe that our efforts are not adequate or that we have failed to identify suspicious transactions in such 
accounts, they could bring an enforcement action against us, which could result in bad publicity, fines and other penalties, and 
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, laws and regulations enacted over the last several years have had, and are expected to continue to have, a 
significant impact on the financial services industry. Some of these laws and regulations, including the Dodd-Frank Act, the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, have increased and may in the future further increase our 
costs of doing business, particularly personnel and technology expenses necessary to maintain compliance with the expanded 
regulatory requirements.

The securities markets and the brokerage industry in which Signature Securities operates are also highly regulated. Signature 
Securities is subject to regulation as a securities broker and investment adviser, and many of the regulations applicable to 
Signature Securities may have the effect of limiting its activities, including activities that might be profitable. Signature 
Securities is registered with and subject to supervision by the SEC and FINRA and is also subject to state insurance 
regulation.  In June 2019, the SEC adopted Regulation Best Interest, which, among other things, established a new standard 
of conduct for a broker-dealer to act in the best interest of a retail customer when providing investment advice about securities. 
The new regulation requires Signature Securities to review and possibly modify its compliance activities, including its policies, 
procedures and controls, which is causing us to incur certain additional costs. As a subsidiary of Signature Bank, Signature 
Securities is also subject to regulation and supervision by the DFS. See “Regulation and Supervision—Regulation of Signature 
Securities.” The securities industry has been subject to several fundamental regulatory changes, including changes in the rules 
of self-regulatory organizations such as the NYSE and FINRA. In the future, the industry may become subject to new 
regulations or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing regulations. We cannot predict the extent to which any 
future regulatory changes may adversely affect our business.

In addition, we are subject to ongoing examination by the FDIC, the DFS, the SEC, the CFPB, self-regulatory organizations 
and various state authorities. Our banking operations, sales practices, trading operations, record-keeping, supervisory 
procedures and financial position may be reviewed during such examinations to determine if they comply with the rules and 
regulations designed to protect clients and protect the solvency of banks and broker-dealers. Examinations may result in the 
issuance of a letter to us noting perceived deficiencies and requesting us to take corrective action. Deficiencies discovered 
through examination, customer complaints, or other means could lead to further investigation and the possible institution of 
administrative proceedings, which may result in the issuance of an order imposing sanctions upon us and/or our personnel, 
including our investment professionals. For example, the enforcement of fair lending laws has been an increasing area of 
focus for regulators, including the FDIC and the CFPB, and an examination or customer complaint could lead to an 
enforcement action in this area. See “Regulation and Supervision—Community Reinvestment Act and Fair Lending.”

Significantly, the enactment of the Economic Growth Act and the promulgation of its implementing regulations repealed or 
modified several important provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act.  Among other things, the Economic Growth Act raises the total 
asset thresholds to $250 billion for Dodd-Frank Act annual company-run stress testing, leverage limits, liquidity requirements, 
and resolution planning requirements for bank holding companies, subject to the ability of the Federal Reserve to apply such 
requirements to institutions with assets of $100 billion or more to address financial stability risks or safety and soundness 
concerns. 

Accordingly, the effect of banking legislation and regulations remains uncertain. The implementation, amendment, or repeal of 
federal banking laws or regulations may affect the banking industry as a whole, including our business and results of 
operations, in ways that are difficult to predict. See Risk Factors—“Recent financial services regulatory relief measures have 
not eliminated many of the aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act that have increased our compliance costs." 

General regulatory sanctions that regulators may seek against a bank may include a censure, cease and desist order, 
monetary penalties or an order suspending us for a period of time from conducting certain or all of our operations. Sanctions 
against individuals may include a censure, cease and desist order, monetary penalties or an order restricting the individual’s 
activities or suspending the individual from association with us. In egregious cases, either we, our personnel, or both, could be 
expelled from a self-regulatory organization or barred from the banking industry or the securities industry, among other 
penalties.

We are subject to stringent regulatory capital requirements, which may adversely impact our return on equity, require 
us to raise additional capital, or constrain us from obtaining deposits, paying dividends or repurchasing shares.

As a state-chartered bank, we are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by state and federal 
regulatory agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory—and possible additional 
discretionary—actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material adverse effect on our financial statements. 
Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, we must meet specific capital 
guidelines that involve quantitative measures of our assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under 
regulatory accounting practices. Our capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the 
regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors.

Signature Bank is subject to regulatory risk-based capital rules imposed by the FDIC. The FDIC’s rules implement the “Basel 
III” regulatory capital reforms and changes required by the Dodd-Frank Act. The FDIC rules include risk-based capital and 
leverage ratios and refine the definition of what constitutes “capital” for purposes of calculating those ratios. The initial 
minimum capital-level requirements, which were phased-in over a multi-year period, included the following:  (i) a common 
equity Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 4.5%; (ii) an increase in the Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio minimum requirement from 
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4.0% to 6.0%; and (iii) a Tier 1 leverage ratio minimum requirement of 4.0%. The capital rules also establish a “capital 
conservation buffer” of 2.5% above the regulatory minimum capital requirements.  The capital rules became fully implemented 
for all financial institutions on January 1, 2019, resulting in the following effective minimum ratios: (i) a common equity Tier 1 
capital ratio (plus capital conservation buffer) of 7.0%, (ii) a Tier 1 capital ratio (plus capital conservation buffer) of 8.5%, and 
(iii) a total capital ratio (plus capital conservation buffer) of 10.5%. An institution will be subject to limitations on paying 
dividends, engaging in share repurchases and paying discretionary bonuses if its capital levels fall below the buffer amount. 
See “Regulation and Supervision—Capital and Related Requirements.”

The application of more stringent capital requirements for Signature Bank could result in, among other things, lower returns on 
equity, requirements to raise additional capital, and regulatory actions such as limitations on our ability to pay dividends or 
repurchase shares, if we were to be unable to comply with such requirements. The impact of these requirements could also 
change the competitive landscape in which we seek deposits, lending opportunities, clients, and banking professionals and 
otherwise conduct our business.

In addition, we are subject to FDIC regulations that impose a system of mandatory and discretionary supervisory actions that 
become more severe as our capital levels decline. The regulations include five capital categories ranging from “well 
capitalized” to “critically undercapitalized.” Such classifications are used by the FDIC to determine our deposit insurance 
premium and ability to accept brokered deposits and affect the approval of our applications to increase our asset size or 
otherwise expand our business activities or acquire other institutions.

To be categorized as “well capitalized” under the Act and, thus, subject to the fewest restrictions, we must (i) have a total risk-
based capital ratio of 10.0% or greater; (ii) have a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 8.0% or greater; (iii) have a common equity 
Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 6.5% or greater; (iv) have a leverage ratio of 5.0% or greater; and (v) not be subject to any 
written agreement, order, capital directive or prompt corrective action directive issued by the FDIC to meet and maintain a 
specific capital level. These capital requirements may limit our asset growth opportunities and restrict our ability to increase 
earnings.

Our failure to comply with our minimum capital requirements would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition 
and results of operations. See “Regulation and Supervision—Prompt Corrective Action and Enforcement Powers.”

The Dodd-Frank Act may continue to affect our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

The Dodd-Frank Act made extensive changes to the laws regulating financial services firms. The Dodd-Frank Act also required 
significant rulemaking and mandates multiple studies that have resulted and may continue to result in additional legislative and 
regulatory actions that will affect the operations of the Bank.

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, federal banking agencies were required to draft and implement enhanced supervision, 
examination, and capital and liquidity standards for depository institutions. The enhanced requirements include changes to 
capital, leverage and liquidity standards and numerous other requirements. The Dodd-Frank Act also established the CFPB, 
and gave it broad authority, and permits states to adopt stricter consumer protection laws and enforce consumer protection 
rules issued by the CFPB.

In December 2013, federal regulators adopted a final rule implementing the “Volcker Rule” enacted as part of the Dodd-Frank 
Act. The Volcker Rule prohibits (subject to certain exceptions) banks and their affiliates from engaging in short-term proprietary 
trading in securities and derivatives and from investing in and sponsoring certain unregistered investment companies 
(including not only such things as hedge funds, commodity pools and private equity funds, but also a range of asset 
securitization structures that do not meet exemptive criteria in the final rules). Banks were required to conform their activities 
and investments to the final regulations’ requirements by July 2015, but the Federal Reserve has exercised its authority to 
extend the divestiture period for pre-2014 investments to July 21, 2017. In October 2019, the federal banking agencies, the 
SEC and the CFTC adopted a final rule modifying the Volcker Rule’s implementing regulations to impose certain simplified and 
streamlined compliance requirements. Notably, the final rule will reduce compliance requirements for firms that do not have 
significant trading assets and liabilities (i.e., less than $20 billion in trading assets and liabilities). The final rule became 
effective on January 1, 2020 and the compliance date for the final rule was January 1, 2021. See “Regulation and Supervision 
–The Volcker Rule.” 

We use brokered deposits to fund a portion of our activities and the loss of our ability to accept or renew brokered 
deposits could have an adverse effect on us.

We use brokered deposits to fund a portion of our activities. At December 31, 2020, $2.21 billion, or 3.49% of our total deposit 
account balances consisted of brokered deposits, an increase of $1.04 billion or 89.0% when compared to $1.17 billion at the 
end of the prior year. Acceptance or renewal of “brokered deposits” is regulated by the federal banking agencies, including the 
FDIC. If we do not maintain our regulatory capital above the level required to be “well-capitalized,” then we will be limited in our 
ability to accept or renew deposits classified as brokered deposits unless we obtain a waiver from the FDIC and are at least 
“adequately” capitalized. In December 2020, the FDIC issued a final rule amending its brokered deposits regulation. The final 
rule establishes new standards for determining whether an person qualifies as a “deposit broker” (and therefore whether the 
placement of funds by the entity with a depository institution, or the entity’s “facilitation” of the placement of deposits with the 
depository institution, would render such funds brokered deposits), and codifies a number of exceptions to that definition which 
previously had been addressed through FDIC staff advisory opinions and unpublished interpretations. The final rule also 
establishes new notice, application, monitoring and reporting requirements that apply in respect of certain deposit placement 
arrangements. The final rule is scheduled to take effect on April 1, 2021 and the full compliance date for the final rule is 
January 1, 2022. The Bank currently is evaluating the potential effects of the final rule on our business and we cannot at this 
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time predict the extent to which the final rule will have a significant impact on our sources of funding and operations. See 
“Regulation and Supervision—Regulation of Brokered Deposits.” If we are no longer able to accept or renew brokered 
deposits, we will need to replace that funding or reduce our assets.

Regulations could restrict our ability to service and sell mortgage loans.

The CFPB has issued rules establishing mortgage lending and servicing requirements, which became effective in 
January 2014. As of January 2016, we ceased originating personal residential mortgages, although we continue to service our 
current portfolio of such mortgages until they run off. The CFPB’s mortgage servicing requirements establish regulatory 
procedures and obligations for various areas of the servicing process including periodic disclosures, error resolution, borrower 
information requests, and loss mitigation. See “Regulation and Supervision—Consumer Financial Protection.” The CFPB’s 
mortgage servicing rules, as well as other mortgage regulations that the CFPB or other regulators may adopt, could limit our 
ability to retain certain types of loans or loans to certain borrowers, or could make it more expensive and time consuming to 
service these loans, which could limit our growth or profitability.

We will be expected to make additional expenditures on enhanced governance, internal control, compliance, and 
supervisory programs and to comply with additional regulations as we surpassed $50 billion in assets.

The FDIC, as a supervisory matter, expects us to have governance, internal control, compliance, and supervisory programs 
consistent with our size and activities, and our consolidated assets totaled $73.89 billion as of December 31, 2020. As the 
Bank continues to grow, the FDIC will generally expect us to develop and implement enhanced governance, internal control, 
compliance, and supervisory programs, to implement select banking regulations that do not technically apply to an institution of 
our size or structure, and to incur the costs to implement, staff, and maintain those programs; however, the extent to which the 
FDIC’s expectations may vary as a result of the increase in asset thresholds for a number of functional regulatory 
requirements imposed under the Dodd-Frank Act is uncertain. Meeting the FDIC’s enhanced supervisory expectations could 
cause us to incur materially greater costs than comparably sized institutions with a different primary federal regulator and could 
prevent us from making profitable investments or from engaging in new activities. 

Recent financial services regulatory relief measures have not eliminated many of the aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act 
that have increased our compliance costs.  

The Economic Growth Act, enacted in 2018, represents modest reform to the regulation of the financial services industry 
primarily through certain amendments of the Dodd-Frank Act. However, many provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act that have 
increased our compliance costs, such as the Volcker Rule, remain in place. Certain of the provisions amended by the 
Economic Growth Act took effect immediately, while others are subject to ongoing joint agency rulemakings. It is not possible 
to predict when any final rules would ultimately be issued through any such rulemakings, and what the specific content of such 
rules will be. Although we expect to benefit from many aspects of this legislative reform, the legislation and any implementing 
rules that are ultimately issued could have adverse implications on the financial industry, the competitive environment, and our 
ability to conduct business. In addition, the federal banking agencies indicated through interagency guidance that the capital 
planning and risk management practices of institutions with total assets less than $100 billion would continue to be reviewed 
through the regular supervisory process, which may offset the impact of the Economic Growth Acts changes regarding stress 
testing and risk management.

Changes in the federal, state or local tax laws may negatively impact our financial performance.

We are subject to changes in tax law that could increase our effective tax rates. These law changes may be retroactive to 
previous periods and as a result could negatively affect our current and future financial performance. The short-and long-term 
impact of the TCJA on the economic conditions in the markets in which we operate, and in the United States as a whole, is 
uncertain, and any unfavorable change in the general business environment in which we operate could adversely affect our 
business, results of operation or financial condition. Similarly, the Bank’s customers are likely to experience varying effects 
from both the individual and business tax provisions of the TCJA and such effects, whether positive or negative, may have a 
corresponding impact on our business.

Regulatory net capital requirements significantly affect and often constrain our brokerage business.

The SEC, FINRA, and various other regulatory bodies in the United States have rules with respect to net capital requirements 
for broker-dealers that affect Signature Securities. These rules require that at least a substantial portion of a broker-dealer’s 
assets be kept in cash or highly liquid investments. Signature Securities must comply with these net capital requirements, 
which limit operations that require intensive use of capital, such as trading activities. These rules could also restrict our ability 
to withdraw capital from our broker-dealer subsidiary, even in circumstances where this subsidiary has more than the minimum 
amount of required capital. This, in turn, could limit our ability to pay dividends, repurchase shares, implement our business 
strategies and pay interest on and repay the principal of our debt. A change in these rules, or the imposition of new rules, 
affecting the scope, coverage, calculation, or amount of net capital requirements could have material adverse effects. 
Significant operating losses or any unusually large charge against net capital could also have material adverse effects.
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The repeal of federal prohibitions on the payment of interest on demand deposits could increase our interest 
expense.

All federal prohibitions on the ability of financial institutions to pay interest on demand deposit accounts were repealed as part 
of the Dodd-Frank Act. As a result, some financial institutions have commenced offering interest on demand deposits to 
compete for clients. As of December 31, 2020, $18.76 billion, or 29.6%, of our total deposits were held in non-interest-bearing 
demand deposit accounts. Particularly to the extent that interest rates return to higher levels, our interest expense will increase 
and our net interest margin will decrease if we have to offer higher rates of interest on demand deposits than we currently offer 
to attract additional clients or maintain current clients, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

We are subject to various legal claims and litigation.

From time to time, customers, employees and others that we do business with make claims and take legal action against us 
for various occurrences, including the performance of our fiduciary responsibilities. The outcome of these cases is uncertain. 
Regardless of whether these claims and legal actions are founded or unfounded, if such claims and legal actions are not 
resolved in a timely manner favorable to us, they may result in significant financial liability and/or adversely affect the market 
perception of us and our products and services, as well as impact customer demand for our products and services. Any 
financial liability or reputational damage may adversely affect our future financial condition and results of operations. Even if 
these claims and legal actions do not result in a financial liability or reputational damage, defending these claims and actions 
have resulted in, and will continue to result in, increased legal and professional services costs, which may be material in 
amount.

Our management of the risk of system failures or breaches of our network security is increasingly subject to 
regulation and could subject us to increased operating costs, as well as litigation and other liabilities.

The computer systems and network infrastructure we use could be vulnerable to unforeseen problems and cybersecurity 
threats. Our operations are dependent upon our ability to protect our computer equipment against damage from fire, power 
loss, telecommunications failure or other similar catastrophic events. Any damage or failure that causes an interruption in our 
operations could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our operations 
are dependent upon our ability to protect our computer systems and network infrastructure against damage from physical 
break-ins, security breaches, hackers, viruses and other malware and other disruptive problems, including through coordinated 
attacks sponsored by foreign nations and criminal organizations to disrupt business operations and other compromises to data 
and systems for political or criminal purposes. These cybersecurity threats also exist at our third-party vendors, some of whom 
supply essential services to us such as loan servicers, providers of financial information, systems and analytical tools, and
providers of electronic payment and settlement systems. Such computer break-ins, whether physical or electronic, and other 
disruptions could jeopardize the security of information stored in and transmitted through our computer systems and network 
infrastructure, which may result in significant liability to us and deter potential clients. Our cybersecurity procedures are 
increasingly subject to regulations administered and enforced by our regulators, which could result in elevated liability from 
these disruptions. See “Regulation and Supervision—Cybersecurity and Data Privacy.”

Although we, with the help of third-party service providers, have implemented and intend to continue to implement and 
enhance security technology and establish operational procedures to prevent such damage, there can be no assurance that 
these security measures will be successful in deterring or mitigating the effects of every cyber-threat that we face. In addition, 
advances in computer capabilities, new discoveries in the field of cryptography or other developments could result in a 
compromise or breach of the algorithms we and our third-party service providers use to protect client transaction data, other 
customer data and employee data. Any cyber-attack or other security breach involving the misappropriation, loss or other 
unauthorized disclosure of confidential customer or employee information could severely damage our reputation, erode 
confidence in the security of our systems, products and services, expose us to the risk of litigation and liability, disrupt our 
operations and have a material adverse effect on our business.

We carry specific cyber-insurance coverage, which would apply in the event of various breach scenarios, but the amount of 
coverage may not be adequate in any particular case. In addition, cyber-threat scenarios are inherently difficult to predict and 
can take many forms, some of which may not be covered under our cyber insurance coverage. Furthermore, the occurrence of 
a cyber-threat scenario could cause interruptions in our operations and result in the incurrence of significant costs, including 
those related to forensic analysis and legal counsel, each of which may be required to ascertain the extent of any potential 
harm to our customers, or employees, or damage to our information systems and any legal or regulatory obligations that may 
result therefrom. The occurrence of a cyber-threat may therefore have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and 
results of operations. Risks and exposures related to cybersecurity attacks are expected to remain high for the foreseeable 
future due to the rapidly evolving nature and sophistication of these threats, as well as due to the expanding use of Internet 
banking, mobile banking and other technology-based products and services by us and our clients. The Bank has significantly 
increased efforts to educate employees and clients on the topic. Clients can also be sources of cybersecurity risk to the Bank, 
particularly when their activities and systems are beyond the Bank’s own security and control systems. Although we expect 
that, where cybersecurity incidents are due to client failure to maintain the security of their own systems and processes, clients 
will generally be responsible for losses incurred, there can be no assurance that our relationship with the affected client (and 
other clients) will not be adversely affected. 
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We are subject to laws regarding the privacy, information security and protection of personal information and any 
violation of these laws or an incident involving personal, confidential or proprietary information of individuals could 
damage our reputation and otherwise adversely affect our operations and financial condition.

Our business requires the collection and retention of large volumes of customer data, including personally identifiable 
information in various information systems that we maintain and in those maintained by third parties with whom we contract to 
provide data services. We also collect data regarding our employees, suppliers and other third-parties. We are subject to 
complex and evolving laws and regulations governing the privacy and protection of personal information of individuals 
(including customers, employees, suppliers and other third parties). For example, our business is subject to laws and 
regulations which, among other things: (i) impose certain limitations on our ability to share nonpublic personal information 
about our customers with nonaffiliated third parties; (ii) require that we provide certain disclosures to customers about our 
information collection, sharing and security practices and afford customers the right to “opt out” of any information sharing by 
us with nonaffiliated third parties (with certain exceptions); and (iii) require that we develop, implement and maintain a written 
comprehensive information security program containing appropriate safeguards based on our size and complexity, the nature 
and scope of our activities, and the sensitivity of customer information we process, as well as plans for responding to data 
security breaches. Various state and federal banking regulators and states, have also enacted data security breach notification 
requirements with varying levels of individual, consumer, regulatory or law enforcement notification in certain circumstances in 
the event of a security breach. Ensuring that our collection, use, transfer and storage of personal information complies with all 
applicable laws and regulations can increase our costs. Furthermore, we may not be able to ensure that all of our customers, 
suppliers, counterparties and other third parties have appropriate controls in place to protect the confidentiality of the 
information that they exchange with us, particularly where such information is transmitted by electronic means. If personal, 
confidential or proprietary information of customers or others were to be mishandled or misused, we could be exposed to 
litigation or regulatory sanctions under personal information laws and regulations. Concerns regarding the effectiveness of our 
measures to safeguard personal information, or even the perception that such measures are inadequate, could cause us to 
lose customers or potential customers for our products and services and thereby reduce our revenues. Accordingly, any failure 
or perceived failure to comply with applicable privacy or data protection laws and regulations may subject us to inquiries, 
examinations and investigations that could result in requirements to modify or cease certain operations or practices or in 
significant liabilities, fines or penalties, and could damage our reputation and otherwise adversely affect our operations and 
financial condition. Moreover, compliance with applicable regulations and mandates could add significantly to our operating 
expenses.

We may be responsible for environmental claims.

There is a risk that hazardous or toxic waste could be found on the properties that secure our loans. In such event, we could 
be held responsible for the cost of cleaning up or removing such waste, and such cost could significantly exceed the value of 
the underlying properties and adversely affect our profitability. Additionally, even if we are not held responsible for these 
cleanup and removal costs, the value of the collateralized property could be significantly lower than originally projected, thus 
adversely affecting the value of our security interest. Although we have policies and procedures that require us to perform 
environmental due diligence prior to accepting a property as collateral and an environmental review before initiating any 
foreclosure action on real property, there can be no assurance that this will be sufficient to protect us from all potential 
environmental liabilities associated with collateralized properties.

Climate change and related legislative and regulatory initiatives may result in operational changes and expenditures 
that could significantly impact our business.  

The current and anticipated effects of climate change are creating an increasing level of concern for the state of the global 
environment. As a result, political and social attention to the issue of climate change has increased. In recent years, 
governments across the world have entered into international agreements to attempt to reduce global temperatures, in part by 
limiting greenhouse gas emissions. The United States government has rejoined the Paris Climate Agreement, the most recent 
international climate change accord, while the U.S. Congress, state legislatures and federal and state regulatory agencies are 
likely to continue to propose and advance numerous legislative and regulatory initiatives seeking to mitigate the effects of 
climate change. These agreements and measures may result in the imposition of taxes and fees, the required purchase of 
emission credits, and the implementation of significant operational changes. In addition, the federal banking agencies under 
the incoming Administration may address climate-related issues in their agendas in various ways, including by increasing 
supervisory expectations with respect to banks’ risk management practices, accounting for the effects of climate change in 
stress testing scenarios and systemic risk assessments, revising expectations for credit portfolio concentrations based on 
climate-related factors, and encouraging investment by banks in climate-related initiatives and lending to communities 
disproportionately impacted by the effects of climate change. Each of the above-described initiatives may require us to expend 
significant capital and incur compliance, operating, maintenance and remediation costs. Given the lack of empirical data on the 
credit and other financial risks posed by climate change, it is impossible to predict how climate change may impact our 
financial condition and operations; however, as a banking organization, the physical effects of climate change may present 
certain unique risks. For example, weather disasters, shifts in local climates and other disruptions related to climate change 
may adversely affect the value of real properties securing our loans, which could diminish the value of our loan portfolio. Such 
events may also cause reductions in regional and local economic activity that may have an adverse effect on our customers, 
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which could limit our ability to raise and invest capital in these areas and communities, each of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 

The misconduct of employees or their failure to abide by regulatory requirements is difficult to detect and deter.

Employee misconduct could subject us to financial losses or regulatory sanctions and seriously harm our reputation. It is not 
always possible to deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to prevent and detect this activity may not be 
effective in all cases. Misconduct by our employees could include hiding unauthorized activities from us, improper or 
unauthorized activities on behalf of clients or improper use of confidential information.
Employee errors in recording or executing transactions for clients could cause us to enter into transactions that clients may 
disavow and refuse to settle. These transactions expose us to risks of loss, which can be material, until we detect the errors in 
question and unwind or reverse the transactions. As with any unsettled transaction, adverse movements in the prices of the 
securities involved in these transactions before we unwind or reverse them can increase these risks.

All of our securities professionals are required by law to be licensed with our subsidiary, Signature Securities, a licensed 
securities broker-dealer. Under these requirements, these securities professionals are subject to our supervision in the area of 
compliance with federal and applicable state securities laws, rules and regulations, as well as the rules and regulations of self-
regulatory organizations such as FINRA. See “Regulation and Supervision—Regulation of Signature Securities.” The violation 
of any regulatory requirements by us or our securities professionals could jeopardize Signature Securities’ broker-dealer 
license or other licenses and could subject us to liability to clients.

We depend upon the accuracy and completeness of information about clients and other third parties and are subject 
to losses resulting from fraudulent or negligent acts on the part of our clients or other third parties.

We rely heavily upon information supplied by our clients and by third parties, including the information included in loan 
applications, property appraisals, title information and employment and income documentation, in deciding whether to extend 
credit or enter into other transactions with clients, as well as the terms of the credit. If any of the information upon which we 
rely is misrepresented, either fraudulently or inadvertently, and the misrepresentation is not detected prior to loan funding, the 
value of the loan may be significantly lower than we had expected, or we may fund a loan that we would not have funded or on 
terms that we would not have extended. Whether a misrepresentation is made by the loan applicant, a mortgage broker or 
another third party, we generally bear the risk of loss associated with the misrepresentation. A loan subject to a material 
misrepresentation is typically unable to be sold or subject to repurchase if sold prior to the detection of the misrepresentation. 
The sources of the misrepresentation are often difficult to locate and it is often difficult to recover any of the monetary losses 
we have suffered. Although we maintain a system of internal controls to mitigate against such occurrences and maintain 
insurance coverage for such risks that are insurable, we cannot assure you that we have detected or will detect all 
misrepresented information in our loan origination operations. 

If the credit is extended to a business, we may rely on representations of clients as to the accuracy and completeness of that 
information and, with respect to financial statements, on reports of independent auditors. We may assume that the client’s 
audited financial statements conform with generally accepted accounting principles and present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the customer. In addition, we may also rely on the audit report 
covering those financial statements. Our financial condition and results of operations could be negatively impacted to the 
extent we rely on financial statements that do not comply with generally accepted accounting principles or that are materially 
misleading.

The failure of our brokerage clients to meet their margin requirements may cause us to incur significant liabilities.
The brokerage business of Signature Securities, by its nature, is subject to risks related to potential defaults by our clients in 
paying for securities they have agreed to purchase and for securities they have agreed to sell and deliver. National Financial 
Services, LLC provides clearing services to our brokerage business, including the confirmation, receipt, execution, settlement, 
and delivery functions involved in securities transactions, as well as the safekeeping of clients’ securities and assets and 
certain client record keeping, data processing, and reporting functions. National Financial Services, LLC makes margin loans 
to our clients to purchase securities with funds they borrow from National Financial Services, LLC. We must indemnify National 
Financial Services, LLC for, among other things, any loss or expense incurred due to defaults by our clients in failing to repay 
margin loans or to maintain adequate collateral for those loans. Although we may employ certain mitigating tactics that could 
limit the extent of our loss exposure, we are nevertheless subject to the risks that are inherent in extending margin credit, 
especially during periods of rapidly declining markets.

The Bank faces risks related to the adoption of future legislation and potential changes in federal regulatory agency 
leadership, policies and priorities. 

With a new Congress taking office in January 2021, Democrats have retained control of the U.S. House of Representatives, 
and have gained control of the U.S. Senate, albeit with a majority found only in the tie-breaking vote of Vice President Kamala 
Harris. However slim the majorities, though, the net result is unified Democratic control of the White House and both chambers 
of Congress, and consequently Democrats will be able to set the agenda both legislatively and in the Administration. 

We expect Congress will devote substantial attention in 2021 to consumer protection matters, through greater oversight of the 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’s (“CFPB”) and the federal banking agencies’ efforts in this area. We also anticipate 
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that Democratic-led Congressional committees will pursue greater oversight of so-called “shadow banking” activities, and will 
also pay substantial attention to oversight of the banking sector’s role in providing coronavirus-related assistance to impacted 
businesses. As pertains specifically to depository institutions, the prospects for the enactment of major banking reform 
legislation in 2021 are unclear at this time. If anything, enactment of more targeted financial reform measures would appear 
more likely than major legislation, as such measures are more likely to achieve some level of bipartisan support. It is too early 
to know what any such legislation may be, however, as the relevant Congressional committees are still in the process of being 
organized for the new Congress and their respective agendas are in development.

In addition, although it is too early to know the details of the new administration’s proposed economic policies and the full 
extent of this COVID-19 relief plans, there is a risk that the new administration could impose new or modified COVID-19 
programs and restrictions, including new forbearance initiatives, place added pressure on state governments to impose more 
extensive business and personal activity restrictions and propose related fiscal and tax measures and/or revise or create new 
regulatory requirements that would apply to us, impacting our business, operations and profitability.

Moreover, the turnover of the presidential administration has produced, and likely will continue to produce, certain changes in 
the leadership and senior staffs of the federal banking agencies, the CFPB, CFTC SEC, and the Treasury Department. With 
few exceptions, the heads of those agencies and departments will change in 2021 pending Senate confirmation. In addition, 
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve and the FDIC Board of Directors may experience significant turnover within the 
next year to two years. These changes could impact the rulemaking, supervision, examination and enforcement priorities and 
policies of the agencies. Of note, it is anticipated that the CFPB, which has relaxed its enforcement approach in recent years, 
will return to a more robust enforcement approach under the new administration. The potential impact of any changes in 
agency personnel, policies and priorities on the financial services sector, including the Bank, cannot be predicted at this time. 

The incoming Administration also may seek to withdraw or modify certain recently-adopted regulations relevant to our 
business. Promptly after taking office, President Biden issued an Executive Order instituting a “freeze” of certain recently 
finalized and pending regulations to allow for review by incoming Administration officials. As a result of this Executive Order, 
recently-adopted regulations may be subject to delays in implementation and substantive revision though further notice-and-
comment rulemaking and, more broadly, agency rulemaking agendas may be disrupted. In addition, Congress may elect to 
use the Congressional Review Act to disapprove of and ultimately eliminate certain regulations that were reported to Congress 
in the prior 60 legislative days. Due to the limited election-year legislative schedule, the lookback period for purposes of this 
disapproval process extends to late summer of 2020. The Bank’s operations, risk management and compliance processes 
may be impacted by the withdrawal or modification of certain regulations pursuant to these procedural processes. 

ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2.   PROPERTIES
Our management believes that our current and planned offices are adequate for our current level of operations. Our corporate 
principal executive offices are located at 565 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York, 10017, in space leased by the Bank. As of 
December 31, 2020, we currently operate 36 private client offices throughout the metropolitan New York area, including those 
in Connecticut, as well as in California and North Carolina.  

Signature Financial’s principal executive offices and operations are located at 225 Broadhollow Road, Melville, New York 
11747. Signature Securities Group Corporation’s principal executive offices and operations are located at 1177 Avenue of the 
Americas, New York, New York 10036. Signature Public Funding Corp.’s principal executive offices and operations are located 
at 600 Washington Avenue, Towson, Maryland 21204.

All of our office properties are leased or contracted for use at various terms and rates. These leases or license agreements 
expire at various dates through 2035, and in many instances include modest annual escalation agreements and options to 
renew or extend at market rates and terms. For additional information on our lease commitments, see Note 23 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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ITEM 3.   LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are subject to various pending and threatened legal actions relating to the conduct of our normal business activities.  In the 
opinion of management, the ultimate aggregate liability, if any, arising out of any such pending or threatened legal actions will 
not be material to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 4.   MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

During the fourth quarter of 2020, we issued an aggregate of 6,026 shares of our common stock to certain participants under 
our Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”) as a result of the granting of restricted 
shares pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan in reliance on the exemption provided by Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 
1933.

Dividends

The Bank has declared and paid a quarterly cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or a total of $30.0 million to $31.0 million each 
quarter beginning with the third quarter of 2018 through the fourth quarter of 2020. On January 20, 2021, the Bank declared its 
fourth quarter 2020 cash dividend of $0.56 per share to be paid on or after February 12, 2021 to common stockholders of 
record at the close of business on February 1, 2021. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our 
Board of Directors and will be dependent upon then existing conditions, including our financial condition and results of 
operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors that the Board of Directors 
considers relevant.

In addition, payments of dividends may be subject to the prior approval of the New York State Department of Financial 
Services and the FDIC. Under New York law, we are prohibited from declaring a dividend so long as there is any impairment of 
our capital stock. In addition, we would be required to obtain the approval of the New York State Department of Financial 
Services if the total of all our dividends declared in any calendar year would exceed the total of our net profits for that year 
combined with retained net profits of the preceding two years, less any required transfer to surplus or a fund for the retirement 
of any preferred stock. We would also be required to obtain the approval of the FDIC prior to declaring a dividend if after 
paying the dividend we would be undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized or critically undercapitalized. Our ability to pay 
dividends also depends upon the amount of cash available to us from our subsidiaries. Restrictions on our subsidiaries’ ability 
to make dividends and advances to us will tend to limit our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders.

Share Repurchase Program

In 2018, the Bank’s stockholders and regulators approved the repurchase of common stock from the Bank’s shareholders in
open market transactions in the aggregate purchase amount of up to $500 million. On February 19, 2020, the Board of
Directors approved an amendment to the stock repurchase program that restored the Bank’s share repurchase authorization
to an aggregate purchase amount of up to $500.0 million from the $220.9 million that was remaining under the original
authorization as of December 31, 2019. The amended stock repurchase program was approved by the shareholders in April
2020. The Bank has suspended any future repurchases of common stock given the COVID-19 circumstances since the end of
the first quarter of 2020. As a result, no common stock was repurchased by the Bank during the remainder of 2020. During the 
third quarter of 2020, we received regulatory approval to extend the stock repurchase of the $170.8 million remaining under 
the original authorization to September 30, 2021. We plan to seek separate regulatory approval for the additional $279.1 
million approved under the amended authorization. To date, the Bank has repurchased 2,689,544 shares of common stock for 
a total of $329.2 million and the amount remaining under the amended authorization was $450.0 million at December 31, 
2020.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with “Selected Financial Data” and our Consolidated Financial 
Statements and related notes, each of which is included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the 
statements in the following discussion are forward-looking statements. See “Private Securities Litigation Reform Act Safe 
Harbor Statement.”

Overview

We have grown to $73.89 billion in assets, $63.32 billion in deposits, $48.83 billion in loans, $5.83 billion in equity capital and 
$4.80 billion in other assets under management as of December 31, 2020. 

We believe the growth in our profitability is based on several key factors, including:

• the significant growth of our interest-earning asset base each year;

• our ability to maintain and grow core deposits, a key funding source, which has resulted in increased net interest 
income from 2001 onward; and

• our ability to control non-interest expenses, which has improved our efficiency ratio to 38.51% for the year ended 
December 31, 2020, even after the increase in salaries and benefits from the significant hiring of 20 new private client 
baking teams, including two in New York, five in San Francisco, and 13 in the Greater Los Angeles marketplace.

An important aspect of our growth strategy is the ability to provide personalized, high quality service and to effectively manage 
a large number of client relationships throughout the metropolitan New York area, including those in Connecticut, as well as 
California and North Carolina. Since the commencement of our operations, we have successfully recruited and retained more 
than 643 experienced private client banking team professionals. We believe that our existing operations infrastructure will 
allow us to grow our business over the next few years both with respect to the size and number of client relationships, and 
geographically within the New York metropolitan area, as well as on the West Coast where we have significant client synergies 
without substantial additional capital expenditures.

Critical Accounting Policies

We follow financial accounting and reporting policies that are in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”). On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our significant accounting policies and associated estimates applied in our 
consolidated financial statements. Some of these accounting policies require management to make difficult, subjective or 
complex judgments. The policies noted below, however, are deemed to be our “critical accounting policies” under the definition 
given to this term by the SEC - those policies that are most important to the presentation of a company’s financial condition 
and results of operations, and require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the 
need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.

The judgments used by management in applying the critical accounting policies may be affected by deterioration in the 
economic environment, which may result in changes to future financial results. Specifically, subsequent evaluations of the loan 
portfolio, in light of the factors then prevailing, may result in significant changes to the allowance for credit losses ("ACL") for 
loans and leases in future periods, and the inability to collect on outstanding loans could result in increased loan losses. 

Effective January 1, 2020, the allowance for credit losses ("ACL"), applying an expected credit loss approach as required 
under ASC 326, Credit Losses, is estimated using a combination of quantitative models and qualitative adjustments, both of 
which, may incorporate inputs, assumptions and techniques that involve a high degree of management judgment. The ACL 
represents the credit loss estimate under the new standard, replacing the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses ("ALLL") 
under the legacy GAAP. See Note 2(g) for our accounting policies related to the ACLLL.
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New Accounting Standards

 (i) Not Yet Adopted

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-08, Codification Improvements to Subtopic 310-20. Receivables - Nonrefundable 
Fees and Other Costs. The ASU provides clarification to the existing guidance regarding when an entity should evaluate the 
referenced guidance related to callable debt securities carried at a premium. This ASU will impact the amortization period for 
nonrefundable fees and other costs if the callable debt security has its amortized cost exceeding the amount repayable by the 
issuer at the next call date at the respective reporting date. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2020 and early adoption is not permitted. The impact of this ASU to the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements is 
not expected to be material.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference 
Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. The ASU provides companies with optional guidance to ease the potential burden 
associated with transitioning from reference rates that are expected to be discontinued, such as LIBOR. Specifically, the ASU 
provides guidance related to contract modifications, hedge accounting, and held-to-maturity (HTM) debt securities. The 
guidance also allows for a one-time election to sell and/or transfer debt securities classified as HTM to be made at any time 
after March 12, 2020. The ASU allows companies to apply the standard as of the beginning of the interim period that includes 
March 12, 2020 or any date thereafter. 

On January 7, 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, an update to ASU 2020-04, which clarifies the scope of the optional relief 
for reference rate reform provided by ASC Topic 848. The ASU permits entities to apply certain of the optional practical 
expedients and exceptions in ASC 848 to the accounting for derivative contracts and hedging activities that may be affected by 
changes in interest rates used for discounting cash flows, computing variation margin settlements and calculating price 
alignment interest (the “discounting transition”). These optional practical expedients and exceptions may be applied to 
derivative instruments impacted by the discounting transition even if such instruments do not reference a rate that is expected 
to be discontinued. The ASU is effective immediately and an entity may elect to apply the amendments as of any date from the 
beginning of an interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12, 2020 or on a prospective basis to new modifications 
from any date within an interim period that includes or is subsequent to January 7, 2021, up to the date that financial 
statements are available to be issued. We are currently evaluating the impact of these two ASUs related to the Reference Rate 
Reform. However, the impact to the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements is not expected to be material.

In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, Investments-Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments-Equity Method and 
Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Clarifying the Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 
323, and Topic 815. The new guidance amends the accounting for the measurement of certain options and forward contracts 
used to acquire equity securities. In addition, it requires a remeasurement of the equity investment immediately before or after 
its transition into and out of equity method accounting if the measurement alternative is applied prior to the transfer. The 
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. The impact of this ASU to the Company's 
Consolidated Financial Statements is not expected to be material.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 470), Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. 
The ASU eliminates certain exceptions related to the rate approach for intraperiod tax allocation, the methodology for 
calculating income taxes in an interim period and the recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. It also 
clarifies and simplifies other aspects of the accounting for income taxes. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2020. The Company is currently assessing the impact to its Consolidated Financial Statements; however, 
the impact is not expected to be material. 

(ii) Recently Adopted

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820), Disclosure Framework—Changes to the 
Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. This ASU eliminates, and modifies certain disclosure requirements for 
fair value measurements. It also adds new disclosure requirements for Level 3 instruments, such as changes in unrealized 
gains and losses included in Other comprehensive income, the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs 
and narrative description of the measurement uncertainty. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2019, but entities are permitted to early adopt either the entire standard or only the provisions that eliminate or modify the 
existing requirements. Retrospective transition is required for most amendments while others require prospective application, 
e.g., the new disclosure requirements related to Level 3 fair value measurements. The Company adopted this ASU as of 
January 1, 2020. The amendments on the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop 
Level 3 fair value measurements, and the narrative description of measurement uncertainty are applied prospectively. The 
amendments that are to be applied retrospectively are not applicable to us. Beginning with our first quarter 2020 filing, the 
adoption of this standard does not have a material impact on our disclosures.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to 
Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting. The standard simplifies the accounting for shared-based payments to 
nonemployees by aligning it with the accounting for share-based payments to employees, with certain exceptions. Equity- 
classified nonemployee awards will be measured on the grant date, rather than on the earlier of (1) the performance 
commitment date or (2) the date at which the nonemployee’s performance is complete. However, for equity-classified awards 
for which a measurement date has not been previously established upon adoption date, they are to be measured on the basis 
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of their adoption-date fair-value. The Standard requires a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning 
of the annual period of adoption. The Company adopted ASU 2018-07 as of January 1, 2019 with no impact to its 
Consolidated Financial Statements because the compensation expense recognized for eligible restricted stock awards to 
nonemployees was based on the shares’ fair value measurement as of December 31, 2018 (and on January 1, 2019, the 
adoption date).

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement –Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220). The 
standard provides entities with an option to reclassify tax effects stranded in accumulated other comprehensive income as a 
result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted in December 2017 to retained earnings as compared to income tax expense. The 
new standard can be applied either (1) in the period of adoption or (2) retrospectively to each period in which the effect of the 
change in the federal income tax rate is recognized. The Company adopted ASU 2018-02 as of January 1, 2019 but made no 
election to reclassify the stranded OCI to retained earnings as permitted by the standard. Therefore, this standard had no 
impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company will reclassify these stranded tax effects using the 
individual security approach. As securities with stranded effects mature or are sold, the associated amounts will be 
reclassified.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-08, Receivables – Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs (Subtopic 310-20): 
Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities. The standard shortens the amortization period for certain 
purchased callable debt securities held at a premium to the earliest call date. The guidance does not change the accounting 
for discount accretion. Subsequent to year-end December 31, 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2017-08, which impacted a 
very limited number of securities. We recognized additional amortization of $147,000 as a cumulative adjustment to retained 
earnings as of January 1, 2019.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments- Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments ("CECL"), further amended by ASU 2019-04, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, 
Financial Instruments—Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments. Topic 326 is 
intended to improve financial reporting by requiring earlier recognition of credit losses on loans, held-to-maturity (HTM) 
securities, loan commitments and certain other financial assets and off-balance sheet exposures. It replaces the current 
incurred loss impairment model that recognizes losses when a probable threshold is met with a requirement to recognize 
lifetime expected credit losses immediately when a financial asset is originated or purchased. For available-for-sale debt 
securities where fair value is less than cost, credit-related impairment would be recognized in an allowance for credit losses 
and adjusted in each subsequent period for changes in credit risk. The new CECL credit losses standard also expands the 
disclosure requirements regarding an entity’s assumptions, models, and methods for estimating the ACL. Notably, public 
entities are to disclose the amortized cost balance for each class of financial asset by credit quality indicator, disaggregated by 
the year of origination (i.e., by vintage year). This guidance became effective for SEC filers that were not eligible to be smaller 
reporting companies for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019.

The Company adopted the above mentioned ASUs related to Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326) as of January 
1, 2020, using a modified retrospective approach. Upon adoption, the Bank recorded an increase in our Allowance for credit 
losses of $45.8 million, including $4.6 million related to unfunded commitments, or 18.2% as compared to that of December 
31, 2019. The cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings for our change in the allowance for credit losses upon 
adoption reduced our capital and decreased our regulatory capital amounts and ratios. On March 27, 2020, the Federal 
Reserve, FDIC and OCC issued an interim final rule that delays the estimated impact on regulatory capital stemming from the 
implementation of CECL for a transition period of up to five years, and we elected to utilize this five-year transition period 
option.

Further amending the new credit losses standard, the FASB issued ASU 2019-05, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses 
(Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief in May 2019 and ASU 2019-11, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial 
Instruments – Credit Losses in November 2019. ASU 2019-05 provides entities that have certain instruments within the scope 
of Subtopic 326-20, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses—Measured at Amortized Cost, with an option to irrevocably elect 
the fair value option in Subtopic 825-10, Financial Instruments—Overall, applied on an instrument-by-instrument basis for 
eligible instruments, upon adoption of Topic 326. The fair value option election does not apply to held-to-maturity debt 
securities. This ASU had the same effective date as the new credit loss standard. We adopted this ASU in conjunction with the 
adoption of ASU 2016-13 with no election of the fair value option.

The amendments in ASU 2019-11 provide several narrow-scope changes to the new credit losses standard, including one 
requiring entities to include certain expected recoveries of the amortized cost basis in the allowance for credit losses for 
purchased credit-deteriorated assets (PCDs), transitions relief, disclosure related to accrued interest receivables, financial 
assets secured by collateral maintenance provisions, and others. The standard shares the same effective date as the new 
credit loss standard. We adopted this ASU in conjunction with the adoption of ASU 2016-13 and the impact of this update is 
included in the recorded amount upon adoption of Topic 326 above.

In February 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-03, Codification Improvements to Financial Instruments, which further amends 
ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. The 
ASU makes specific amendments to certain financial instruments guidance including a clarification that the contractual term 
used to estimate the loss for a net investment in a lease should be the "lease term." The ASU also states that when an entity 
regains control of financial assets sold, an allowance for credit losses should be recorded under ASC 326 for those assets. 
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This ASU has the same effective date as the new credit loss standard. We adopted this ASU guidance in conjunction with the 
adoption of ASU 2016-13.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize most leases on- 
balance sheet. Lessor accounting will remain substantially the same, but the ASU contains changes intended to align lessor 
accounting with the lessee accounting model. The ASU replaces most existing lease accounting guidance and requires 
expanded quantitative and qualitative disclosures for both lessees and lessors. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, 
Leases – Targeted Improvements (Topic 842), which provides entities a transition option to initially apply the new leases 
standard at the effective date, e.g. January 1, 2019 for the Company, and recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption without restating comparative periods presented in the financial 
statements. Further amending the new leases standard, the FASB issued ASU 2018-20 in December 2018 and ASU 2019-01, 
Leases (Topic 842), in March 2019, to provide certain clarifications on lessor accounting. Specifically, ASU 2018-20 allows 
lessors to make an accounting policy election to not evaluate whether sales taxes and other similar taxes are lessor costs; it 
also requires lessors to exclude lessor costs paid directly by lessees to third parties on the lessor’s behalf from variable 
payments but to include lessor costs that are reimbursed by the lessees in the measurement of variable lease revenue and the 
associated expense. ASU 2019-01, Leases (Topic 842), provides guidance on determining the fair value of the underlying 
asset by lessors that are not manufacturers or dealers, at its cost, less any volume or trade discounts, as long as there isn’t 
significant amount of time between acquisition of the asset and lease commencement. In addition, ASU 2019-01 clarifies that 
lessors in the Scope of ASC 942, Financial Services – Depository and Lending, must classify principal payments received from 
sales-type and direct financing leases in investing activities in the statement of cash flows.

The Company adopted all above-mentioned ASUs related to Leases (Topic 842) as of their effective date, January 1, 2019. 
We elected the transition option as provided in ASU 2018-11 to initially apply the new leases standard upon adoption. In 
addition, we elected the transition practical expedient package which did not require reassessment of: 1) whether any 
contracts are or contain embedded leases; 2) the lease classification for any leases; and 3) whether initial direct costs meet 
the new definition as of the adoption date. From the lessee perspective, no embedded leases were identified. As such, upon 
adoption we recognized a Right of Use (“ROU’) asset of $232.4 million and a lease liability of $247.1 million primarily related to 
existing real estate operating leases as of January 1, 2019. The ROU and lease liability recognition impact changed by a 
marginal amount from our Form 10-K disclosure for the year ended December 31, 2018. This was due to updated information 
received subsequent to our Form 10-K filing related to the timing of cash receipt of an estimated lease incentive.

From the lessor perspective, the related accounting is unchanged, except that certain initial direct costs are no longer eligible 
for capitalization. Additionally, for the Company’s existing lessor leases modified following adoption and new leases executed 
after January 1, 2019, the classification of certain leases will change from direct financing to sales-type when the control is 
deemed to have transferred, i.e., the residual value is guaranteed solely by the lessee. This has no implications on the 
associated accounting, but impacts the associated disclosure. Therefore, the associated impact of this standard on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements as it relates to lessor contracts was minimal. See Note 23 to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements for further discussion.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40), 
Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. This
ASU aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs in a Cloud Computing Arrangement service contract with the 
requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred for an internal-use software license. Implementation costs incurred 
by customers in a cloud computing arrangement are to be deferred and recognized over the term of the arrangement, if those 
costs would be capitalized by the customer in a software licensing arrangement under the internal-use software guidance. The 
Company early adopted this ASU as of September 30, 2018 with retrospective transition to capitalize implementation costs 
incurred for new systems, primarily related to loan operations. The impact to the Company is limited to financial statement 
presentation. Specifically, the capitalized asset and amortization expense in both the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Condition and the Consolidated Statements of Income changed for new cloud based software. The capitalization of eligible 
implementation costs is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition in Other assets, instead of Premises 
and equipment, net. The associated amortization is recorded in Information technology expense instead of Other general and 
administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The impact of adoption to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements was immaterial.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting 
for Hedging Activities, which changes the recognition and presentation requirements of hedge accounting, including: 
eliminating the requirement to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness; and presenting all items that affect 
earnings in the same income statement line item as the hedged item. The ASU also provides new alternatives for applying 
hedge accounting to additional hedging strategies; measuring the hedged item in fair value hedges of interest rate risk; 
reducing the cost and complexity of applying hedge accounting by easing the requirements for effectiveness testing, hedge 
documentation and application of the critical terms match method; and reducing the risk of material error correction if a 
company applies the shortcut method inappropriately. The Company early adopted this ASU on April 1, 2018. The guidance 
did not have an impact on our derivatives on the date of adoption and thus there was no impact to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements through June 30, 2018. However, during the latter half of 2018, we entered into partial term fair value hedges to 
hedge certain fixed rate loans held for investment. These hedges are expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in 
the fair value of the hedged loans. The related hedging relationships are designated as fair value hedges under the “last-of- 
layer” method, a new approach provided by ASU 2017-12. Gains and losses on derivatives instruments designated as fair 
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loans.

We are an active participant in the SBA loan and SBA pool secondary market by purchasing, securitizing, and selling the 
guaranteed portions of SBA loans, most of which have adjustable rates and float at a spread to the prime rate. Once 
purchased, we typically warehouse the guaranteed loan for approximately 30 to 180 days and classify them as loans held for 
sale. From this warehouse, we aggregate like SBA loans by similar characteristics into pools for securitization to the secondary 
market. The timing of the purchase and sale of such loan pools drives the period-to-period fluctuations in average balances of 
loans held for sale, which averaged $196.9 million and $152.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively.

Average total deposits and borrowings increased $11.05 billion, or 25.2%, to $54.91 billion during the year ended 
December 31, 2020, compared to $43.86 billion for the previous year. Overall cost of funding was 0.75% during 2020, 
decreasing 62 basis points from 1.37% in 2019, primarily due to the decrease in market interest rates in 2020. 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, average non-interest-bearing demand deposits were $15.72 billion, compared to 
$12.16 billion for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $3.57 billion, or 29.3%. Non-interest-bearing demand 
deposits continue to comprise a significant component of our deposit mix, representing 29.6% of all deposits at December 31, 
2020. Additionally, average NOW and interest-bearing demand and money market accounts totaled $32.71 billion for the year 
ended December 31, 2020, an increase of $9.31 billion, or 39.8%, over the year ended December 31, 2019. Core deposits 
have provided us with a source of stable and relatively low cost funding, which has positively affected our net interest margin 
and income. As a result of the decrease in the federal funds rate over the last year, our funding cost for money market 
accounts decreased to 0.80% for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 1.57% for the prior year. Our funding cost 
for NOW and interest-bearing demand accounts was 0.77% for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 1.91% for the 
year ended December 31, 2019.

Average time deposits, which are relatively short-term in nature, totaled $2.13 billion for the year ended December 31, 2020 
and carried an average cost of 1.78% in 2020, down 57 basis points from 2.35% in 2019. Time deposits are offered to 
supplement our core deposit operations for existing or new client relationships, and are not marketed through retail channels.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, average total borrowings were $4.35 billion, compared to $5.81 billion for the previous 
year, a decrease of $1.46 billion or 25.1%. The decrease in average total borrowings, when compared to the previous year, 
was primarily attributable to a $1.05 billion prepayment in borrowings during the year, reflecting our continued ability to fund a 
large portion of our loan growth with deposits. At December 31, 2020 total borrowings represent approximately 5.7% of all 
funding liabilities, compared to 10.5% at December 31, 2019. The average cost of our total borrowings was 2.64% for 2020, 
down 11 basis points from 2.75% in 2019. The decrease in the average cost of borrowings is primarily due to the lower 
replacement rates for our Federal Home Loan Bank advances as a result of the recent rate cuts by the Federal Reserve in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Provision for Credit Losses

Our provision for credit losses was $248.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $22.6 million for the 
prior year, an increase of $225.5 million, or over 100%. The higher provision is primarily attributable to COVID-19 and its 
ongoing impact on the US economy and the related macroeconomic forecast, namely the increase in forecasted 
unemployment, as well as the significant decline in the commercial property price index value forecasts. During 2020, the 
portfolio mix of our loan growth has continued to shift from commercial real estate to fund banking. As fund banking loans 
generally possess stronger credit quality, as evident in the portfolio risk rating composition, a lower loss rate is ascribed. 
However, the positive impact on the provision due to this continued migration of portfolio mix during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2020 was offset by the aforementioned impact of COVID-19.

Our ACLLL increased $258.3 million to $508.3 million at December 31, 2020 from $250.0 million at December 31, 2019, 
primarily attributable to COVID-19 and its ongoing impact on the US economy. The increase was also attributable to the Bank’s 
adoption of CECL on January 1, 2020, which resulted in a $45.8 million, or 18.2% increase in our allowance for credit losses, 
including the impact of $4.6 million to our allowance for unfunded commitments. The allowance for credit losses for unfunded 
commitments is recorded in Accrued expenses and other liabilities. As of adoption on January 1, 2020, our ACLLL increased 
$41.2 million, or 16.5% compared to our ALLL as of December 31, 2019.

For additional information about the provision for credit losses and the ACLLL, see the discussion of asset quality and the 
ACLLL later in this report, as well as in Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense increased $84.8 million, or 16.0%, to $614.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from 
$529.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of $54.1 million in 
salaries and benefits mostly attributable to the significant hiring of 20 new private client banking teams during 2020, among 
which,18 were added in San Francisco and the Greater Los Angeles marketplace as we continued our West Coast expansion, 
as well as the increased compensation costs driven by the continued growth of our business. The increase was also 
attributable to an increase of $18.0 million in other general and administrative expenses, primarily as a result of $14.4 million in 
negative fair value adjustments related to repossessed New York City taxi medallions, compared to $2.2 million for the same 
period last year, as well as an increase of $6.3 million in information technology expenses due to the continued growth of our 
business. Further contributing to the overall increase was an increase of $6.8 million in penalty expenses primarily associated 
with the prepayment of $1.05 billion in borrowings during 2020.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense in our Consolidated Statement of Income for all stock-based compensation awards over 
the requisite service period with a corresponding credit to additional paid-in capital. Compensation expense is measured 
based on grant date fair value and is included in salaries and benefits (non-interest expense).

As of December 31, 2020, our total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted shares was $62.4 million 
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.71 years. During the years ended December 31, 2020 
and 2019, we recognized compensation expense of $55.0 million and $55.4 million, respectively, for restricted shares. The 
total fair value of restricted shares that vested during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $29.5 million and 
$50.0 million, respectively. 

Income Taxes

We recognized income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 of $203.8 million reflecting an effective tax rate 
27.8%, compared to $234.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 reflecting an effective tax rate of 28.6%. The 
decrease in the effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2020, was primarily due to an increase in low income 
housing and solar investment tax credits, as well as the impact of the increase in the provision for credit losses on pretax 
income compared to the same period last year. This decrease was partially offset by a $6.4 million discrete expense reflecting 
true-ups to our recently filed 2019 tax returns. 

The effective tax rates for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019 were impacted by the change of 
accounting policy for the low-income housing tax credit (“LIHTC”) investments effective January 1, 2020. The change was 
applied retrospectively for comparability. The accounting change resulted in increases in the provision for income taxes of 
$40.3 million and $36.2 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. See Note 3 to our 
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
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We are an active participant in the SBA loan and SBA pool secondary market by purchasing, securitizing, and selling the 
guaranteed portions of SBA loans, most of which have adjustable rates and float at a spread to the prime rate. Once 
purchased, we typically warehouse the guaranteed loan for approximately 30 to 180 days and classify them as loans held for 
sale. From this warehouse, we aggregate like SBA loans by similar characteristics into pools for securitization to the secondary 
market. The timing of the purchase and sale of such loan pools drives the period-to-period fluctuations in average balances of 
loans held for sale, which averaged $152.6 million and $374.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively.

Average total deposits and borrowings increased $3.39 billion, or 8.4%, to $43.86 billion during the year ended December 31, 
2019, compared to $40.47 billion for the previous year. Overall cost of funding was 1.37% during 2019, increasing 36 basis 
points from 1.01% in 2018, primarily due to the increase in market interest rates and increased deposit competition in 2019. 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, average non-interest-bearing demand deposits were $12.16 billion, compared to 
$11.95 billion for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of $201.5 million, or 1.7%. Non-interest-bearing demand 
deposits continue to comprise a significant component of our deposit mix, representing 31.9% of all deposits at December 31, 
2019. Additionally, average NOW and interest-bearing demand and money market accounts totaled $23.40 billion for the year 
ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $1.86 billion, or 8.6%, over the year ended December 31, 2018. Core deposits have 
provided us with a source of stable and relatively low cost funding, which has positively affected our net interest margin and 
income. As a result of the current competitive environment and the increase in the federal funds rate over the last year, our 
funding cost for money market accounts increased to 1.57% for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 1.16% for 
the prior year. Our funding cost for NOW and interest-bearing demand accounts was 1.91% for the year ended December 31, 
2019 compared to 1.43%% for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Average time deposits, which are relatively short-term in nature, totaled $2.50 billion for the year ended December 31, 2019 
and carried an average cost of 2.35% in 2019, up 58 basis points from 1.77% in 2018. Time deposits are offered to 
supplement our core deposit operations for existing or new client relationships, and are not marketed through retail channels.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, average total borrowings were $5.81 billion, compared to $5.33 billion for the previous 
year, an increase of $476.0 million or 8.9%. The increase in average total borrowings, when compared to the previous year, 
reflects funding needs as a result of our continued loan growth. Considering the significant deposit growth in the year, 
particularly the second half of the year, we expect this average balance to decline as we continue to fund a larger portion of 
our loan portfolio with deposits. At December 31, 2019 total borrowings represent approximately 10.5% of all funding liabilities, 
compared to 14.3% at December 31, 2018. The average cost of our total borrowings was 2.75% for 2019, up 49 basis points 
from 2.26% in 2018. The increase in the average cost of borrowings primarily reflects higher replacement rates for both 
matured and new term borrowings.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense in our Consolidated Statement of Income for all stock-based compensation awards over 
the requisite service period with a corresponding credit to additional paid-in capital. Compensation expense is measured 
based on grant date fair value and is included in salaries and benefits (non-interest expense).

As of December 31, 2019, our total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted shares was $73.0 million 
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.77 years. During the years ended December 31, 2019 
and 2018, we recognized compensation expense of $55.4 million and $52.6 million, respectively, for restricted shares. The 
total fair value of restricted shares that vested during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $50.0 million and 
$62.4 million, respectively. 

Income Taxes

We recognized income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 of $234.9 million reflecting an effective tax rate 
28.6%, compared to $194.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 reflecting an effective tax rate of 27.7%. 

Effective January 1, 2020, the Bank adopted the proportional amortization method of accounting for its low-income housing tax 
credit investments. The related amortization for qualifying investments is now recorded as income tax expense instead of non-
interest income. This change was retrospectively applied to prior period financial statements for comparability. The 
amortization associated with LIHTC investments that are not eligible for the proportional amortization method and other tax 
credit investments remains to be recognized as non-interest income. See Note 3 for additional discussions.
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Financial Condition

Securities Portfolio

Securities in our investment portfolio are designated as either available-for-sale (“AFS”) or held-to-maturity (“HTM”) based 
upon various factors, including asset/liability management strategies, liquidity and profitability objectives and regulatory 
requirements. AFS securities may be sold prior to maturity, based upon asset/liability management decisions and are carried at 
fair value. 

Unrealized gains on AFS securities are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, in 
shareholders’ equity. A decline in fair value below amortized cost basis of an AFS security is assessed whether it is caused by 
credit-related or noncredit-related factors. Credit attributable losses are recognized as an allowance on the balance sheet with 
a corresponding adjustment to current earnings; while the non-credit related component is recognized in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. The total amount of impairment loss is limited to the difference between the security’s 
amortized cost and fair value, i.e., the “fair value floor.” Both the allowance and the adjustment to net income can be reversed 
if conditions change subsequently. 

HTM securities are reviewed upon acquisition to determine whether it has experienced a more-than-insignificant deterioration 
in credit quality since its original issuance date, i.e., if they meet the definition of a purchased credit impaired asset (“PCDs”). 
No HTM securities were identified as PCDs as of December 31, 2020. As a result, our HTM securities are carried at cost and 
adjusted for amortization of premiums or accretion of discounts, which are periodically adjusted for estimated prepayments. 
Expected credit losses on HTM debt securities through the life of the financial instrument are estimated and recognized as an 
allowance on the balance sheet with a corresponding adjustment to current earnings. As of period end, substantially all of our 
HTM securities are guaranteed by the U.S. Government, issued by government sponsored entities (GSEs) or U.S. 
Government agencies, and have a ‘zero loss assumption’, leaving only a few HTM securities where a reserve is applicable. 
Subsequent favorable or adverse changes in expected cash flow will first decrease or increase the allowance for credit losses. 
If the change in expected cash flows has reduced the allowance to a level below zero, the accretable yield is adjusted on a 
prospective basis.

At December 31, 2020, our total securities portfolio was $11.17 billion and primarily consisted of mortgage-backed securities 
(“MBSs”) and collateralized mortgage obligations (“CMOs”) issued by U.S. Government agencies ($1.06 billion), government-
sponsored enterprises ($7.88 billion), and private issuers ($624.3 million). As of December 31, 2020, 88.6% of our securities 
portfolio had a AAA credit rating, 94.1% had a credit rating of A or better, and 99.4% was rated investment grade or better. 
Overall, our securities portfolio had a weighted average duration of 2.22 years and a weighted average life of 4.01 years as of 
December 31, 2020. For further discussion of our investment securities and the related determination of fair value, see Notes 4 
and 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The agency MBS portfolio primarily consists of adjustable-rate hybrid securities, fixed-rate balloon and seasoned 15-year 
structures. The agency CMO portion of our portfolio primarily consists of short duration planned amortization and sequential 
structures, collateralized by conforming first lien residential mortgages. The private CMO portfolio consists of prime borrowers 
with seasoned underlying mortgages and supportive credit enhancement. Our asset-backed portfolio primarily consists of 
intermediate term fixed rate AAA and floating rate AA/A rated credit card, auto and home equity collateralized securities and 
collateralized debt obligations

At December 31, 2020, the net unrealized gain on securities, net of tax effect, was $1.2 million as reflected in accumulated 
other comprehensive loss, compared to a net unrealized loss of $30.0 million at December 31, 2019 due to the prevailing 
interest rate environment. The fair value of our AFS securities is affected by several factors, including (i) credit spreads, (ii) the 
interest rate environment, (iii) unemployment rates, (iv) delinquencies and defaults on the mortgages underlying such 
obligations, (v) changes in interest rates resulting from expiration of the fixed rate portion of adjustable rate mortgages, (vi) 
changing home prices, (vii) market liquidity for such obligations, and (viii) uncertainties with respect to government-sponsored 
enterprises such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, which guarantee many of the debt securities we own. The estimated effect 
of possible changes in interest rates on our earnings and equity is discussed in “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative 
Disclosures About Market Risk.”

We continue to closely monitor the securities in our investment portfolio, and other than those securities for which we have 
recorded credit losses, we have no intent to sell these securities, and we believe it is not more likely than not that we will be 
required to sell these investments before recovery of their amortized cost basis. In the event these securities demonstrate an 
adverse change in expected cash flows and we no longer expect to recover the amortized cost basis or if we change our intent 
to hold these securities, the security’s cost basis will be written down to its fair value through earnings. If there is an existing 
allowance for credit losses, the allowance will be written off against the security’s amortized cost basis first with the remaining 
difference between the fair value and amortized cost recognized as a loss in earnings.
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Liquidity

Liquidity is the measurement of our ability to meet our cash needs. Our objective in managing liquidity is to maintain our ability 
to meet loan commitments and deposit withdrawals, purchase investments and pay other liabilities in accordance with their 
terms, without an adverse impact on our current or future earnings. Our liquidity management is guided by policies developed 
and monitored by our asset/liability management committee and approved by our Board of Directors. The asset/liability 
management committee consists of, among others, our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Vice Chairman, 
Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. These policies take into account the marketability of assets, the 
source and stability of deposits, our wholesale borrowing capacity and the amount of our loan commitments. While the Bank 
may raise funds through a common stock offering, preferred stock offering or debt issuance to facilitate continued growth, our 
primary source of liquidity has been core deposit growth.

Additionally, we have borrowing sources available to supplement deposit flows, including the FHLB and repurchase agreement 
lines with other financial institutions. We also have access to the brokered deposit market, through which we have numerous 
alternatives and significant capacity, if needed. We also opportunistically access capital markets from time to time to obtain 
additional capital to support our growth as evidenced by our historical common stock offerings, recent preferred stock issuance 
in December 2020, as well as the 2019 and 2020 subordinated debt issuances. 

Credit availability at the FHLB is based on our financial condition, our asset size and the amount of collateral we hold at the 
FHLB. At December 31, 2020, our FHLB borrowings totaled $2.84 billion with an average rate of 1.07% that mature by 
February 2025. We had no securities sold under repurchase agreements to the FHLB as of December 31, 2020. While not 
pledged, FHLB held $351.4 million of securities as custodian as of December 31, 2020. These securities can be pledged 
towards future borrowings, as necessary.

We also have repurchase agreement lines with several leading financial institutions totaling $1.73 billion. At December 31, 
2020, we had $150.0 million of securities sold under repurchase agreements to one of these institutions. These borrowings 
have an average rate of 1.92% with $100.0 million maturing in August 2025 and the remaining $50.0 million maturing in August 
2026.

Based on our financial condition, our asset size, the available capacity under our repurchase agreement lines and our FHLB 
line, and the amount of securities and loans available for pledging, we estimate our available consolidated capacity for 
additional borrowings to be approximately $9.76 billion as of December 31, 2020.

The Bank has declared and paid a quarterly common stock cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or a total of approximately $30.0 
to $31.0 million each quarter since the third quarter of 2018. On January 20, 2021, the Bank declared its fourth quarter 2020 
cash dividend of $0.56 per share to be paid on or after February 12, 2021 to common stockholders of record at the close of 
business on February 1, 2021.

In addition, in 2018, the Bank’s stockholders and regulators approved the repurchase of common stock from the Bank’s 
shareholders in open market transactions in the aggregate purchase amount of up to $500 million. On February 19, 2020, the 
Board of Directors approved an amendment to the stock repurchase program that restored the Bank’s share repurchase 
authorization to an aggregate purchase amount of up to $500.0 million from the $220.9 million that was remaining under the 
original authorization as of December 31, 2019. The amended stock repurchase program was approved by the shareholders in 
April 2020. The Bank has suspended any future repurchases of common stock given the COVID-19 circumstances since the 
end of the first quarter of 2020. As a result, no common stock was repurchased by the Bank during the remainder of 2020. 
During the third quarter of 2020, we received regulatory approval to extend the stock repurchase of the $170.8 million 
remaining under the original authorization to September 30, 2021. We plan to seek separate regulatory approval for the
additional $279.1 million approved under the amended authorization. To date, the Bank has repurchased 2,689,544 shares of
common stock for a total of $329.2 million and the amount remaining under the amended authorization was $450.0 million at 
December 31, 2020.
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The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 has been audited by KPMG LLP, the 
independent registered public accounting firm that has also audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and 
for the year ended December 31, 2020. The report of KPMG LLP on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting is included below.
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KPMG LLP
345 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10154-0102

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors 
Signature Bank:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

We have audited Signature Bank and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated statements of financial condition of the Company as of December 31, 
2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ 
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related 
notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated March 1, 2021 expressed an 
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying 
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm 
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with 
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 

KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of 
the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with 

KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.
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company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; 
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, 
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

 

New York, New York 
March 1, 2021
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Incorporated by reference to Signature Bank’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 22, 
2021.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Incorporated by reference to Signature Bank’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 22, 
2021.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Incorporated by reference to Signature Bank’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 22, 
2021.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Incorporated by reference to Signature Bank’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 22, 
2021.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Incorporated by reference to Signature Bank’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 22, 
2021.
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ITEM 16. Form 10-K Summary
Not applicable.
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KPMG LLP
345 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10154-0102

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors 
Signature Bank:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Signature Bank and 
subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of 
income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the 
three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial 
statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 1, 2021 expressed an 
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Changes in Accounting Principles

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of 
accounting for the recognition and measurement of credit losses as of January 1, 2020 due to the adoption of 
ASC 326, Credit Losses.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has elected to change its method 
of accounting for Low Income Housing Tax Credit investments from the equity method of accounting to the 
proportional amortization method of accounting as of January 1, 2020.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are 
a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to 
assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, 
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also 
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of 
the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with 
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.
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Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated 
financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) 
relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our 
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not 
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by 
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the 
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Allowance for credit losses for loans and leases associated with the credit rated commercial real estate 
loan portfolio and the credit rated commercial and industrial loan portfolio that are collectively assessed

As discussed in Notes 2 and 9 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the Company’s total 
allowance for credit losses as of December 31, 2020 was $519.1 million, of which $422.7 million related to 
the allowance for credit losses for loans and leases collectively assessed (collectively assessed allowance) 
for the credit rated commercial real estate loan portfolio (CRE) and the credit rated commercial and 
industrial loan portfolio (C&I). Loans and leases that share similar credit risk characteristics, such as 
product type, collateral type, credit rating, vintage, asset size, etc., are grouped into respective pools for 
collective assessment, and as such make up the collectively assessed allowance. The collectively 
assessed allowance for credit rated CRE and C&I represents the Company’s estimate of current expected 
credit losses in the loan and lease portfolio over its expected life, which is the contract term adjusted for 
expected prepayments and options to extend the contractual term that are not unconditionally cancellable 
by the Company. For the collectively assessed allowance for credit rated CRE, the Company uses a loan- 
level probability of default (PD) and loss given default (LGD) model. The attribute most significant to 
calculating the PD is the net operating income from the underlying collateral, which in turn, determines the 
debt service coverage ratio. The LGD is estimated using an updated loan to value ratio as of each 
reporting date. The related model multiplies each loan’s derived macroeconomic adjusted PD, LGD and 
amortized cost to estimate the associated reserve at a loan level. The Company estimates the collectively 
assessed allowance for credit rated C&I either utilizing a vendor-based loss rate model or a lifetime loss 
rate model. The Company uses a model to develop the vendor-based loss rate, which projects reserves 
based primarily on the North American Industry Classification System code, the assigned risk rating and 
the associated term of the loan. The lifetime loss rate model utilizes a single loss rate based on historical 
net charge-offs. The vendor-based loss rate model multiplies each loan’s derived macroeconomic adjusted 
loss rates and the amortized cost of each loan to estimate the associated reserve. For the remaining C&I 
loan portfolio segments, the expected lifetime credit losses are estimated at a loan level by multiplying the 
derived historical loss rates and amortized cost of each loan. The following key factors and assumptions 
are incorporated in the above-mentioned models utilized for the collectively assessed allowance for credit 
rated CRE and C&I: a historical loss period, which represents a full economic credit cycle utilizing internal 
loss experience, as well as industry and peer historical loss data; a single economic forecast scenario; a 
reasonable and supportable forecast period; a reversion period (except for certain C&I loan portfolio 
segments); and expected prepayment rates. Qualitative adjustments or model overlays may be recorded 
based on expert credit judgment in circumstances where, in the Company’s view, inputs, assumptions, 
and/or modeling techniques do not capture all relevant risk factors.

We identified the assessment of the collectively assessed allowance for credit rated CRE and C&I as a 
critical audit matter. A high degree of audit effort, including specialized skills and knowledge, and subjective 
and complex auditor judgment was involved in the assessment of the collectively assessed allowance for 
credit rated CRE and C&I. Specifically, the assessment encompassed an evaluation of the collectively 
assessed allowance for credit rated CRE and C&I methodology, including the methods and models used to 
estimate (1) the PD, LGD, and vendor-based and lifetime loss rates and their significant assumptions, 
including the economic forecast scenario and macroeconomic factors, the reasonable and supportable 
forecast period, the reversion period, expected prepayment rates, and risk ratings on C&I, and (2) the 
qualitative adjustments. The assessment also included an evaluation of the conceptual soundness and
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performance of the PD, LGD, and loss rate models. In addition, auditor judgment was required to evaluate the 
sufficiency of audit evidence obtained.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated 
the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Company’s 
measurement of the collectively assessed allowance for credit rated CRE and C&I, including controls over 
the:

• development of the collectively assessed allowance for credit rated CRE and C&I methodology

• development of the PD, LGD, and loss rate models

• performance monitoring of the PD, LGD, and loss rate models

• identification and determination of the significant assumptions used in the PD, LGD, and loss rate 
models

• development of the qualitative adjustments

• analysis of the collectively assessed allowance for CRE and C&I results, trends, and ratios.

We evaluated the Company’s process to develop the collectively assessed allowance for credit rated CRE 
and C&I by testing certain sources, the relevance and reliability of the data, factors, and assumptions that 
the Company used. In addition, we involved credit risk professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, 
who assisted in:

• evaluating the Company’s collectively assessed allowance for the credit rated CRE and C&I 
methodology for compliance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

• evaluating judgements made by the Company relative to the development and performance monitoring 
of the PD, LGD, and loss rate models

• assessing the conceptual soundness and performance testing of the PD, LGD, and loss rate models by 
inspecting the model documentation to determine whether the models are suitable for their intended 
use

• evaluating the selection of the economic forecast scenario and macroeconomic factors by comparing it 
to the Company’s business environment and relevant industry practices

• evaluating the length of the reasonable and supportable forecast period and reversion period, if 
applicable, by comparing them to specific portfolio risk characteristics and trends

• testing individual risk ratings for a selection of C&I loan borrower relationships by evaluating the 
financial performance of the borrower, sources of repayment, and any relevant guarantees or 
underlying collateral

• evaluating the methodology used to develop the qualitative adjustments and the effect of those 
adjustments on the collectively assessed allowance for credit rated CRE and C&I compared with 
relevant credit risk factors and consistency with credit trends and identified limitations of the underlying 
quantitative models.

We also assessed the sufficiency of the audit evidence obtained related to the collectively assessed 
allowance for credit rated CRE and C&I by evaluating:

• cumulative results of the audit procedures
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• qualitative aspects of the Company’s accounting practices

• potential bias in the accounting estimate.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2001. 

New York, New York
March 1, 2021
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SIGNATURE BANK 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Organization

Signature Bank (the “Bank” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “we,” or “us”) is a New York State chartered 
bank. On April 5, 2001, the Bank received its charter from the New York State Banking Department (now known as the New 
York State Department of Financial Services) and commenced business on May 1, 2001. The Bank currently operates 36 
private client offices located throughout the New York metropolitan area, including Connecticut, as well as in California and 
North Carolina. Through its single-point-of-contact approach, the Bank's private client banking teams serve the needs of 
privately owned businesses, their owners and senior managers.  

The Bank operates Signature Financial LLC (“Signature Financial”), a specialty finance subsidiary focused on equipment 
finance and leasing, transportation, taxi medallion, commercial marine, and national franchise financing and/or leasing. 
Additionally, through our Signature Public Funding Corporation (“Signature Public Funding”) subsidiary, the Bank provides a 
range of municipal finance and tax-exempt lending and leasing products to government entities throughout the country, 
including state and local governments, school districts, fire and police and other municipal entities. The Bank also operates 
Signature Securities Group Corporation (“Signature Securities”), a licensed broker-dealer and investment advisor offering 
investment, brokerage, asset management and insurance products and services.  

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a)  Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and practices within the banking industry. These financial statements have been 
prepared to reflect all adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial condition and results of operations as of the dates 
and for the periods shown. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
Effective January 1, 2020, we changed our accounting policy for Low Income Housing Tax Credit ("LIHTC") investments from 
the equity method to the proportional amortization method as it was determined to be the preferable method. All applicable 
prior period amounts have been retroactively restated to conform to the new accounting policy. See Note 3 to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further discussion.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current period’s presentation. 
To better align with recent regulatory guidance, in 2017 the Bank began using the acquisition, development and construction 
loan caption. Within this document, the change only impacted the loan and lease loss provision by loan portfolio segment table 
in Note 9. 

(b)  Management’s Use of Estimates

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Our significant estimates include the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses for loans and leases (“ACLLL” or the 
“allowance”).

Beginning January 1, 2020, the allowance for credit losses ("ACL"), applying an expected credit loss approach as required 
under ASC 326, Credit Losses, is estimated using a combination of quantitative models and qualitative adjustments, both of 
which, may incorporate inputs, assumptions and techniques that involve a high degree of management judgment. The ACL 
represents the credit loss estimate under the new standard, replacing the Allowance for Loan an Lease Losses ("ALLL") under 
the legacy GAAP. See 2(g) below for additional information.

(c)  Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, we have defined cash and cash equivalents to 
include cash and due from banks and short-term investments with original maturities of 90 days or less. Short-term 
investments may consist of federal funds sold, interest-bearing deposits with banks and money market mutual funds.

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2020 consisted of cash and due from banks of $12.21 billion, interest-bearing 
deposits with banks of $101.6 million  and money market mutual funds of $37.7 million. Cash and cash equivalents at 
December 31, 2019 consisted of cash and due from banks of $702.3 million, interest-bearing deposits with banks of $50.4 
million and money market mutual funds of $37.1 million.
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We are required by the Federal Reserve System to maintain non-interest bearing cash reserves equal to a percentage of 
certain deposits. The reserve requirement amounted to zero and $449.7 million for the periods that included December 31, 
2020 and 2019, respectively.

(d)  Securities Available-for-Sale and Securities Held-to-Maturity

The designation of a security as held-to-maturity (“HTM”) is made at the time of acquisition. Securities that we have the 
positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as HTM and carried at amortized cost. Amortization of premiums and 
accretion of discounts are recognized using the level yield method.

Securities classified as available-for-sale (“AFS”) include debt securities that are carried at estimated fair value. Unrealized 
gains or losses on securities available-for-sale are included as a separate component of shareholders’ equity, net of tax effect. 
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts are recognized using the level yield method. Realized gains and losses 
on sales of securities are computed using the specific identification method and are reported in non-interest income.

A debt security, either AFS or HTM, is designated as nonaccrual if the payment of interest is past due and unpaid for 30 days 
or more. Once a security is placed on nonaccrual, accrued interest receivable is reversed and further interest income 
recognition is ceased. Since the nonaccrual policy results in a timely reversal of interest receivable, the Bank does not record 
an ACL on interest receivable. The security will not be restored to accrual status until the security has been current on interest 
payments for a sustained period, i.e., a consecutive period of six months or two quarters; and the Bank expects repayment of 
the remaining contractual principal and interest. However, if the security continues to be in deferral status, or the Bank does 
not expect to collect the remaining interest payments and the contractual principal, charge-off is to be assessed. Upon charge-
off, the allowance is written off and the loss represents a permanent write-down of the cost basis of the security.

The Bank uses various inputs to determine the fair value of its investment portfolio, which are classified within a three-level fair 
value hierarchy based on the transparency and reliability of inputs to valuation methodologies. To the extent they are available, 
we use quoted market prices (Level 1) to determine fair value. If quoted market prices are not available, we use valuation 
techniques such as matrix pricing to determine fair value (Level 2). This technique leverages observable inputs including 
quoted prices for similar assets, benchmark yield curves, and other market corroborated inputs. In cases where there is little, if 
any, related market activity, fair value estimates are based upon internally-developed valuation techniques and assumptions 
such as discount rates, credit spreads, default and delinquency rates, and prepayment speeds (Level 3). A significant degree 
of judgment is involved in valuing investments using Level 3 inputs, and the use of different assumptions could have a positive 
or negative effect on our financial condition or results of operations. See Note 4 for more details on our security valuation 
techniques.

Beginning January 1, 2020, we evaluate AFS securities that experienced a decline in fair value below amortized cost for credit 
impairment. The Bank recognizes a credit impairment through earnings if we have the intent to sell the security, or it is more 
likely than not ("MLTN") that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost. If the Bank does not 
intend to nor would be required to sell the security prior to recovery of the amortized cost, the Bank evaluates whether a 
decline in fair value below amortized cost is due to credit-related or noncredit-related factors, such as interest rate risk, 
prepayment risk or liquidity risk. Credit attributable losses are recognized as an allowance for credit losses ("ACL") with a 
corresponding adjustment to current earnings; while the non-credit related component is recognized in Other comprehensive 
income (loss) (“OCI”) net of applicable taxes. The total amount of impairment loss is limited to the difference between the 
security’s amortized cost and fair value, i.e., the “fair value floor.” Both the allowance and the adjustment to net income can be 
reversed if conditions change subsequently. 

Beginning January 1, 2020, the ACL on held-to-maturity debt securities is based on the security’s amortized cost, excluding 
interest receivable, and represents the portion of the amortized cost that the Bank does not expect to collect over the life of the 
security. The ACL on held-to-maturity debt securities is initially recognized upon acquisition of the securities, and subsequently 
remeasured on a recurring basis. HTM securities are reviewed upon acquisition to determine whether it has experienced a 
more-than-insignificant deterioration in credit quality since its original issuance date, i.e., if they meet the definition of a 
purchased credit impaired asset (“PCDs”). Non-PCD HTM securities are carried at cost and adjusted for amortization of 
premiums or accretion of discounts, which are periodically adjusted for estimated prepayments. Expected credit losses on 
HTM debt securities through the life of the financial instrument are estimated and recognized as an allowance for credit losses 
("ACL") on the balance sheet with a corresponding adjustment to current earnings. Subsequent favorable or adverse changes 
in expected cash flow will first decrease or increase the allowance for credit losses. If the change in expected cash flows has 
reduced the allowance to a level below zero, the accretable yield is adjusted on a prospective basis.

Prior to January 1, 2020, we regularly evaluated both of our AFS and HTM securities to identify declines in fair value that are 
considered other-than-temporary ("OTTI") based on certain quantitative and qualitative factors. For securities other than 
securitized financial assets, the primary factors considered in evaluating whether a decline in value was other-than-temporary 
include: (a) the length of time and extent to which the fair value had been less than cost or amortized cost and the expected 
recovery period of the security, (b) the financial condition, credit rating, and future prospects of the issuer, (c) whether the 
debtor was current on contractually-obligated interest and principal payments, and (d) whether we intended to sell or whether 
we would be MLTN required to sell these instrument before recovery of their cost basis. Once a debt security was deemed to 
be other-than-temporarily impaired, the investment was written down to fair value with the estimated credit loss charged to 
current earnings and the noncredit-related impairment loss charged to other comprehensive income (loss).
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Equity securities, including FHLB stock, which are not quoted on an exchange and not considered to be readily marketable are 
recorded at cost, less impairment (if any).

(e)  Loans Held for Sale

Loans originated and held for sale in the secondary market are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value.  Net 
unrealized losses, if any, are recognized through a valuation allowance by charges to current earnings. Gains or losses 
resulting from sales of loans held for sale, net of unamortized deferred fees and costs, are recognized at the time of sale and 
are included in net gains on sales of loans on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

(f)  Loans and Leases, Net

Loans are carried at the principal amount outstanding, less unearned discounts, net of deferred loan origination fees and costs 
and the ACLLL. Unearned income and net deferred loan fees and costs are accreted/amortized into interest income over the 
loan term on a basis that approximates the level yield method.

The accrual of interest income is generally discontinued at the time a loan becomes 90 days delinquent based on contractual 
terms. Other factors are also considered in determining whether a loan should be classified as nonaccrual, including whether 
the loan is to a borrower in an industry experiencing economic stress, whether the borrower is experiencing other issues such 
as inadequate cash-flow, or the nature of the underlying collateral and whether it is susceptible to deterioration in realizable 
value. In the case of commercial loans, residential mortgages, and home equity lines of credit, exceptions may be made if the 
loan has sufficient collateral value, based on a current appraisal, and is in process of collection. Additionally, an accruing loan 
that is modified as a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”) may remain in accrual status if, based on a credit analysis, collection 
of principal and interest in accordance with the modified terms is reasonably assured, and the borrower demonstrated 
sustained historical repayment performance for a reasonable period prior to modification. In all cases, loans are placed on 
nonaccrual status or charged-off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful.  

Once a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, our accounting policies are applied consistently, regardless of loan type. All 
interest previously accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on nonaccrual status is reversed against interest income. 
Payments received on nonaccrual loans are applied against the outstanding loan principal. Loans are returned to accrual 
status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably 
assured.

(g)  Allowance for Credit Losses ("ACL") for Loans and Leases

Beginning January 1, 2020, the ACL includes the allowance for credit losses associated with funded commercial and consumer 
loans and leases, as well as the reserve for unfunded lending commitments. The allowance for funded loans is established 
through a provision for loan and lease losses charged to current earnings and an adjustment to the ACLLL. The allowance for 
the unfunded portion is based on utilization assumptions and is established through a provision charged to Non-interest 
expense and is recorded in Accrued expenses and other liabilities. The ACL reserve including the ACLLL for the funded portion 
and the reserve for the unfunded portion, represents management’s estimate of current expected credit losses (“CECL”) in the 
Company’s loan and lease portfolio over its expected life, which is the contract term adjusted for expected prepayments and 
options to extend the contractual term that are not unconditionally cancellable by us. The ACLLL is initially recognized upon 
origination or purchase of the loans and leases, and subsequently remeasured on a recurring basis.

The expected life is comprised of two stages with stage one being the reasonable and supportable (‘RNS”) period that we can 
reasonably and supportably forecast future economic conditions to estimate expected credit losses; and stage two being the 
period subsequent to the RNS period, or the reversion period, for which the estimate of credit losses reverts to a long-term 
historical loss rate. During the RNS period, historical loss experience is to be adjusted for asset-specific risk characteristics, 
i.e., underwriting standards, portfolio mix or asset term; and for economic conditions, including both current conditions and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts of future conditions. During the reversion period, no adjustments are made to historical 
loss rate other than applicable asset specific risk characteristics.

Loans and leases that share similar credit risk characteristics, such as product type, collateral type, risk rating, vintage, asset 
size, etc., are grouped into respective pools for “collective assessment.” A loan or a lease that does not have similar risk 
characteristics with other loans/leases is subject to “individual assessment.” As of December 31, 2020, all loans are pooled for 
collective assessment, except for nonaccrual loans and troubled debt restructurings, which are individually assessed for 
ACLLL given the unique status of each individual loan.
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Collectively Assessed Allowance

Our segmentation for collectively assessed loans and leases is comprised of two major categories, commercial loans and 
other, with “other” including consumer and residential loans. Commercial loans are grouped into two sub-segments: credit-
rated and non-credit rated. Credit-rated commercial loans are further segregated into commercial real estate (“CRE”) and 
commercial and industrial (“C&I”) portfolios. The largest segment of our loan portfolio is comprised of credit-rated commercial 
loans, representing 99.0% of our total loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale, as of December 31, 2020.

Credit-rated CRE loans are comprised of three sub-categories of loans: commercial property, multi-family and acquisition, 
development and construction (‘ADC”), while the rated C&I loans consist of nine sub-categories including specialty finance, 
fund banking, venture capital, owner-occupied, traditional C&I, commercial loans secured by 1-4 family real estate, asset 
based lending, other C&I, as well as personal loans for commercial use. In addition, we created a new component within each 
portfolio segment for the respective unfunded lending commitments to reflect our off balance sheet credit exposures.

Quantitative models with varying degrees of complexity are utilized for ACL estimation. The selection of models is based on 
the composition of the related portfolio segment, materiality of the portfolio, the availability of loan level versus pool level data, 
the chosen statistical modeling methodology, and how we manage the associated credit risks.

We estimate the ACLLL for our credit-rated CRE loans utilizing a loan-level probability of default (“PD”) and loss given default 
(“LGD”) model. PD represents the likelihood of default over the loan’s expected life. The attribute most significant to calculating 
the PD is the net operating income (NOI) from the underlying collateral, which in turn, determines the debt service coverage 
ratio (“DSCR”). The loss given default is an estimate of the severity of loss should a default occur, which is estimated using an 
updated Loan to Value (“LTV”) ratio as of each reporting date. The related CECL model multiplies each loan's derived 
macroeconomic adjusted PD, LGD and the amortized cost to estimate the associated reserve at a loan level.

Our C&I loans are either modeled using a vendor-based loss rate model or a lifetime loss rate model. The allowance for our 
specialty finance, traditional C&I and owner-occupied CRE loans is calculated using a vendor-based loss rate model which 
projects reserves based primarily on the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code, the assigned risk rating 
and the associated term of the loan. When assigning a credit rating to a loan, we use an internal nine-level rating system in 
which a rating of one carries the lowest level of credit risk and is used for borrowers exhibiting the strongest financial condition. 
Loans rated one through six are deemed to be of acceptable quality and are considered “Pass.” Loans that are deemed to be 
of questionable quality are rated seven (special mention). Loans with adverse classifications (substandard or doubtful) are 
rated eight or nine, respectively. The credit ratings are periodically reviewed to reflect changes in asset specific risk factors. 
The related CECL model multiplies each loan's derived macroeconomic adjusted loss rates and the amortized cost of each 
loan to estimate the associated reserve.

For our remaining C&I portfolio segments including fund banking, venture capital, non-rated commercial loans, as well as 
consumer loans, a lifetime loss rate methodology utilizing a single loss rate based on historical net charge-offs is applied for 
the reserve estimation due to their unique borrowing terms, lack of loss history or limited loss experience, as well as borrower 
and event specific events that impact credit risk. The expected lifetime credit losses for these C&I portfolios are estimated at a 
loan level by multiplying the derived historical loss rates and amortized cost of each loan. For all remaining smaller portfolio 
segments such as residential loans, a more simplified loss rate methodology which uses lifetime PD and LGD is applied for 
reserve estimation and considers loan level cash flows over the remaining contractual life. This related CECL model multiplies 
the estimated PD, LGD and amortized cost to calculate the associated reserve for each loan.

The following key factors and assumptions are incorporated in the above-mentioned models utilized for the ACLLL reserve 
under CECL:

• a historical loss period, which represents a full economic credit cycle utilizing internal loss experience, as 
well as industry and peer historical loss data;

• a single economic forecast scenario;
• an initial reasonable and supportable period of two years and a reversion period using a straight-line 

approach that extends through the shorter of one year or the end of the remaining contractual term, for all 
portfolios, except for certain C&I portfolios; these C&I portfolios incorporate a reasonable and supportable 
forecast of various macroeconomic variables such that each macroeconomic variable for the remaining 
contractual term will revert to a long-term expectation starting in years two to three, and will largely be 
completed within the first five years of the forecast, and

• expected prepayment rates based on our historical experience.

Forward-looking economic information primarily includes gross domestic product (“GDP”), unemployment rates, central-bank 
interest rates, and property price indices, which are used as inputs to the respective models of expected credit losses and the 
related ACL reserve. The Bank primarily uses external sources of information for economic forecasting. Our Economic 
Forecast Committee reviews, modifies as necessary, and approves macroeconomic forecast scenarios and variables to 
formulate management’s view of the most probable future direction of economic developments to be used in the ACLLL 
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estimation process. At each reporting date, the allowance is determined using the latest available single forward-looking 
economic scenario, e.g., Moody's Baseline forecast. If the designated single forecast is not deemed to be incorporating certain 
idiosyncratic event(s) and the impact of such event(s), a qualitative adjustment may be recorded, to include an alternative 
upside or downside scenario and capture any uncertainty related to such event(s). Other qualitative adjustments or model 
overlays may also be recorded based on expert credit judgment in circumstances where, in the Bank’s view, the existing 
regulatory guidance, inputs, assumptions, and/or modelling techniques do not capture all relevant risk factors. The use of 
qualitative reserves may require significant judgment that may impact the amount of allowance recognized. Recurring 
qualitative adjustments are made to capture certain model limitations, such as the model’s lack of consideration for the 
liquidation of collateral for our specialty finance portfolio.

In addition, non-recurring qualitative loss factors that are not already incorporated in the modeling are also considered on a 
quarterly basis to determine applicability, and assess whether there are any risks not currently being captured in our respective 
quantitative models. The following lists non-recurring qualitative factors considered on a quarterly basis:

• The nature and volume of the entity’s financial asset(s) for certain applicable portfolio segment(s);
• The entity’s lending policies and procedures, including changes in lending strategies, underwriting 

standards, collection, write-off, and recovery practices, as well as knowledge of the borrower’s operations or 
the borrower’s standing in the community;

• The quality of the entity’s credit review system;
• The experience, ability, and depth of the entity’s management, lending staff, and other relevant staff;

• The environmental factors of a borrower and the areas in which the entity’s credit is concentrated, such as:

1. Regulatory, legal, or technological environment to which the entity has exposure;

2. Changes and expected changes in the general market condition of either the geographical area or the 
industry to which the entity has exposure;

3. Changes and expected changes in international, national, regional, and local economic and business 
conditions and developments in which the entity operates, including the condition and expected 
condition of various market segments.

For C&I and specialty finance loans, significant risk rating changes are evaluated to determine the impact of loan review 
results on the respective model reserve calculation through a quantitatively supported qualitative adjustment. For all CRE 
loans, NOI and DSC information is analyzed at an industry level to determine whether there are any trends or risk factors not 
already addressed in our input information or by the model assumptions, including our macroeconomic forecast. 

On a quarterly basis, or more frequently as deemed necessary, key factors and assumptions are reviewed and refreshed to 
ensure applicability, while the overall ACLLL methodology is reviewed at least annually.

Individually Assessed Allowance

When an individual loan no longer demonstrates the similar credit characteristics as other loans within its current segment, and 
does not share similar credit characteristics of any other segment(s), it is to be individually assessed for credit losses. This 
generally happens when a loan is placed on non-accrual, a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”), or we are reasonably 
expecting to modify a loan in a TDR. A TDR is reasonably expected when the Bank has knowledge that the borrower is 
experiencing financial difficulties and has concluded that modification is the best course of action, which is generally evidenced 
by the approval of a credit offering memo (“COM’) for an identified problem loan.

For a reasonably expected TDR, we record a provision for impairment loss associated with TDRs, if any, based on the present 
value of expected future cash flows including the value of concessions made by the Bank, discounted at the original loan’s 
effective interest rate over the extended term based on the modification if the modification involves a term extension. If the 
loan is collateral dependent, for which repayment is expected to be derived substantially through the operation or sale of the 
collateral and where the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties, the ACLLL reserve is based on the fair value of the 
collateral less estimated costs to sell, if applicable, regardless if the repayment is expected substantially through the sale of 
the collateral or from the operation of collateral. At the time of restructuring, we determine whether a TDR loan should accrue 
interest based on the accrual status of the loan immediately prior to modification. Additionally, an accruing loan that is modified 
as a TDR may remain in accrual status if, based on a credit analysis, collection of principal and interest in accordance with the 
modified terms is reasonably assured, and the borrower demonstrated sustained historical repayment performance for a 
reasonable period prior to modification. A nonaccrual TDR loan will be returned to accrual status when all the principal and 
interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured. Additionally, there should 
be a sustained period of repayment performance (generally a period of six months) by the borrower in accordance with the 
modified contractual terms. In years after the year of restructuring, the loan is not reported as a TDR loan if it was restructured 
at a market interest rate and it is performing in accordance with its modified terms. Other TDRs, however, are reported as such 
for as long as the loan remains outstanding. For all loans classified as a TDR, we recognize expected credit losses, if any, 
based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the original loan’s effective interest rate, or, if the loan 
is collateral dependent, based on the fair value of the collateral less estimated costs to sell, if appropriate.
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The CARES Act and banking regulatory agencies provided relief related to TDR accounting as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Loans modified as a result of COVID-19 that were current as of December 31, 2019 are exempt from TDR 
classification under US GAAP. Additionally, banking regulatory agencies issued interagency guidance that COVID-19 related 
short-term modifications (i.e., six months or less) granted to borrowers that were current as of the loan modification program 
implementation date are not TDRs. The CARES Act guidance applied to modifications made between March 1, 2020 and the 
earlier of December 31, 2020 or 60 days after the end of the COVID-19 national emergency. In December 2020, the signing of 
the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 extended this guidance to modifications made until the earlier of January 1, 2022 or 
60 days after the end of the COVID-19 national emergency. The Bank applied this guidance in 2020. 

Prior to January 1, 2020, the Bank followed ASC 450, Contingencies, for non-imparied loans and ASC 310-10-35, 
Receivables- Subsequent Measurement," for impaired loans to estimate its allowance for loan losses ("ALLL"). The ALLL was 
established through a provision for loan and lease losses charged to current earnings. It was maintained at a level estimated 
by management to absorb probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio and was based on management’s continuing 
evaluation of the portfolio, the related risk characteristics, and the overall economic and environmental conditions affecting the 
portfolio. This estimation was inherently subjective and it required measures that were susceptible to significant revision as 
more information became available.

The ALLL was comprised of a general reserve and specific reserve. Our methodology to calculate the general reserve portion 
of the ALLL consisted of several components for the rated segments of our loan portfolio: first, we determined an ALLL based 
on quantitative loss factors for loans evaluated collectively for impairment. The quantitative loss factors were based primarily 
on historical loss rates by credit rating, after considering loan type, delinquency experience throughout the historical 
observation periods, and loss emergence periods. The quantitative loss factors applied in the methodology were periodically 
re-evaluated and adjusted to reflect changes in historical loss levels, historical observation periods, loss emergence periods, or 
other risks. Lastly, we allocated an ALLL based on qualitative loss factors dependent on both economic and portfolio-specific 
data that correlated with loan losses. These qualitative factors were intended to address developing external and 
environmental trends, and included adjustments for items such as changes in current economic and business conditions, 
changes in the nature and volume of our loan portfolio, the existence and effects of credit concentrations, the trend and 
severity of our problem loans, along with other external factors such as competition and legal and regulatory requirements.

Accrued Interest Receivable

We made an accounting policy election not to measure an ACL on accrued interest receivable ("AIR") because we write-off (or 
reverse) the uncollectible accrued interest receivable balance in a timely manner when the related loan is placed on 
nonaccrual status. However, as of December 31, 2020, we reserved $2.8 million on outstanding COVID-19 related deferrals' 
AIR due to the uncertainty of the ongoing impact of the pandemic. Specifically, AIR on COVID related deferrals has 
accumulated with no payment due to existing deferral agreements in place with these borrowers. Given the deferral of 
payments beyond a period that would typically be considered 'timely', a reserve on the AIR was deemed necessary to reserve 
for amounts that may be deemed uncollectible in a future period. To calculate this reserve, we utilized the same loss rates 
output from our models for each individual loan and applied these estimated loss rates to the corresponding AIR balance for 
each impacted loan. At December 31, 2020, the accrued interest receivable related to COVID-19 related deferrals was $79.5 
million.

Management is primarily responsible for assessing the overall adequacy of the allowance on a quarterly basis. In addition, 
reserve adequacy was assessed by an internal Loan Quality Review Committee, which includes members of senior 
management, accounting, credit and risk management, and is presented to our Board of Directors for their review and 
consideration on a quarterly basis. Reserve adequacy was also assessed by our independent risk management function, 
which performs independent credit reviews and validations of the allowance models employed.

In addition, bank regulators, as an integral part of their supervisory functions, periodically review our loan portfolio and related 
ACLLL. These regulatory agencies may disagree with our methodology, which could result in changes to our current ACL 
estimates or processes and result in an increase to our provision for loan and lease losses or the recognition of further loan 
charge-offs based upon their judgments, which may be different from ours. An increase in the ACLLL as a result of these 
judgments could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
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(h)  Charge-off of Uncollectible Loans

We charge off loans, or portions of loans, in the period that such loans, or portions thereof, are deemed uncollectible. For 
collateral-dependent loans in excess of $1.25 million, we generally record a charge-off when the carrying amount of the loan 
exceeds the fair value of collateral less estimated selling costs, if appropriate. For non-collateral dependent loans in excess of 
$1.25 million, an individually assessed allowance is recorded when the carrying amount of the loan exceeds the discounted 
estimated cash flows using the loan’s original effective interest rate. In developing the estimated cash flows (or expected future 
receipt of principal and interest payments), weight is given to the evidence consistent with the extent to which it can be verified 
objectively. All information is considered, including qualitative factors, such as existing industry, geographical, economic and 
political factors. For smaller impaired loans, in the absence of other factors affecting the collectability of the loan, we generally 
determine the amount of individually assessed allowance using estimated loss percentages based on the amount of time the 
loan has been impaired.

We may, periodically, recover funds related to a loan previously charged-off or related to previously recorded expenses 
(typically legal fee or insurance recoveries). In cases where the recovery is related to a loan previously charged-off, we first 
recover any principal charged-off and then make a determination on how the remaining funds, if any, should be applied. This 
determination is typically governed by legal stipulations of any related settlement agreements.

(i)  Loan Origination and Commitment Fees, and Loan Origination Costs

Loan origination and commitment fees, and certain loan origination costs, are deferred and amortized into interest income on a 
basis that approximates the level yield method. Net commitment fees on revolving lines of credit are recognized in interest 
income on the straight-line method over the period the revolving line is active. Any fees or costs that are unamortized at the 
time a loan is paid off or a commitment is closed are recognized into income immediately.

(j)  Securitizations

The Bank purchases, securitizes and sells the government-guaranteed portions of U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) 
loans. When the Bank securitizes SBA loans, we may retain interest-only strips, which are generally considered residual 
interests in the securitized assets. These SBA interest-only strips are accounted for and classified as AFS securities. In 
addition, when sold, the SBA loans are removed from our Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Additionally, gains 
and losses upon sale of the securitized SBA loans depend, in part, on our allocation of the previous carrying amount of the 
loans to the retained interests. Previous carrying amounts are allocated in proportion to the relative fair values of the loans sold 
and interests retained. The Bank uses an internal valuation process to determine the fair value of its SBA interest-only strip 
securities. The fair value of the retained interest may decline due to prepayment risk and credit risk. However given that the 
guaranteed portions of the SBA loans are backed by the full faith and credit of the US government, the likelihood of the decline 
in fair value attributable to credit risk is approximately zero. As a result, subsequent decline in fair value of SBA interest-only 
strip securities is included in Other comprehensive income ("OCI") unless we have an intent to sell or it is MLTN we will be 
required to sell, in which case, the difference between the fair value and carrying amount is charged against earnings.

The excess of cash flows expected to be received over the amortized cost of the retained interests is recognized as interest 
income using the effective yield method.

(k)  Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation of furniture, fixtures, 
and equipment is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Furniture and 
fixtures are normally depreciated over seven years and equipment, computer hardware, and computer software are normally 
amortized over three years. Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed by the straight-line method over their 
estimated useful lives or the terms of the leases, whichever is shorter.

(l)  Bank-Owned Life Insurance

The Bank has purchased life insurance policies on certain employees. These Bank-owned life insurance (“BOLI”) policies are 
carried at the amount that could be realized under our BOLI policies as of the date of the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Condition and are included in Other assets. Increases in the carrying value are recorded as Other income in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income and insurance proceeds received are generally recorded as a reduction of the carrying value. The 
carrying value consists of cash surrender value of $65.6 million at December 31, 2020, and $65.1 million at December 31, 
2019. There was no deferred acquisition cost as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. Our investment in BOLI generated income 
of $1.3 million, $1.5 million, and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

(m)  Repossessed Assets

Repossessed assets are comprised of any property (“other real estate” or “ORE”) or other asset acquired through loan 
restructurings, foreclosure proceedings, or acceptance of a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. Repossessed assets are included in 
Other assets in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition and are carried at fair value, less estimated selling costs at 
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the date of acquisition. Any valuation adjustments at the date of acquisition are recorded to the ACLLL. Following foreclosure, 
management periodically performs a valuation of the asset, and it is carried at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, 
less estimated selling costs. Expenses incurred to maintain repossessed assets, unrealized losses resulting from write-downs 
after the date of acquisition, and realized gains and losses upon sale of the assets are included in other general and 
administrative expense and other losses, as appropriate. If a repossessed asset is subsequently contracted for sale and the 
transaction is financed by the Bank, to the extent uncertainty exists related to collectability of the financed amount at the time 
of sale, the repossessed asset will not be derecognized and all payments received will be recorded as a deposit liability until 
the uncertainty is resolved. 

(n) Low Income Housing Tax Credit  ("LIHTC") Investments

We have investments in limited liability entities that were formed to operate qualifying affordable housing projects, and other 
entities that make equity investments, provide debt financing or support community-based investments in tax-advantaged 
projects. Certain affordable housing investments qualify for credit under the Community Reinvestment Act (“CRA”), which 
requires regulated financial institutions to help meet the credit needs of the local communities in which they are chartered, 
particularly in neighborhoods with low or moderate incomes. These tax credit investments provide tax benefits to investors 
primarily through the receipt of federal and/or state income tax credits or tax benefits in the form of tax deductible operating 
losses or expenses. We invest as a limited partner and its ownership amount in each limited liability entity, which is considered 
a variable interest entity (“VIE”), varies. As a limited partner, the Bank is not the primary beneficiary (“PB”) as it does not meet 
the power criterion, i.e., it has no power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic 
performance and has no direct ability to unilaterally remove the general partner. Accordingly, the Bank is not required to 
consolidate these entities on its financial statements. 

Effective January 1, 2020, the Company changed its accounting policy for LIHTC investments from the equity method to the 
proportional amortization method as it was determined to be the preferable method. See Note 3 for further details.

LIHTC investments are evaluated for potential impairment at least annually, or more frequently when events or conditions 
indicate that it is probable that we will not recover our investment. Potential indicators of impairment might arise when there is 
evidence that some or all tax credits previously claimed by the limited liability entities would be recaptured, or that expected 
remaining credits would no longer be available to the limited liability entities. If an investment is determined to be impaired, it is 
written down to its estimated fair value and the new cost basis of the investment is not adjusted for subsequent recoveries in 
value.

These investments are included within Other assets and any impairment loss would be recognized in Other income.

(o)  Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase

When we maintain effective control over the underlying securities, securities sold under agreements to repurchase are 
accounted for as financings (rather than as sales) and the obligations to repurchase securities sold are reflected as liabilities in 
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at the amounts at which the securities will be subsequently repurchased. 
All of our agreements have been accounted for as financings through December 31, 2020. The dollar amount of securities 
underlying the agreements remains in the asset accounts, although the securities underlying the agreements are delivered to 
the counterparties who arranged the transactions. In certain instances, the counterparties may have sold, loaned, or disposed 
of the securities to other parties in the normal course of their operations, and have agreed to resell to us substantially similar 
securities at the maturity of the agreements.
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(p)  Income Taxes

Signature Bank files consolidated federal and combined New York State and New York City income tax returns with its 
subsidiaries, with the exception of Signature Preferred Capital, Inc. which files separately as a real estate investment trust for 
federal purposes. Additionally, there are state and local tax returns filed in various other jurisdictions on both a consolidated 
basis as well as a separate company basis.  

Income tax expense consists of current and deferred income tax expense (benefit). Deferred income tax expense (benefit) is 
determined by recognizing deferred tax assets and liabilities for future tax consequences attributable to differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and certain unused 
carry-forward deductions and credits. The realization of deferred tax assets is assessed and if necessary, a valuation 
allowance is provided to reduce the asset to the amount that will more likely than not be realized. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the year in which those temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or settled and carry-forward deductions and credits are expected to be utilized. The 
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax laws or rates is recognized in income tax expense in the period 
that includes the enactment date of the change. 

Uncertain tax positions are recognized if they are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination, based on the 
technical merits of the position. The amount of tax benefit recognized is the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% 
likely of being realized upon settlement. We account for interest and penalties (if any) as a component of Income tax expense 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

(q)  Stock-Based Compensation

For equity awards in exchange for employee services received, we recognize compensation expense for all stock-based 
compensation awards over the requisite service period with a corresponding credit to additional paid-in capital. For awards 
which have performance-based vesting conditions, recognition of stock-based compensation expense begins when the 
achievement of the performance conditions is probable. If the status of the recipient of an equity award changes from 
employee to non-employee and the vesting likelihood changes from improbable to probable, the modification is treated as a 
forfeiture of the old award and issuance of a new award. The full amount of compensation cost related to the new award will be 
measured under ASC 505-50, Equity-Based Payments to Non-employees, and recognized prospectively over the required 
requisite service period. Beginning January 1, 2019, nonemployee awards are recognized consistent with employee awards. 
Compensation expense is measured based on grant date fair value and is included in Salaries and benefits in our 
Consolidated Statements of Income.

(r)  Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding for the year. Unvested stock awards with non-forfeitable rights to dividends, 
whether paid or unpaid, are considered participating securities and are included in the calculation of EPS using the two class 
method whereby net income is allocated between common stock and participating securities. 

Diluted earnings per common share is computed by dividing income allocated to common stockholders for basic EPS, 
adjusted for earnings reallocated from participating securities, by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
for the period for the dilutive effect of unvested stock awards using the treasury stock method.

Diluted earnings per common share also includes the potential dilutive effect of stock options and warrants outstanding. The 
dilutive effect is calculated using the treasury stock method.

(s) Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company utilizes derivative instruments as part of its asset/liability management strategies and to facilitate our client risk 
management needs. The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, 
whether the Company has elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and whether 
the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying 
as a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, 
such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure 
to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. 
Derivatives may also be used to economically hedge the foreign currency exposures for foreign currency loans that were 
extended to certain borrowers. 

Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging instrument with 
the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk in a fair 
value hedge or the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. The Company may also enter 
into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain of its risk, even though hedge accounting does not 
apply or the Company elects not to apply hedge accounting.
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For derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk, the gain or loss on the derivative is 
recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and subsequently reclassified into interest expense in the same 
period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income 
related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the Company’s variable-rate 
liabilities. 

For derivatives designated as fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative as well as the offsetting loss or gain on the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in interest income. On a quarterly basis, the Company assesses 
the effectiveness of each hedging relationship by comparing the changes in cash flows or fair value of the derivative hedging 
instrument with the changes in cash flows or fair value of the designated hedged item or transaction. If a hedging relationship 
is terminated due to ineffectiveness, and the derivative instrument is not re-designated to a new hedging relationship, the 
subsequent change in fair value of such instrument is charged directly to earnings. Derivatives not designated as hedges do 
not meet the hedge accounting requirements. Changes in fair value of derivatives not designated in hedging relationships are 
recorded directly in earnings. The Company calculates the credit valuation adjustments to the fair value of derivatives on a net 
basis by counterparty portfolio, as an accounting policy election under the provisions of ASU 2011-04, Fair Value 
Measurement (Topic 820), Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. 
GAAP and IFRSs. 

Additionally, in connection with negotiated credit facilities, we may obtain equity warrant assets giving us the right to acquire 
stock in primarily private, venture-backed companies in the technology and life science/healthcare industries. We account for 
equity warrant assets in these client companies as derivatives when they contain net settlement terms and other qualifying 
criteria under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. In general, equity warrant assets entitle us to buy a specific number of 
shares of stock at a specific price within a specific time period. Substantially all of our warrant agreements contain net share 
settlement provisions, which permit us to receive at exercise a share count equal to the intrinsic value of the warrant divided by 
the share price (otherwise known as a “cashless” exercise). These equity warrant assets are recorded at fair value as 
derivative assets and reported as Other assets within our Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at the time they are 
obtained. Any changes in fair value from the grant date fair value of equity warrant assets will be recognized as increases or 
decreases to Other assets on our balance sheet and as Other income within our Consolidates Statements of Income. When a 
portfolio company completes an IPO on a publicly reported market or is acquired, we may exercise these equity warrant assets 
for shares or cash. In the event of an exercise for common stock shares, the basis or value in the common stock shares is 
reclassified from a derivative asset to a nonmarketable equity security, which is also reported in Other assets. Changes in the 
fair value of the common stock shares is recorded as Other income within our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Derivative assets and liabilities are reported in Other assets and Other liabilities, respectively, within the Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Condition.

(t) Operating Leases 

Operating lease expense for the Company’s real estate leases is recognized in Non-interest expense on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. The related lease assets and liabilities are recognized in Operating lease right-of-use assets and 
Operating lease liabilities, respectively, to reflect our right to use the underlying assets and contractual obligations associated 
with future rent payments. On a periodic basis, ROU assets are assessed for impairment. Impairment loss is recognized if the 
carrying amount of the ROU is not recoverable. 

(u) Segment Reporting

The Bank is organized into two reportable segments representing our core businesses – Commercial Banking and Specialty 
Finance. To identify our reportable segments, management considers the financial information reviewed by the Chief 
Operating Decision Maker (CODM), our executive compensation structure, the Bank’s internal operating structure, nature of 
products and services offered, how products and services are provided to our clients, and the nature of the regulatory 
environment, among other aspects pursuant to the relevant accounting guidance. The primary determinants of our reportable 
segments include our internal operating structure, the nature of products and services offered, and how products and services 
are provided to our clients.

(3) Change in Accounting Method

The Company has investments in limited liability entities that were formed to operate qualifying affordable housing projects, 
and other entities that make equity investments, provide debt financing or support community-based investments in tax-
advantaged projects. Certain affordable housing investments qualify for credit under the Community Reinvestment Act 
(“CRA”), which requires regulated financial institutions to help meet the credit needs of the local communities in which they are 
chartered, particularly in neighborhoods with low or moderate incomes. These tax credit investments provide tax benefits to 
investors primarily through the receipt of federal and/or state income tax credits or tax benefits in the form of tax deductible 
operating losses or expenses. The Company invests as a limited partner and its ownership amount in each limited liability 
entity, which is considered a variable interest entity (“VIE”), varies. As a limited partner, the Company is not the primary 
beneficiary (“PB”) as it does not meet the power criterion, i.e., it has no power to direct the activities of the VIE that most 
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Valuation Methodology

The Bank has an established and documented process for determining fair values. The Bank uses quoted market prices, when 
available, to determine fair value and classifies such items as Level 1. In many cases, the Bank utilizes valuation techniques, 
such as matrix pricing, to determine fair value, in which case the items are classified as Level 2. Fair value estimates may also 
be based upon internally-developed valuation techniques that use current market-based inputs such as discount rates, credit 
spreads, default and delinquency rates, and prepayment speeds. Items valued using internal valuation techniques are 
classified according to the lowest level input that is significant to the valuation, and are typically classified as Level 3.

We utilize independent third-party pricing sources to value most of our investment securities. In order to ensure the fair 
valuations obtained are appropriate, we typically compare data from two or more independent third-party pricing sources. If 
there is a price discrepancy greater than thresholds established by management between two pricing sources for an individual 
security, we utilize industry market spread data to assist in determining the most appropriate valuation. In addition, the third-
party pricing sources have an established challenge process in place for all security valuations, which facilitates identification 
and resolution of potentially erroneous prices. We believe that the prices received from our pricing sources are representative 
of prices that would be received to sell the assets at the measurement date (exit prices) and are classified appropriately in the 
hierarchy.

The valuations provided by the pricing services are derived from quoted market prices or using matrix pricing. Matrix pricing is 
a valuation technique consistent with the market approach of determining fair value. The market approach uses prices and 
other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets. Matrix pricing is a 
mathematical technique used principally to value debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices of specific 
securities, but rather on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted securities. This technique leverages observable 
inputs including quoted prices for similar assets, benchmark yield curves, and other market corroborated inputs. Most of our 
securities portfolio is priced using this method, and as such, these securities are classified as Level 2.

Securities are classified within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy in cases where there is limited activity or less transparency 
around inputs to the valuation. In these cases, the valuations are determined based upon an analysis of the cash flow structure 
and credit analysis for each position. Relative market spreads are utilized to discount the cash flow to determine current 
market values, as well as analysis of relative coverage ratios, credit enhancements, and collateral characteristics. Small 
Business Administration (“SBA”) interest-only strip securities, pooled trust preferred securities, and private collateralized 
mortgage obligations (“CMOs”) are all included in the Level 3 fair value hierarchy.

Markets for SBA interest-only strip securities are relatively inactive, with limited observable secondary market transactions. Our 
SBA interest-only strip securities are classified as other debt securities available-for-sale (“AFS”) and reported at fair value, 
with changes in fair value recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss. The securities are valued using Level 3 inputs 
and had fair values of $215.8 million at December 31, 2020 and $182.6 million at December 31, 2019. Since the cash flows of 
the SBA interest-only strip securities are guaranteed by the U.S. Government, there is limited credit risk involved. Therefore, 
the primary assumption built into the pricing model to generate the projected cash flows used to compute the fair values of the 
SBA interest-only strip securities is the discount yield. The Bank determined the inputs to the discounted cash flow model 
based on historical performance and information provided by brokers.

Fair value measurements of equity warrant assets of private portfolio companies are priced based on a Black-Scholes option 
pricing model to estimate the asset value by using stated strike prices, option expiration dates, risk-free interest rates and 
option volatility assumptions. Option volatility assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model are based on public market 
indices whose members operate in similar industries as companies in our private company portfolio. These equity warrants 
assets are included in the Level 3 fair value hierarchy.
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Other Fair Value Disclosures

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires disclosure of the fair value of financial assets 
and liabilities, including those items that are not measured and reported at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring basis. The 
methodologies for estimating the fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring or 
non-recurring basis are discussed above. The methodologies for estimating the fair value of other items, which are carried on 
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at cost or amortized cost, are discussed below.

Fair value estimates for our financial instruments are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information 
and information about the financial instrument. Fair value estimates are not necessarily representative of our total enterprise 
value.

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents are reasonable estimates of fair value.

Federal Home Loan Bank stock, which is required as part of membership, has no trading market and is redeemable at par. 
Accordingly, its fair value is presented at the redemption (par) value.  

Our loans held for sale consist of the government-guaranteed portion of SBA loans. The fair value of our loans held for sale 
approximates cost, as these loans have adjustable rates and are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government.

The estimated fair value of our loans and leases, net, is based on the discounted value of contractual cash flows using interest 
rates that approximate those offered for loans with similar maturities and collateral requirements to borrowers of comparable 
credit worthiness. Other factors, such as credit risk and liquidity risk are incorporated in the fair value measurement. 

Deposits are mostly non-interest-bearing or NOW and money market deposits that bear floating interest rates that are re-
priced based on market considerations and the Bank’s strategy. Therefore, the carrying value approximates fair value. The 
carrying and fair values do not include the intangible fair value of core deposit relationships, which comprise a significant 
portion of our deposit base. Management believes that the Bank’s core deposit relationships represent a relatively stable, low-
cost source of funding that has a substantial intangible value separate from the deposit balances. Time deposits, 84.9% of 
which mature within one year, had a carrying value and estimated fair value of $1.52 billion at December 31, 2020. The 
estimated fair value is based on the discounted value of contractual cash flows using interest rates that approximated those 
offered for time deposits with similar maturities and terms.

The estimated fair value of our borrowings is based on the discounted value of contractual cash flows using interest rates that 
approximate those offered for borrowings with similar maturities and collateral requirements. The estimated fair value of our 
subordinated debt is based on a quoted market price.
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(6) Federal Home Loan Bank Stock
As a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) of New York, Signature Bank is required to maintain a specified 
minimum investment in the FHLB’s Class B capital stock. The minimum stock investment requirement is the sum of the 
membership stock purchase requirement, determined on an annual basis at the end of each calendar year, and the activity-
based stock purchase requirement, determined on a daily basis.  

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, Signature Bank was in compliance with the FHLB’s minimum investment requirement with 
stock investments of $171.7 million and $231.3 million, respectively, carried at cost on the Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Condition. Collateral pledged for outstanding FHLB borrowings at December 31, 2020 and 2019 included $127.8 
million and $186.4 million of FHLB capital stock, respectively.

FHLB stock is evaluated for impairment at least annually, or more frequently when events or conditions indicate that we will not 
recover the par value of the stock. In performing the impairment analysis, we evaluate, among other things, (i) the FHLB’s 
earnings performance, including the significance of any decline in net assets of the FHLB as compared to the regulatory 
capital amount of the FHLB, (ii) the commitment by the FHLB to make dividend payments, and (iii) the liquidity position of the 
FHLB. We do not consider this security to be impaired at December 31, 2020.

(7) Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale at December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $407.36 million and $290.6 million, respectively. Gains on sales 
associated with the securitization of pooled loans and sale of mortgage loans for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 
and 2018 amounted to $8.8 million, $4.8 million and $4.9 million, respectively.

We are an active participant in the SBA loan and SBA pool secondary market by purchasing, securitizing, and selling the 
guaranteed portions of SBA loans. Most SBA loans have adjustable rates and float at a spread over prime and reset monthly 
or quarterly. The guaranteed portions of SBA loans are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government and therefore 
carry a 0% risk weight for regulatory capital purposes.

We generally warehouse loans for up to 180 days until there are sufficient loans with similar characteristics to securitize a pool. 
We may strip excess servicing from loans with different coupons to create a pool at a common rate. This process results in the 
creation of two assets: a par pool, which is sold to accredited investors, and an interest-only strip, which we retain as an 
available-for-sale security. In certain transactions, the Bank may also decide to hold a portion of the pooled security in our 
available-for-sale portfolio. The interest-only strip represents the portion of the coupon stripped from a loan.
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years, less any required transfer to surplus or a fund for the retirement of any preferred stock. We would also be required to 
obtain the approval of the FDIC prior to declaring a dividend if after paying the dividend we would be undercapitalized, 
significantly undercapitalized, or critically undercapitalized. See “—Prompt Corrective Action and Enforcement Powers.” In 
addition, the FDIC has stated that excessive dividends can negate strong earnings performance and result in a weakened 
capital position and that dividends generally can be disbursed, in reasonable amounts, only after losses are eliminated and 
necessary reserves and prudent capital levels are established.

The Bank has declared and paid a quarterly common stock cash dividend of $0.56 per share, or a total of approximately $30.0 
to $31.0 million each quarter, since the third quarter of 2018. On January 20, 2021, the Bank declared its fourth quarter 2020 
common stock cash dividend of $0.56 per share to be paid on or after February 12, 2021 to common stockholders of record at 
the close of business on February 1, 2021.

In addition, in October 2018, the Bank’s stockholders approved our common stock repurchase program which provides the 
Bank the ability to repurchase common stock from shareholders in the open market up to an amount of $500.0 million. Share 
buybacks are also subject to regulatory approvals, which were received for the repurchase program of up to $500.0 million in 
November 2018. We received shareholder and regulatory approval to continue the program in 2019.

On February 19, 2020, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the stock repurchase program that restored the 
Bank’s share repurchase authorization to an aggregate purchase amount of up to $500.0 million from the $220.9 million that 
was remaining under the original authorization as of December 31, 2019. The amended stock repurchase program was 
approved by the shareholders in April 2020. The Bank has suspended any future repurchases of common stock given the 
COVID-19 circumstances since the end of the first quarter of 2020. As a result, no common stock was repurchased by the 
Bank during the remainder of 2020. In September 2020, we received regulatory approval to extend the repurchase of the 
$170.8 million remaining under the original authorization to September 30, 2021. We plan to seek separate regulatory approval 
for the additional $279.1 million approved under the amended authorization. To date, the Bank has repurchased 2,689,544 
shares of common stock for a total of $329.2 million and the amount remaining under the amended authorization was $450.0 
million at December 31, 2020.

Any future determination to pay dividends or buy back shares will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be 
dependent upon then-existing conditions, including our financial condition and results of operations, capital requirements, 
commercial real estate concentration, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors that the Board of Directors 
considers relevant. 

(25)  Segment Reporting

On an annual basis, we reevaluate our segment reporting conclusions. Based on our internal operating structure and the 
relative significance of the specialty finance business, we determined our operations are organized into two reportable 
segments representing our core businesses – Commercial Banking and Specialty Finance. 
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Joseph J. DePaolo, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Signature Bank for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, 
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the Examining Committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  March 1, 2021

/s/ JOSEPH J. DEPAOLO
Joseph J. DePaolo
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Vito Susca, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Signature Bank for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, 
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the Examining Committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  March 1, 2021

/s/ VITO SUSCA
Vito Susca
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, 
United States Code), each of the undersigned officers of Signature Bank, a New York bank (the "Company"), does hereby 
certify, to the best of such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the "Form 10-K") of the Company fully complies with 
the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 10-K 
fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated:  March 1, 2021

/s/ JOSEPH J. DEPAOLO
Joseph J. DePaolo
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Dated:  March 1, 2021

/s/ VITO SUSCA
Vito Susca
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections 
(a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code) and is not being filed as part of the Form 10-K or as a 
separate disclosure document.
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Certain statements in this Annual Report, and certain 
oral statements made from time to time by representatives 
of the Bank, that are not historical facts may consti-
tute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning 
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 
(the “Reform Act”). Such forward-looking statements are 
based on the Bank’s current expectations, speak only as 
of the date on which they are made, and are susceptible to 
a number of risks, uncertainties, and other factors. The 
Bank’s actual results, performance, and achievements may 
differ materially from any future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-look-
ing statements. For those statements, the Bank claims the 
protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking state-
ments contained in the Reform Act. See “Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act Safe Harbor Statement,” and “Part 
I, Item 1A. Risk Factors,” appearing in the Bank’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2020, included herein.

COMPANY PROFILE

Signature Bank (Nasdaq: SBNY/SBNYP), member FDIC, is a full-service commercial 
bank with 37 private client offices throughout the metropolitan New York area, Connecticut,  
California and North Carolina. Through its single-point-of-contact approach, the Bank’s  
private client banking teams primarily serve the needs of privately owned businesses, their 
owners and senior managers. Signature Bank offers a broad range of business and personal 
banking products and services, as well as investment, brokerage, asset management, and insur-
ance products and services through its subsidiary, Signature Securities Group Corporation, a 
licensed broker-dealer, investment adviser and member FINRA/SIPC. In addition, Signature 
Bank’s wholly owned specialty finance subsidiary, Signature Financial LLC, provides equipment  
financing and leasing.

Financial Highlights
(in thousands)

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Total assets $ 39,033,172 43,099,042 47,341,538 50,591,809 73,888,344

Total loans 29,043,165 32,612,539 36,423,127 39,109,623 48,833,098

Total deposits 31,861,260 33,439,827 36,378,773 40,383,207  63,315,323

Total average deposits 29,747,824 33,158,234 35,143,194 38,055,001 50,561,798

Shareholders’ equity 3,597,825 4,013,013 4,383,862 4,745,198 5,826,909

Net interest income after provision  
for loan and lease losses 991,468 974,289 1,136,463 1,288,957 1,270,998

Non-interest income 51,299 49,912 50,556 61,715 75,248

Non-interest expense  376,771  435,066  486,278 529,269 614,054

Income before income taxes 665,996 586,135 700,741 821,403 732,192

Net income $     392,086 382,609 506,436 586,486  528,359

This Annual Report is dedicated to essential frontline healthcare heroes everywhere, including and especially those 
within Signature Bank’s own franchise and their loved ones. As you scroll through the pages of this report, you will learn about their 
dedication and impact during COVID-19.

We thank these heroes for their ongoing commitment to public health and safety, along with all our colleagues, for their continued 
service to our clients during such unprecedented times.

Signature Bank’s frontline heroes are in daily contact with our clients, ensuring exceptional service does not waiver. The group below 
represents the collective efforts of our entire team of devoted colleagues, and we take this opportunity to acknowledge and thank all 
of them: 

Zhanna Akopyan Teller Manhattan
Amy Bravata-Patti Teller Staten Island
Heather Brenner Teller Long Island
Laxhmi Budhoo Teller Long Island
Deshawn Cole Teller Manhattan
John Delfino Teller Long Island
Robin DiPrisco Teller Staten Island
Catherine Felix-Melniszyn Teller Manhattan
Sherry Gibbs Teller Long Island
Rachel James-Scott Head Teller Brooklyn
Martha Jonathan Teller Manhattan

Versha Katwaroo Head Teller Manhattan
Maria Teresa Moises-Dado Head Teller San Francisco
Vonetta Naraine Teller Long Island
Geeta Pamnani Head Teller Long Island
Jean Pelucco Teller Staten Island
Mohamed Raheem Teller Queens
Omar Sanchez Head Teller Long Island
Nadine Thompson Teller Westchester
Shanique Watt-King Teller Queens
Carmela Williams Teller Westchester
Marina Yakubova Teller Queens
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